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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (“Directors”, each a “Director’)
of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company’)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (‘GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquires, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES
FTEVER

The following list contains properties held by the Group as at 31 TR AEER -_ZE-_MNF+-B=+—H

December 2024: BFBEZYE:
Details of the Investment properties KEMEFSE
Location Existing use

b=

RAEAR

Type of lease

YhE 4R

The car parking space Nos. 3, Car Park Level CP3,
Towers 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32 and 33,
No. 31 Grandeur Road, Parc Oasis, Kowloon, Hong Kong
EENEN —EHRER315%26+27-28-29-30~3132 %33
{REIZCPIE 3SR = EL

The car parking space Nos. 10, Car Park Level CP3,
Towers 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32 and 33,
No. 31 Grandeur Road, Parc Oasis, Kowloon, Hong Kong
EENBEN —EHER315£2627-28-29-30~3132 K33
(2B CP3[E105R1EE L

Note: These investment properties are for rental purpose. o=

Car parking space

(EEKin}

Car parking space

(EE=Kin}

ZEREYEFRERR

Medium-term lease

FHAEE

Medium-term lease

FHAEE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TRHBE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of
Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”),
| hereby present the annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024 (“Year”). During the Year, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$49,055,000, a decrease of
approximately 6.3% when compared with that of approximately
HK$52,326,000 for the previous year. The basic and diluted loss
per share for the Year were approximately HK2.53 cents (2023:
approximately HK16.58 cents).

The business of the Group’s principal operating subsidiary, iAsia
Online Systems Limited (“iAsia”), contributed approximately
95.4% (2023: approximately 97.5%) of the Group’s revenue
for the Year. Affected by the local stagnant and conservative
economic sentiment as well as fierce market competition,
the revenue of iAsia decreased by approximately 8.3%
to approximately HK$46,780,000 (2023: approximately
HK$51,015,000) for the Year. iAsia will continue to serve its
clients diligently and explore to secure new clients leveraging
on its experience and expertise in the financial trading software
solutions business.

The money lending business is another business segment of
the Group. In light of the increasing number of new borrowing
clients, revenue from the Group’s money lending business was
approximately HK$2,275,000 for the Year (2023: approximately
HK$1,310,000), which increased by approximately 73.7%.
Money lending business contributed to approximately 4.6%
(2023: approximately 2.5%) of the total revenue of the Group for
the Year. The Group will continue to strengthen its credit control
strategy and loan management policies in order to mitigate its
credit risks and improve its debt collection.

The Group’s assets investments comprised securities
investments during the Year. Resulting from the volatile Hong
Kong financial market in the Year and the financial performance
of the respective investee companies, the Group recorded a
fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately HK$4,409,000 for the Year (2023: gain of
approximately HK$1,965,000).
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Under the heightened geopolitical uncertainties, followed by
the sluggish property market in Hong Kong, the risk appetite
for corporate investment, business expansion and personal
consumption is expected to remain conservative in the near
future.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to closely monitor the
overall economic environment and emerging market trends.
At the same time, the Group intends to implement stringent
cost control measures and revamp operational efficiency of the
existing businesses while exploring prudently for new business
opportunities and fostering innovation.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, business partners and clients for
their confidence and continuous support for the Group. | would
also like to thank our staff for their dedications, commitment and
determination to succeed.

Tin Yat Yu Carol
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEER R

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in the
provision of financial trading software solutions, provision of
other IT and internet financial platforms services, money lending
business and assets investments in Hong Kong.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Provision of financial trading software solutions

During the Year, the financial trading software solutions business
division remained as the key source of income of the Group.
The segment revenue from external customers contributed by
the Group’s principal operating subsidiary, iAsia, amounted
to approximately HK$46,780,000 (2023: approximately
HK$51,015,000), representing a decrease of approximately 8.3%.
During the Year, the results of iAsia has inevitably been affected
by the local stagnant and conservative economic sentiment as
well as fierce market competition.

During the Year, iAsia continued to strive for excellence in its
products and services with its experienced fintech workforce. Its
financial trading software solutions were optimized to cope with
current market requirements.

As iAsia has built up reputation in the financial trading software
solutions industry in Hong Kong and has a well-established
customer base with sizeable banks and brokerage firms, the
Group was able to generate stable sources of income during
the Year. iAsia has also been devoted to strengthen its research
and customer support capability with a view to developing new
products according to market trends and industry requirements
to maintain its competitiveness in the markets.

In order to foster cross-boundary innovation and leverage on
the top-tier talents, the Group has established a research and
development centre in Shenzhen in the first quarter of 2024.

Provision of other IT and internet financial
platforms services

During the Year, no revenue was generated from the provision
of other IT and internet financial platforms services business
division (2023: Nil). In order to diversify the source of income, the
Group will continue to seek for opportunities in providing other IT
services, including but not limited to services related to artificial
intelligence, blockchain technology, application development,
etc.. The Group will seize opportunities to diversify the client
base of its provision of other IT and internet financial platforms
services business in order to strengthen its competitiveness in
the industry.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Money lending business

The Group provides its money lending business through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Finsoft Finance Limited (“FFL”), which
holds a money lender’s licence under the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“MLO”).
FFL offers loan financing services to both corporate and
individual customers as its target clients in full compliance with
the requirements under the MLO and the clients are mainly
introduced by the Directors, existing clients and third party
agents. During the Year, revenue derived from the money lending
business division amounted to approximately HK$2,275,000
(2023: approximately HK$1,310,000), representing an increase
of approximately 73.7%. The reversal of provision for impairment
loss on loan and interest receivables for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$2,901,000 (2023: provision for impairment
loss of approximately HK$7,057,000). In assessing the expected
credit loss allowance for loan and interest receivables, the Group
considered (i) the loan receivables which have been past due
as at 31 December 2024; (i) the repayment history of loan and
interest receivables of each borrower during the Year; and (iii) the
probability of default rate due to the inability of the borrowers to
make repayments to the Group when due.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s loan receivables
balance (net of loss allowance) amounted to approximately
HK$35,677,000 (2023: approximately $24,479,000), out of
which approximately HK$5,119,000 (2023: approximately
HK$5,137,000), representing approximately 14% (2023:
approximately 21%) of the total loan receivables of the
Group, was due from the largest borrower of the Group and
an aggregate sum of approximately HK$17,556,000 (2023:
approximately HK$14,640,000), representing approximately 49%
(2023: approximately 60%) of the total loan receivables of the
Group, was due from the five largest borrowers of the Group.
The interest rate charged to the Group’s customers during the
Year ranged from 8% per annum to 35.5% per annum (2023:
8% per annum to 21.6% per annum). As at 31 December 2024,
the loan receivables had a fixed term ranging from 3 months
to 25 months (2023: 3 months to 25 months). The Group held
collaterals such as jewelry, properties and guarantees over its
loan receivable balance of approximately HK$11,167,000 (2023:
approximately HK$2,725,000). The Group had complied with
the requirements set out in Chapter 19 and/or 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules when it granted the loans to each of the borrowers,
whose loan was still outstanding as at 31 December 2024, and
the Group had not entered into any agreement, arrangement,
understanding or undertaking (whether formal or informal and
whether express or implied) with a connected person with
respect to the grant of loans to the borrowers whose loans were
still outstanding as at 31 December 2024. The Group’s money
lending business will remain a sustainable business sector of the
Group. The management of the Group monitors the loan and
interest receivables balances on an on-going basis.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERRA N

As at 31 December 2024, there were 34 borrowers (consisting
of 31 individual borrowers and 3 corporate borrowers) whose
loans remained outstanding. The individual borrowers comprise
mainly management officer and merchants, while the corporate
borrowers comprise one private company and a subsidiary
of a listed company in Hong Kong. All of these individual
borrowers had solely unsecured loans outstanding, except
that one borrower had both unsecured loans and secured loan
outstanding; three borrowers had secured loans outstanding; and
two borrowers had unsecured but guaranteed loans outstanding.
Two corporate borrowers had unsecured but guaranteed loans
outstanding; and one corporate borrower had a unsecured loan
outstanding.

As at 31 December 2024, the loan receivables (net of loss
allowance) amounted to approximately HK$35,677,000, the
ageing analysis of which based on the remaining contractual
maturity date and net of loss allowance is set out below:

A TETME+ZRA=+—H B34 BERA(E

E31BEABRAKRIZRBERAN) WER
MAEE-BAERATZEREEEENE RS
FoMABERASE —BRARTIR—EEE
EFRABWERE - FAEEAMERAIERKRE
BERNEERRER RT—R2ERARFEARE
BHNERFERNRBBRIFEN, ZRERABR
BHENERBER kMBERABREENE
BHREEEREM MBIABERAEREEZ
BEBEAEREN, h—R2BERABE—F
REENEITMER-

A TETUEFT A=+ —H BWER RE
B#EH#) 497 35,677,000 Bio HIRE DT (B
REBTEMNEHBRINMFERER) HIMT:

2024 2023

—EME ZEI=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FBT

Overdue #HA 21,073 20,806
Due within 3 months 31E A W EIHB 2,021 948
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 31E B % Be6f@ 8 R EIH 4,789 -
Due after 6 months but within 12 months 618 B % B1218 8 RN EEA 4,902 2,725
Due after 12 months 1218 B & 2|57 2,892 -
Total 4Bst 35,677 24,479

Internal control procedures

In order to minimise the credit risks and default risks associated
with the money lending business, FFL has its internal control
and work procedure manual in provision of the loan financing
services. When clients approach FFL for a request on loan
financing, client identification procedures will take place with
officers of FFL enquiring the potential clients’ information.
Individual clients are required to provide documents including
but not limited to his/her Hong Kong identity card or passport
and residential address proof and corporate clients are required
to provide documents including but not limited to the certificate
of incorporation, registers of members and directors, the articles
of association, the certificate of incumbency and/or certificate
of good standing (where applicable). An application form will be
filled in and submitted to FFL.

Generally, credit worthiness assessments will take place for
potential individual and corporate clients by (1) doing financial
assessments such as obtaining bank and security statements,
income proof, property proof, its audited financial statements
and/or the latest management account (if any); and (2)
conducting different searches such as bankruptcy or winding up
search, land search and credit search.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FFL has in place all measures to duly observe relevant laws, rules
and regulations including but not limited to those in connection
with sanctions or terrorist financing risk of potential clients and/
or its businesses, such as the nature and details of the business/
occupation/employment of the potential clients (if applicable); the
nationality of potential clients; the expected source and origin
of the funds to be used; and the initial and ongoing source(s)
of wealth or income (if applicable). FFL performs monitoring on
clients as to their credit risk and reviews the extent required
for clients’ due diligence and the ageing of loan and interest
receivables balances on an ongoing basis.

In determining the loan terms (including but not limited to the
interest rate and the duration of the loan), FFL refers to the
prevailing market practices in order to lower FFL's exposure and
will take into account the requirement of security, personal or
corporate guarantee, the background of the potential clients (with
reference to the documents provided and their reputation) and
the results of credit risk assessment on those potential clients.
The terms of the loans to be granted and the necessary loan
documentations would be subject to the approval process.

For loans in the amount of less than HK$5 million, any one
member of the credit committee of the Company (“Credit
Committee”) may approve the grant of such loans. For loans
in the amount of more than HK$5 million but less than HK$10
million, the unanimous consent of the members of the Credit
Committee is required for approving the grant of such loans. For
loans in the amount of more than HK$10 million, a majority vote
from the Board is required for approving the grant of such loans.

Notwithstanding the monetary threshold stated above, FFL will
also review whether any proposed transactions may constitute
notifiable transactions or connected transactions to ensure the
proposed transactions will be conducted in compliance with the
applicable requirements under the GEM Listing Rules and the
applicable rules and regulations.

FFL will monitor continuously the loan and interest payment
according to the terms of the loan agreements and follow up
closely with its clients as to the deadlines in payment of the
loan or interest. FFL's officers remind borrowers regularly for
repayment of loan instalments and the interests accrued thereon
in accordance with the repayment schedule agreed for such
loans, and with those reminders, the officers will also check as to
whether the borrowers agree with the balance of the loans. FFL
has standard procedure in dealing with default in payment. The
officers of FFL will report to the Credit Committee on the loans’
respective repayment status on a monthly basis and any cases
of default in repayment will be reported to the Credit Committee
immediately.

BRIk

M EME AN — V)8 5 LU T ABRE B ~ A28
REE BEBFRINEBETERR HHER
flENBMEEMERMERERE NWEEERZ
2%/ BEBREZEEREE (WER) BTE
ERZBFE,FTRESZABARREREE; Uk
RRFENVEIWARR (WNERA) ~ EM
EREEERNEERR UHEBRIEANE
BB TR E UKW E R S AR ERES

REEERZER (BEEFERERFNERE
TEARR) By B ERE2ERITHIHEL > LUE
REMERNEAR T RZ2ER - EAAREE
BER - BEEPER SEMEHEXARKREZE
B) URHzEBEEERPETEERRIGZE
REBAERN - BERLEMZER RO BERXMF
R FEHIZFME

BN EEE/D 5,000,000 Btz EH AABE
EZEg ([EEZE%)) WEAM—3RETHR
HERHBEBER - HRNE3EZ5 5,000,000 BT
{8/052 10,000,000 B2 B BESEES
EgMEN—HBEEUMEREERER - HP
£FE%H 10,000,000 BTtz EF BEBES
G ARZHELUMEREEBRER

BERLATHEPE EMERTRKERZES
ERERXGIEBHATRERZUBMER
S UHEREZEXSRE GEM LHRAIETZ
BRAREUARBRERRRANET

EVERKRBEER DR ZGRFEREZEN
RMEZM THRAEZRRYREERLFEH
SAUHR - EMERNSHBEREREREN
WEREREFEREHREERAEEERNDH
URRESAME MEFEZERER SRE
BTRZEERANERERRBART AR
B B ETRE HE BRI R A RBVIRE AR T o BE RS
ERNEREERSRRNEEZETEREMN
TR IE B T > M HE R B R B9 2] 15 IR B B 1)

EELZEEER-

EMERMZEIERARAT » 2024FFR

11



12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERRA N

A debts collection policy is also in place within the Group to
collect the borrowers’ outstanding debts. In cases of default
and/or delinquent loans, the recovery procedure of the debts
collection policy will commence and the officers of FFL will (i)
send reminder letters or e-mails or Whatsapp to the borrowers
for repayment; (i) arrange for negotiations with the borrowers
for the repayments or settlement of loans and accrued interests;
and (i) request settlement of the outstanding amount owed to
the Group through telephone calls, from time to time. The Group
may also engage lawyers in advising on the loan and its recovery
and enforcement action. These lawyers may be engaged as well
to (i) issue demand letters to the borrowers in default of their
repayment, demanding for repayment of the outstanding amount
owed to FFL; and (i) advise and assist in the potential legal
actions required for the enforcement of the loans with default in
repayment. Subject to applicable laws and regulations including
but not limited to the MLO, third-party debt collection agencies
may be engaged to recover the overdue amounts owed.

Provision for impairment loss on loan and interest
receivables

The assessment of the Group’s provision for impairment loss
on loan and interest receivables for the Year was performed
under the expected credit loss (‘ECL”) model in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS”) 9 Financial
Instruments. The key measuring parameters and inputs of the
ECL approach include probability of default (“PD”), loss given
default (“LGD”) and exposure at default (“EAD”), which are based
on the assessed creditworthiness of the borrowers.

In determining the credit risk of the borrowers, the Company
considered the following factors: (a) if it is an individual borrower
or a corporate borrower; (b) the industry where the corporate
borrower operates; (c) the internal credit assessment of the
borrower; and (d) the historical repayment records of, and the
working relationship with, the borrower.

In determining whether there have been significant increases in
credit risk, the following key criteria are taken into account:

(@) an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
borrower’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

(b) significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for the corporate borrower;

(c) existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

(d) an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the corporate borrower;

(e) significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same corporate borrower;

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(f) an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic or technological environment of
the borrower that results in a significant decrease in the
borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

(9) status of the loan and interest receivables as at the
reporting date, including any breach of contract such as a
default or past due event as at the reporting date; and

(h) whether it is probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

A borrower will be regarded as credit-impaired if he is in default
of the loan principal, or has entered bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, or has severely delayed payments of the loan
principal or interests.

The Group categorises the credit quality of its loan and interest
receivables according to 3 different stages under the ECL model:

Stage 1: financial assets without significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition where loss allowance is calculated based
on 12-month ECL;

Stage 2: financial assets with significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition where loss allowance is calculated based
on lifetime ECL; and

Stage 3: credit impaired assets where loss allowance is
calculated based on lifetime ECL.

In general, loan and interest receivables that are not defaulted
and have no sign of any significant increase in credit risk,
including loans which were still outstanding as at 31 December
2024 but the principal has been repaid partially and the
borrowers and the Group have entered into supplemental loan
agreements, are categorised as Stage 1 assets and the Group
adopted the PD published by the credit rating agencies and
credit reporting agencies based on the background of the
borrowers and credit analysis performed. Regarding the LGD,
relevant market value of the collateral has been considered when
determining the LGD.

For borrowers that are identified to have significant increases
in credit risk, including borrowers who have entered into
settlement agreements with the Group due to default in and/or
late repayment of their respective loans, their loan and interest
receivables are categorised as Stage 2 assets and the Group
adopted the PD by referring to the high risk categories for the
corresponding type of the borrower (i.e. individual borrower or
corporate borrower).

For borrowers that are identified to be credit-impaired, including
borrowers who are in default of the loan principal, or have
entered bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, or have
severely delayed payments of the loan principal or interests, their
loan and interest receivables are categorised as Stage 3 assets
and the Group applied the PD of the lowest credit categories.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE RO

The assumptions adopted in the ECL assessment are as follows:

(@)

(b)

the market trends and conditions where the borrowers
operate will not deviate significantly from economic
forecasts in general; and

the probabilities of defaults as extracted from TransUnion,
Moody’s and market statistics are assumed to be unbiased.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 34 borrowers
(31 December 2023: 31) with total outstanding loan principal and
interest receivables in the sum of approximately HK$71,817,000
(31 December 2023: approximately HK$91,156,000). The Group
has identified its 34 borrowers as at 31 December 2024 into the
aforesaid three stages under the ECL approach as follows:

(a)

Stage 1: 10 borrowers (31 December 2023:
identified to be in Stage 1;

1) were

Stage 2: 12 borrowers (31 December 2023:
identified to be in Stage 2;

13) were

Stage 3: 12 borrowers (31 December 2023:
identified to be in Stage 3.

17) were
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group has recorded a reversal of provision for impairment
loss on loan and interest receivables of approximately
HK$2,901,000 during the Year (2023: provision for impairment
loss of approximately HK$7,057,000). The reversal of provision
for impairment loss on loan and interest receivables for the
Year is mainly attributable to the settlement of approximately
HK$2,600,000 from two individual borrowers which were
identified in Stage 3 under the ECL model of the Group in prior
year.

The senior staff of the Group have been sending reminder letters,
e-mails and Whatsapp messages to such borrower requesting
for repayment, and have arranged for negotiations with such
borrower on settlement of the outstanding loan and accrued
interests. The Group plans to engage lawyers to advice on the
loan and its recovery and enforcement action.

Save as disclosed above, there was no material change in the
credit status and credentials of the loan and interest receivables
of the Group as at 31 December 2024 using the Group’s ECL
model.

There was no significant change to the basis, assumptions and
inputs adopted in the ECL assessment for the Year from those
adopted in the previous year.

The Directors believe that the credit assessment on the loans
and interest receivables based on the Company’s money
lending policy will provide a fair and reasonable estimate of the
impairment losses.

The Company has instructed its legal advisers to issue demand
letters or emails to the borrowers who have overdue loans
demanding immediate repayment of the outstanding loan
principal and interests. Legal advice has been sought for potential
further legal actions including but not limited to issuing statutory
demands. The Company will carry on ongoing periodic review
and negotiations with borrowers for repayment or settlement of
their overdue balances to mitigate the financial impact to the
Group and ensure adherence to its money lending policy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEmR D

Assets investments

The portfolio of the Group’s assets investments business during
the Year consisted of investments in securities that were held for
trading. Set out below is the breakdown of the Group’s securities
investments recorded as financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss as at 31 December 2024
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HESRE - TXHIEER
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Movements during the year ended 31 December 2024
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held and % of Percentage to Percentage to
total share capital the Group’s the Group’s
Carrying Carrying held by the audited net  audited total
amount as at amount as at Groupasat  assetsasat  assetsasat
1 January Realised  Unrealised 31 Dy 31D 31D 31 D
Description of investments RER 2024 Addition Disposal  gain/(loss)  gain/(loss) 2024 2024 2024 2024
RZF-RE fEREER EREAR
+ZR=+-H ZIomE - :3
RIB-ME KZF-mE  KEWRAEE +-A=+-B +CAZ+-B
—-A-8K BER AR RSB REEEFEG SBREERE  SENMEE
ikEfE #E e hE/ (BB kE/ (58 WEEE  SREANEAM R WERL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER Thn Thn Thn T T
(Approximate) ~ (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate) (Approximate) ~ (Approximate)  (Approximate)
(E4) (F4) (%) (%) (%) (#4) (%) (#4) (4
GBA Holdings Limited GBA £BARAT (RAH%:261) 161 - - - (60) 101 937,500 0.2% 0.1%
(Stock Code: 261) (‘GBA”) fnote 8] (TGBAY) (#izt a) shares B (0.1%)
Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited TR ERITEMERAR 110 - - - (61) 49 400,000 1% 0.1%
(Stock Code: 351) (“Asia Enerqy’) fnote b) (Rt 351) (TEMAER)) (W o) shares & (0.02%)
PT International Development Corporation Limited ~ REEBRHBELEERAT 194 - - - (116) 8 276,000 0.2% 0.1%
(Stock Code: 372) (*PT International’) (note ¢) (Rinfigs:ar2) (MREER)) (it o) shares % (0.09%)
Minerva Group Holding Limited REBARBRAT - 637 - - (204) 433 4,980,000 08% 0.5%
(Stock Code: 397) (‘Minerva’) (note o) (Rinfigh:a97) (REM) (o) shares 1R (0.2%)
SDHG International Securities Limited i1 HERAR - 1,002 - - 8 1,084 167,000 2.1% 4%
(Stock Code: 412) (‘SDHG") fnote ¢) (Bipssia2) (Mm)) (i o) shares & (0.003%)
China Nuclear Energy Technology Corporation Limited S EI#AHBERBRAT 56 - - - 14 70 200,000 0.1% 0.1%
(Stock Code: 611) (‘China Nuclear’) (note (Ripfss611) (TERE) (it 1) shares & (0.01%)
Crown International Corporation Limited SEBRERERAT - - (566) (328) 894 - - - -
(Stock Code: 727) (‘Crown’) fnote g) (i) (€% (it g)
Value Convergence Holdings Limited ERERERAT 44 - - - (333) 108 3,000,000 0.2% 0.1%
(Stock Code: 821) (*VC") fnote ) (Rist:821) (TER) (st h) shares % (0.12%)
Jiande International Holdings Limited EEERERERAR) 368 - (200) (119) 87 136 8,000,000 0.3% 0.2%
(Stock Code: 865) (*Jiande”) (note ) (Rip1tst.805) (TER)) (st ) shares 1§ (0.14%)
Huaneng Power Internationl, Inc. EERARENRNERAR - 1,616 - - 79 1,695 396,000 3.3% 2.1%
(Stock Code: 902) (‘Huaneng Power’) frofe ) (Rinfigh:002) (FEREEA)) (Hit)) shares 1§ (0.01%)
Semiconductor Menufacturing International PEEREHERRERRAT 199 - - - 119 318 10,000 0.6% 0.4%
Corporation (Stock Code: 981) (‘SMIC') (rote &/ (Rinfigh 081) (TRiSERR)) (st k) shares g (0.0001%)
Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (Stock Code: 1115) BEKERERAT - 1,798 (1,907) 114 - - - - -
(‘Tibet Water') (note ) (R 1115) (EEDKER) ()
Lumina Group Limited (Stock Code: 1162) EEEMARAT 4241 - - - (2,148) 2,093 13,680,000 4.0% 2.7%
(‘Lumina’) frote m) (B3 1162) (T&E) izt m) shares % (2.8%)
Hao Tian International Construction Investment SRERERREEMERAT 1,889 - - - (454) 1,435 1,816,000 2.8% 1.8%
Group Limited (Stock Code: 1341) (HG") frote ) (RiDEER:1341) TRKER)) (i n) shares % (0.02%)
MTT Group Holdings Limited YHEBERERAR - 985 (1,960) (25) - - - - -
(Stock Code: 2350) (‘MTT') frote o) (Rf3153%:2360) (8) (1 o)
Runhua Living Service Group Holdings Limited BEEERSEDARERAT 153 - (111 (94) 83 31 50,000 0.1% 0.04%
(Stock Code: 2455) (*Runhua Living’) (note p) (Rf3fak:0455) (TBEEE)) (W p) shares f (0.02%)
1BO Technology Company Limited LERBERHABRAT 27 - - - (27) - 200,000 - -
(Stock Code: 2708) (‘1BO") frote ) (Riptiss:2r08) (T3Lff) (7 o) shares & (0.03%)
HG Semiconductor Limited EREEEERAT 175 - (57) (328) 338 128 191,000 0.2% 0.2%
(Stock Code: 6908) (*HG') (note 1) (RinHs-6908) (TE=) Wit r) shares i (0.03%)
Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited RRBEEERERAT 540 - - - (210) 330 6,000,000 0.6% 0.4%
(Stock Code: 8081) (‘Hang Tai Yue') fnote §) (Riatst:8081) (%A (it o) shares f (0.12%)
China Demeter Financial Investments Limited HESRHREERAR 614 1,393 - - (1,305) 702 1,627,000 1.4% 0.9%
(Stock Code: 8120) (‘China Demeter’) (note f) (Ripfts:e120) (R () shares % (1.7%)
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited HREBERERAT 621 - - - (407) 214 1,799,000 0.4% 0.3%
(Stock Code: 8219) (‘Hanvey’) (note u) (RfAtesE:8219) (M) (it ) shares B2 (0.7%)
Total: it 9,789 8,426 (4,801) (780) (3,629) 9,006
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Notes:

GBA and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “GBA Group”)
are principally engaged in the property business, finance business,
automobile business and catering business. As disclosed in the interim
report of GBA for the six months ended 30 June 2024, (i) the unaudited
revenue and loss of GBA for the six months ended 30 June 2024 were
approximately HK$29.4 million and HK$26.7 million respectively; and (ii)
the GBA Group would continue to expand the business based on market
demand and availability of funds.

Asia Energy and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Asia Energy
Group”) are principally engaged in telecommunications related business
and shipping and logistics. As disclosed in the interim report of Asia
Energy for the six months ended 30 June 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue
and loss of Asia Energy for the six months ended 30 June 2024 were
approximately HK$22.9 million and HK$22.2 million respectively; (i) the
Asia Energy Group would be careful in promoting its telecommunications
related business development and actively explore new customer
and (i) the Asia Energy Group would be in close watch of the market
conditions of shipping and logistics, including but not limited to the price
of vessels and its own financial position, so that vessel acquisition will
only materialize in the best interest of the Asia Energy Group should an
acquisition opportunity arise.

PT International and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “PT
International Group”) are principally engaged in the businesses of
investment holding, trading of commodities, recycling and trading of
metals, chemical storage business, provision of management services,
financial institute business and loan financing services. As disclosed
in the interim report of PT International for the six months ended 30
September 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of PT International
for the six months ended 30 September 2024 were approximately
HK$76.0 million and HK$48.0 million respectively; and (i) the PT
International Group are looking for new methods and technologies to
improve productivity, increase petrochemical sales and provide better
and more efficient services for oil storage business customers. The PT
International Group would strive to increase revenue contribution and will
continue to explore on further expansion opportunities for the business.

Minerva and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Minerva Group”)
are principally engaged in financial services, money lending and assets
investment. As disclosed in the interim report of Minerva for the six
months ended 30 June 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue and profit of
Minerva for the six months ended 30 June 2024 were approximately
HK$36.5 million and HK$14.0 million respectively; (i) the Minerva Group
would continue to expand into corporate and individual loans and
carefully evaluate its risk management strategies and ensure a proper
balance between risks and returns and over the long run. The Minerva
Group would continue to cautiously monitor the general business
environment and market conditions to mitigate the potential impact to
our operations and investments while also seeking potential investment
and business opportunities for further development of its various
business segments, expanding the business scope and creating a new
dynamic for revenue growth.
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SDHG and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “SDHG Group”)
are principally engaged in operations of industrial investment-related
business, trading of listed securities and listed bonds primarily for
interest income, dividend income and capital appreciation, direct
investment business including investments in debts instruments, unlisted
bonds, notes, unlisted equity investments and investment funds and
provision of money lending services, securities brokerage services, asset
management services, financial leasing, advisory services and asset
trading platform. As disclosed in the interim report of SDHG for the
six months ended 30 June 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue and profit
of SDHG for the six months ended 30 June 2024 were approximately
HK$3,069.2 million and HK$85.0 million respectively; (i) the SDHG
Group would continue to expand into corporate and individual loans
and carefully evaluate its risk management strategies and ensure a
proper balance between risks and returns and over the long run. The
SDHG Group would continue to cautiously monitor the general business
environment and market conditions to mitigate the potential impact to
our operations and investments while also seeking potential investment
and business opportunities for further development of its various
business segments, expanding the business scope and creating a new
dynamic for revenue growth.

China Nuclear and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “China
Nuclear Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of engineering,
procurement and construction and consultancy and general construction
services, power generation and financing service. As disclosed in the
interim report of China Nuclear for the six months ended 30 June 2024, (i)
the unaudited revenue and profit of China Nuclear for the six months
ended 30 June 2024 were approximately HK$821.1 million and HK$77.3
million respectively; and (i) the China Nuclear Group will invest in
energy storage projects to promote business diversification and industry
segmentation. The China Nuclear Group would continue to strengthen its
project management to develop more high-quality projects and ensure
that the projects undertaken by the Group will be connected to the grid
as scheduled. The China Nuclear Group would continue to optimize the
construction and implementation of the project management system,
enhance the inspection, supervision and assessment of the projects, so
as to raise the standard of project management and strive to become
an advanced international integrated energy service provider as soon as
possible, and contribute more to the development of the national clean
energy industry.

Crown and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Crown Group”) are
principally engaged in (i) property investment; (i) property development;
(i) hotel operations; and (iv) provision of comprehensive healthcare
planning and management services in the People’s Republic of China
(*PRC"). As disclosed in the interim report of Crown for the six months
ended 30 September 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of Crown
for the six months ended 30 September 2024 were approximately
HK$17.5 million and HK$2.0 million respectively; and (i) the current
principal businesses of the Crown Group include property investment,
property development, hotel operations and provision of comprehensive
healthcare planning, trading and developing of premium white spirit
and management services in the PRC. The Crown Group is under the
development to cooperate with property owners to modify property
projects into high-end healthcare projects and combined with the capital
operation of insurance companies and financial institutions to jointly
operate healthcare projects. During the Year, the Group disposed of its
investment in the shares of Crown and recorded a net realised loss of
approximately HK$328,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

VC and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “VC Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of financial services, proprietary
trading and sale and distribution of healthcare products. As disclosed
in the interim report of VC for the six months ended 30 June 2024, (i)
the unaudited revenue and loss of VC for the six months ended 30 June
2024 were approximately HK$36 million and HK$65.9 million respectively;
(i) the VC Group intends to remain an all-rounded service provider while
it will allocate additional resources to enhance the development of its
asset management and insurance brokerage businesses; (iii) the VC
Group adopted a prudent approach in its financing business and will
optimize resource allocation to ensure efficient use of resources and
will actively explore new business and investment opportunities across
various sectors, aiming to drive steady growth while adapting to the
evolving market environment; and (iv) the VC Group intends to expand
its client base and improve the quality of its asset management services
by leveraging on its brands, reputations and management expertise, and
boosting its core industry strengths.

Jiande and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Jiande Group”) are
principally engaged in property development in the PRC. As disclosed
in the interim report of Jiande for the six months ended 30 June 2024,
(i) the unaudited revenue and loss of Jiande for the six months ended
30 June 2024 were approximately RMB63.9 million and RMB3.8 million
respectively; and (i) the Jiande Group would continue to uphold its
prudent management approach to maintain a balance between growth,
efficiency and risk. The Jiande Group has committed to developing
quality properties accompanied with a living community to customers,
particularly in those cities in the PRC where the rigid demand for housing
remains solid due to the continuous urbanization process. The Jiande
Group would also aim at being customer-centred and innovating product
functions to realise customers’ pursuit for better lives. During the Year,
the Group disposed of its investment in the 8,000,000 shares of Jiande
and recorded a net realised loss of approximately HK$119,000.

Huaneng Power and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Huaneng
Power Group”) are engaged in developing, constructing, operating and
managing power plants throughout China. As disclosed in the interim
report of Huaneng Power for the six months ended 30 June 2024, (i)
the unaudited revenue and loss of Huaneng Power for the six months
ended 30 June 2024 were approximately RMB118,805.9 million and
RMB9,430.5 million respectively; and (i) the Huaneng Power Group
will strengthen the research on climate changes and power supply
and demand in each region, make the most of the summer and winter
seasons when the demand is high and sufficient power supply is crucial
and optimize the timing and structure of power generation and endeavors
to make the best of the high-priced hours to generate more power and
hence improve efficiency. The Huaneng Power Group would closely
track changes in the coal market, strive to improve the performance rate
of long-term contracts, give full play to the role of a stabilizer of those
long-term contracts. The Company will capture international coal market
momentums to import coal, continue to optimize the supply structure,
enhance the ability of power generation units to ensure power supply in
peak seasons, strengthen inventory management, and make the best
use of the strategy of stocking up in off seasons. The Huaneng Power
Group would optimize the debt maturity structure, make efforts to control
financing costs, guard against capital risks, and achieve cost reduction
and efficiency.

SMIC and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “SMIC Group”) are
principally engaged in the computer-aided design, sales and marketing,
technical research and development, manufacturing, trading of integrated
circuits and other semiconductor services, as well as designing and
manufacturing semiconductor masks, respectively. As disclosed in the
interim report of SMIC for the six months ended 30 June 2024, (i) the
unaudited revenue and profit of SMIC for the six months ended 30 June
2024 were approximately US$3,651.5 million and US$235.8 million
respectively; and (i) the SMIC Group had made steadily progress in
capacity layout, showed notable initial results in key projects, accelerated
establishment of partnerships ecosystem and comprehensively improved
management efficiency and capability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE RO

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited e

Tibet Water and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Tibet Water
Group”) are principally engaged in the production and sales of water
products and beer products in PRC and provision of lending services
to third parties in Hong Kong with relevant license. As disclosed in the
interim report of Tibet Water for the six months ended 30 June 2024, (i)
the unaudited revenue and profit of Tibet Water for the six months ended
30 June 2024 were approximately RMB138.8 million and RMB9.0 million
respectively; and (ii) the Tibet Water Group would unswervingly take the
“5100” brand as the core of strategy, adhere to the brand reputation,
uphold the brand concept and enhance the brand value. On the basis
of maintaining and upholding the existing high-quality sales channels,
the Tibet Water Group would accelerate the expansion of overseas
markets, increase investment in production research and development,
and strengthen product cost control. The Tibet Water Group will adhere
to the dual-engine drive of water and beer, optimise the sales layout and
enrich the product range. During the Year, the Group disposed of its
investment in the shares of Tibet Water and recorded a net realised gain
of approximately HK$114,000.

Lumina and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Lumina Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of fire safety services in
Hong Kong. As disclosed in the interim report of Lumina for the six
months ended 30 September 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue and
loss of Lumina for the six months ended 30 September 2024 were
approximately HK$14.2 million and HK$7.8 million respectively; and (ii)
the Lumina Group is an established fire safety service provider in Hong
Kong, focusing on building fire safety and has started to explore other
business opportunities in the production of short videos and animation
business in the PRC. The Lumina Group would continue to strengthen its
market position, deliver more values to the customers and optimise its
productivity and efficiency.

The principal activities of Hao Tian and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “Hao Tian Group”) include securities investment; provision
of securities brokerage and other financial services; asset management;
rental and trading of construction machinery; provision of repair and
maintenance and transportation service; property development; and
money lending. As disclosed in the interim report of Hao Tian for the
six months ended 30 September 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue and
loss of Hao Tian for the six months ended 30 September 2024 were
approximately HK$86 million and HK$81 million respectively; (i) the Hao
Tian Group would continued to pursue a long-term business strategy
of diversifying into financial services business, property development
business, and construction machinery business. The Hao Tian Group
would continue to expand the clients base and establish a strong track
record in order to strengthen the businesses of corporate financial
advisory services, asset management services and streamline the clients
base and gradually phasing out the money lending business in the
coming future. The Hao Tian Group is also deploying and looking for
local high-quality projects, following the layout along the “One Belt, One
Road” regions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As an information technology (“IT”) solutions provider, MTT and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “MTT Group”) primarily engages
n (i) the distribution of IT products in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC;
and (i) provision of system integrated solutions for IT systems involving
integration of system design, development and/or implementation of
hardware and software, hardware and software coordination, system
configuration and technical and maintenance support service (“Sl
solutions”) in Hong Kong, the PRC and Macau. The MTT Group operates
in () the distribution business as an authorised distributor sourcing
IT products from IT product vendors and distributing to down-stream
resellers; and (i) S| solutions business as an S| solutions provider
procuring IT products from authorised distributors, integrating them into
customised solutions and selling them to end-users. As disclosed in the
interim report of MTT for the six months ended 30 September 2024,
the unaudited revenue and loss of MTT for the six months ended 30
September 2024 were approximately HK$220.3 million and HK$18.2
million respectively. During the Year, the Group disposed of its investment
in the shares of MTT and recorded a net realised loss of approximately
HK$25,000.

Runhua Living and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Runhua
Living Group”) are principally engaged in property development in
the PRC. The services provided by the Runhua Living can be broadly
divided into four business segments by their nature, namely property
management services; property engineering and landscape construction
services; leasing services from investment properties; and other services.
As disclosed in the interim report of Runhua Living for the six months
ended 30 June 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue and profit of Runhua
Living for the six months ended 30 June 2024 were approximately
RMB407.5 million and RMB17.5 million respectively; and (i) the Runhua
Living Group would plans to increase its market share in cities within
Shandong Province where it has already conducted business through
acquisitions and business partnerships, and to enter other nearby
developed markets such as the Yangtze River Delta and the Beijing-
Tianjin-Hebei region through the acquisition of well-known local property
management companies. During the Year, the Group disposed of its
investment in the 150,000 shares of Runhua Living and recorded a net
realised loss of approximately HK$94,000.

IBO and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “IBO Group”) are
principally engaged in the sale of radio frequency identification equipment
and electronic products, provision of system maintenance services,
development of customised softwares and provision of coordination,
management and installation services of smart cities. As disclosed
in the interim report of IBO for the six months ended 30 September
20283, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of IBO for the six months
ended 30 September 2023 were approximately RMB199 million and
RMB150.0 million respectively; (i) the IBO Group expects to concentrate
its resources to address the strong demand of the electronic cigarette
market in the PRC; and (iii) the trading of the shares of IBO on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange has been suspended from 29 April 2024.

HG and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “HG Group”) are
principally engaged in the design, development, manufacturing,
subcontracting service and sales of semiconductor products, including
light emitting diode (‘LED”) beads, gallium nitride (“GaN”) chips, GaN
components and related application products, and fast charging products
in the PRC. As disclosed in the interim report of HG for the six months
ended 30 June 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of HG for the
six months ended 30 June 2024 were approximately RMB34.3 million
and RMB57.2 million respectively; and (i) the HG Group would continue
to make increased efforts to develop the third-generation semiconductor
GaN industry chain in order to accelerate the pace of R&D, and to
expand the applications of GaN-related products. The HG Group
would also actively seek strategic partners and upgrade its industrial
chain while upholding the principle of achieving synergy in the use of
resources. During the Year, the Group disposed of its investment in the
100,000 shares of HG and recorded a net realised loss of approximately
HK$328,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Hang Tai Yue and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Hang Tai
Yue Group”) are principally engaged in provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia; money lending business and assets investments
business. As disclosed in the interim report of Hang Tai Yue for the six
months ended 30 June 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of Hang
Tai Yue for the six months ended 30 June 2024 were approximately
HK$38.1 million and HK$23.7 million respectively; and (i) the Hang
Tai Yue Group would continue to carry on its existing businesses by
formulation and implementation of its own business plans and strategies
and leveraging its own business model, competitiveness and strengths
so as to develop, maintain and enhance its existing businesses, which
will be viable and sustainable and will be able to create value and
investment return.

China Demeter and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “China
Demeter Group”) are principally engaged in provision of loan financing in
Hong Kong; provision of financial services (including advising and dealing
in securities and asset management); investment in listed and unlisted
securities; provision of food and beverage services; alcoholic beverage
distribution and miscellaneous business; and provision of children
education services. As disclosed in the interim report of China Demeter
for the six months ended 30 June 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue and
loss of China Demeter for the six months ended 30 June 2024 were
approximately HK$68.8 million and HK$12 million respectively; and
(i) the China Demeter Group would adopt cost control measures and
implemented several marketing campaigns aimed at increasing client
engagement with its products and services. The China Demeter Group
would employ a cautious approach regarding the loan-to-value ratio of
collaterals and the quality of margin finance clients to limit exposure for
our margin financing and money lending businesses.

Hanvey and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Hanvey Group”)
are principally engaged in the design and development, manufacturing
and distribution of watch products on original design manufacturing basis
for watch manufacturers, brand owners and watch importers across the
globe. As disclosed in the interim report of Hanvey for the six months
ended 30 June 2024, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of Hanvey
for the six months ended 30 June 2024 were approximately HK$51.8
million and HK$9.0 million respectively; and (i) the Hanvey Group would
continue to focus on the core business and to in strengthen our product
design and development capability in order to maximise the long term
returns of the shareholders.

During the Year, dividend income received by the Group from its
investments in listed securities that were held for trading was
approximately HK$7,000 (2023: Nil). Resulting from the volatile
conditions of the Hong Kong stock market and the financial
performance of its respective investee companies, a net fair

value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

of approximately HK$4,409,000 (2023: gain of approximately
HK$1,965,000) was recognised by the Group for its securities
investments for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The objective of the Group’s investments in the listed securities
in Hong Kong is to achieve profit from the appreciation of the
market value of its invested securities and to receive dividend
income. The Directors expect that the stock market in Hong
Kong will remain volatile which may affect the performance of
the Group’s securities investments. The Board believes that
the performance of the securities investments of the Group
will be dependent on the financial and operating performance
of the investee companies and the market sentiment, which
are affected by factors, such as interest rate movements and
performance of the macro economy. The Group will continue to
adopt a conservative investment approach in its trading of listed
securities in the Hong Kong stock market and closely monitor the
performance of its securities investment portfolio.

Other investments

As at 31 December 2024, none of each of the Group’s
investments had a value of 5% or more of the Company’s total
assets and the Group’s investments included the following
investments:

(a) Listed equity investment (not held for trading) -
China Parenting Network Holdings Limited (“CPN”)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held 3,307,600
ordinary shares of CPN (“CPN Shares”), the issued shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 1736), being approximately 0.96% of the total
issued shares of CPN. CPN, together with its subsidiaries,
operate an online platform focusing on the CBM (children,
babies, and maternity) market in the PRC and are mainly
engaged in (i) the provision of marketing and promotional
services through its platform; and (ii) sales of goods in the
PRC. The Group will continue to hold the CPN Shares for
dividend income.

The CPN Shares were measured at fair value at
approximately HK$265,000 as at 31 December 2024, based
on their last closing price quoted on the Stock Exchange.
During the Year, no fair value loss of the CPN Shares
recognised to the financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income reserve of the Group
(2023: approximately HK$99,000). During the Year, no
dividend income was received from this investment (2023:
Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(b) Investment in an associate — Square Box Limited

(c)

(“Square Box”)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held 100% interests
in Infinite Capital Ventures Limited, which in turn held 50%
equity interest in Square Box. Square Box is principally
engaged in the design, development and management of
mobile applications, which serve as social network platform
that focuses on child development and family activities,
including arrangement of extra-curricular activities for kids
and enabling parents to check the admission schedule of
schools and receive parental news. During the Year, the
loss of Square Box shared by the Group was nil (2023:
approximately HK$276,000). Looking ahead, the Group
will continue to monitor the operations of Square Box
for the improvement of its financial performance. As at
31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s
investment in Square Box, an associate of the Group, was
nil (2023: approximately nil).

Investment in a joint venture - Sky View Investment
Limited (“Sky View”)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held 49% interest
in Sky View, this investment was recorded by the Group
as an investment in a joint venture as at 31 December
2024. During the Year, the Group shared the loss of Sky
View of approximately HK$13,000 (2023: approximately
HK$10,000). As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
amount of the Group’s investment in this joint venture
was approximately HK$70,000 (2023: approximately
HK$83,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Board has set out the following key financial performance
indicators to measure and monitor the Group’s business

performance for the Year:

Revenue growth rate (%)
Yz R K (%)

-14.0%

[mm]
'8
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-6.3%

2024

Objectives:
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assess the growth of the Group
businesses
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evaluate the overall sales
performance of the Group
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Current ratio
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measure the operating profitability of
the Group’s businesses
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reflect the combination of revenue
growth and cost management
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— review the pricing strategy of the
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control the direct costs
TRt A S M E R IR E R
B 30 B A A

2023 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin

Revenue of the Group for the Year was approximately
HK$49,055,000 (2023: approximately HK$52,326,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 6.3% as compared
to that of the last financial year. Such decrease was mainly due
to (i) the decrease in the revenue generated from the Group’s
financial software solutions business, which was affected by the
local stagnant and conservative economic sentiment as well as
fierce market competition; and (ii) the increase in the revenue
generated from the money lending business during the Year. In
light of the increasing number of new borrowing clients, there
was an increase in the interest income generated by the Group
from its money lending business during the Year.

Gross profit of the Group for the Year was approximately
HK$27,009,000 (2023: approximately HK$31,146,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 13.3% as compared to
that of the last financial year, which was in line with the decrease
in revenue. Gross profit margin of the Group for the Year was
approximately 55.1% (2023: approximately 59.5%). Such
decrease in the gross profit and the gross profit margin of the
Group was mainly due to the decrease in the gross profit margin
of the financial trading software solutions business.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$36,726,000 (2023: approximately
HK$51,787,000), representing a decrease of approximately
29.1% as compared to that of the last financial year. The
decrease in the administrative expenses was due to the
implementation of cost control and efficiency enhancement
measures by the Group during the Year.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss after tax of approximately
HK$12,338,000 for the Year (2023: approximately
HK$28,346,000), which had decreased by approximately 56.5%.
The decrease in net loss was mainly due to the net effect of: (i)
the decrease in the gross profit of the Group for the Year from
approximately HK$31,146,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately HK$27,009,000 for the Year; (ii) the
turnaround of the net fair value gain on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately HK$1,965,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to a net fair value loss of
approximately HK$4,409,000 for the Year; (iii) the turnaround of
the provision of impairment loss on loans and interest receivables
of approximately HK$7,057,000 recognised for the year ended
31 December 2023 to the reversal of provision of impairment
loss on loans and interest receivables of approximately
HK$2,901,000 recognised for the Year; and (iv) the decrease in
the administrative expenses incurred by the Group for the Year
as mentioned above.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

Wik EFIREFRE
FEBRERNZWHELNA 49,055,000 BT (=

T =414 52,326,000 ET) 0 B E—EBE
FERVA6.3% - ZBLEBEHN () AER

NWEMREBRSTBEBRABRL THREEH
REEHTIRFRTHEENBEURTHRF
AMENBIR B R (i) FR B EEBE LRIV ALEM -
FR ERNNEERESRHETEIEM ~EEB
BEEBEENFBU AL -

AEBRERZEFNHNA 27,009,000 Fx (=

T =4 #931,146,000 B IT) 8 — @8
BEER VA 13.3% B E R D —He K&

ERENZENENAELI% (ZTEZ=ZF1H
59.5%) AEEMENRENKNARAKHE
EHENERRZRABRTZEZBNENZR

\
Mo

THRAX

AEERFEARNZITHASZA % 36,726,000 AT
(ZEZ=F:451, 787 000 % 7t) & E—1@
BIEE R4 29.1% « (T B/ TR 4
PO s 52 [ 22 e 4R A 1 5&%5@0

FHEE
TEEBRERBESEBRREBEEREFEY
12,338,000 & 7T (Z B - =4 : 4 28,346,000
Br) BRI E 56.5% ﬂﬂuizﬁﬁ@ﬁﬂa@
BRALVEEZI () AEEAFEENHEE

T —F+-_A=+—HIEFEBH 31,146, ooo
BT/ DEREERL 27,009,000 BT (i) #
NEBESAAEZNEREEZ ANBERTEF
ERBEE S _=F+_BA=1+—HLEEENY
1,965,000 Bt BAKREENAANEERGIEFLE
%9 4,409,000 BT ; (i) EWE R AN B Z HIE
BEBREEEE_E-=F4+"/B=+—HIHF
ERIRI4 7,057,000 BT A K EEREIMN
B U & =0 R ) B R B 5 18 B 5 #0149 2,901,000
B, RVl EXdiAREEREREENTT
EZF';EELUZ"\ /?"?/ FFH:SZO



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and bank balances
were approximately HK$10,857,000 (2023: approximately
HK$9,214,000). The net current assets of the Group as at 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$40,902,000
(2023: approximately HK$24,709,000). As at 31 December 2024,
approximately 99.3% of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, while the remaining
balance was denominated in Renminbi. The current ratio of the
Group, which was defined as total current assets divided by
total current liabilities, was approximately 2.5 times as at 31
December 2024 (2023: approximately 1.9 times). The Group’s
working capital is sufficient to meet its operational needs and
capital commitments, if any.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total borrowing only
comprised bank finance lease amounting to approximately
HK$692,000 (2023: approximately HK$1,045,000) with annual
effective interest rate at 4.83% (2023: 4.83%) and denominated
in Hong Kong dollars. The Group’s bank finance lease will mature
and will be settled on 27 October 2026. As at 31 December
2024, the gearing ratio of the Group, which was defined as total
borrowing divided by total assets, was approximately 0.01 (2023:
approximately 0.02).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had shareholders’
equity of approximately HK$51,709,000 (2023: approximately
HK$37,536,000). As at 31 December 2024, the capital of the
Company comprised ordinary shares only.

Save for the rights issue as set out in the paragraph headed
“Issue of shares” in the report of the Directors in this annual
report, the Company did not carry out any fund raising activities
by issuing new shares of the Company during the Year (2023:
Nil).

TREASURY AND FUNDING POLICIES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to its
treasury and funding policies, and its financial and fundraising
activities are subject to effective management and supervision.
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) through optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
business activities of the Group were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars. The Directors did not consider the Group
was exposed to any significant foreign currency exchange
risks. During the Year, the Group did not adopt any financial
instruments for hedging purposes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2023: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments (2023: Nil).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material
charge on assets (2023: Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal
transaction during the Year.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this annual report, the Group does not have
any concrete plan for material investments or capital assets for
the coming year. Nonetheless, if any acquisition opportunity
arises or is identified in the coming year, the Group will conduct
a feasibility study and prepare implementation plans to consider
whether it is beneficial to the Company and the Shareholders as
a whole.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the Year (2023: Nil).

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 66 employees
(2023: 69). The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the
capabilities of its workforce by providing them with adequate
and regular training. The Group remunerates its employees
mainly based on industry practices and individual performance
and experience. On top of regular remuneration, discretionary
bonus and share options may be granted to eligible staff by
reference to the Group’s performance as well as the individual
performance. Total employee benefits expense, including
directors’ emoluments, was approximately HK$37,264,000 for
the Year (2023: approximately HK$42,936,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Board,
under the recommendation from the remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company, with reference
to the background, qualification, experience, duties and
responsibilities of the respective Directors within the Group and
the prevailing market conditions.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Operational risks

The Group is exposed to operational risks in relation to each
business division of the Group. To manage the operational
risks, the management of each business division of the Group
is responsible for monitoring the operation and assessing the
operational risks of their respective business divisions. They
are responsible for implementing the Group’s risk management
policies and procedures and shall report any irregularities
in connection with operation to the Directors and seek for
directions. The Group emphasises on ethical value and prevention
of fraud and bribery and has established a whistleblower
program, including communication with other departments and
business divisions and units, to report any irregularities. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s operational risks
have been effectively mitigated.

Financial risks

The Group is exposed to market risks (particularly price risks),
credit risks and liquidity risks, details of which are set out in note
6 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROSPECT

Under the heightened geopolitical uncertainties, followed by
the sluggish property market in Hong Kong, the risk appetite
for corporate investment, business expansion and personal
consumption is expected to remain conservative in the near
future.

The Group will continue to stay resilient and strengthen its
footprint in the IT industry, with an aim to providing customers
with the greatest service and technology. In order to diversify
the source of income, the Group will continue to seek for
opportunities in providing other IT services, including but not
limited to services related to artificial intelligence, blockchain
technology, application development, etc.. The Group will
capitalise on its strong business foundation and network to
actively explore suitable investment opportunities with an
appropriate balance between risks and opportunities so as to
generate returns for the Shareholders.

The money lending business is another core business segment
of the Group. In view of the instability of the financial market
and the economic environment in Hong Kong, the Group will
implement a prudent approach in granting new loans and collect
the loans it has granted and the related interest receivables from
the borrowers in an active manner.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to
the GEM Listing Rules then in force (“CG Code”) as its code
of corporate governance during the Year. During the Year, the
Company complied with all the applicable code provisions as set
out in the CG Code then in force.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company adopted a code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules then in force. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors adopted by the Company during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

From 1 January 2024 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board consisted of three executive Directors namely Ms. Tin
Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol), Ms. Liu Mung
Ting and Ms. Lin Ting, and three independent non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May
Jean and Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon.

The Board was chaired by Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name
as Tin Yuen Sin Carol) during the Year and as at the date of this
annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, save that Ms. Liu Mung
Tung, an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the
Company (“Chief Executive Officer”), is a daughter of Ms. Tin
Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol), an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”), none of
the Directors had any relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship) with each other.

The biographical details of all the Directors are set out on pages
45 to 49 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Functions and responsibilities of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for overseeing the
management of business, strategic decisions and financial
performance of the Company for the best interests of the
Shareholders. The Board has established various Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees
various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference. All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith
and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws and
regulations, and have acted in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole at all times.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (particularly
those that may involve conflicts of interest), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

During the Year, 6 Board meetings were held to perform the
abovementioned duties and responsibilities and details of
attendance of each Board member are set out in the section
headed “Attendance of Directors at Meetings” on page 40 of this
annual report.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”), with a view to ensuring
that the Board’s procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.

Delegation of powers

The Board delegates the day-to-day management authority,
administration and operation of the Group to the executive
Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the senior management
of the Group, while reserving certain key matters in strategic
decision making for its approval. When the Board delegates
certain aspects of its management and administration functions
to management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where management needs to report back to and obtains prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering
into any commitments on behalf of the Group. During the Year,
the executive Directors and the Chief Executive Officer, who
also represented the senior management of the Group, provided
all members of the Board with monthly updates pursuant to
code provision D.1.2 of the CG Code while the Board regularly
reviewed its arrangement on delegation of authority and
responsibilities to ensure that such delegations are appropriate in
view of the Group’s prevailing circumstances.
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Directors’ appointment and re-election

The appointment of a new Director is made on the
recommendation of the nomination committee (“Nomination
Committee”) of the Company or by the Shareholders in general
meetings. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional Director shall hold office only until
the first annual general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol),
an executive Director and the Chairman, had entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of one year from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive) and
has been re-appointed for a term of one year on the same terms
commencing on 1 January 2025 and ending on 31 December
2025 (both days inclusive).

Ms. Liu Mung Ting (an executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer) has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term from 7 July 2023 to 31 December 2024 (both days
inclusive) and has been re-appointed for a term of one year on
the same terms commencing on 1 January 2025 and ending on
31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

Ms. Lin Ting (an executive Director) has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of one year from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive) and
has been re-appointed for a term of one year on the same terms
commencing on 1 January 2025 and ending on 31 December
2025 (both days inclusive).

Each of the independent non-executive Directors namely Mr.
Hon Ming Sang and Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean, has entered
into an appointment agreement with the Company for a term of
one year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both days
inclusive), and has been re-appointed for a term of one year on
the same terms commencing on 1 January 2025 and ending on
31 December 2025 (both days inclusive), which is in compliance
with code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code.

Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon (an independent non-executive Director)
has entered into an appointment agreement with the Company
for a term of from 7 July 2023 to 31 December 2024 (both days
inclusive), and has been re-appointed for a term of one year on
the same terms commencing on 1 January 2025 and ending on
31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG
Code. By virtue of article 112 of the articles of association of
the Company, the Board shall have the power from time to time
and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an additional Director
provided that the number of Directors so appointed shall not
exceed the maximum number determined from time to time by
the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company.
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Pursuant to article 108(a) of the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation and all such retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election. Details of the Directors to be retired
by rotation and, where applicable, subject to re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be
contained in the circular to be despatched to the Shareholders
in due course. None of the Directors who are being proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company has a service contract or an appointment agreement
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Independent non-executive Directors

The Company has been in compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and
(2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules during the Year, in which
the Company had three independent non-executive Directors,
representing at least one-third of the Board. Among the three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Hon Ming Sang has the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
and the Company considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are or have remained independent.

Nomination policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”). Such policy aims to improve transparency around the
criteria and procedure adopted by the Nomination Committee
in selecting and recommending candidates as Directors and to
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. Selection of candidates shall be based
on a range of criteria, including but not limited to, integrity
and reputation, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, and length of service. The Nomination
Committee shall convene a meeting to discuss and consider the
recommendation of any candidate to the Board for appointment,
election or re-election as a Director by the Board or at a general
meeting of the Company.
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Board diversity policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) in accordance with the requirements set out in the CG
Code. Such policy aims to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. The Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance. The Company endeavours to ensure that
the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy and to maximise the Board’s
effectiveness. Accordingly, all Board appointments shall be based
on meritocracy and candidates shall be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity
on the Board. Selection of candidates shall be based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to, gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate
decision shall be based on the merit and contribution the
selected candidates could bring to the Board. The Nomination
Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy. The Board shall review the Board Diversity Policy and its
implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis to ensure
the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee will continue to give adequate consideration to
these measurable objectives when making recommendations of
candidates for appointment to the Board.

During the Year and as at the date of this annual report, the
Board comprised at least (i) four female members and two
male members; and (i) three executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors.

Taking into account that the Board has a balanced mix of skill-
set, experience, and diversity which strengthens its decision-
making capability and the overall effectiveness of the Company
in achieving sustainable business operation and enhancing
shareholder value, the Company considers that the current
composition of the Board satisfies the principles set out in the
Board Diversity Policy.

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity at the
workforce level. As at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio of the
workforce of the Group (including senior management) was 2.3:1
male to female.
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Independent views policy

To ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board, the Company has established a policy (“Independent
Views Policy”), under which the independent non-executive
Directors are required to, among others, bring independent
judgment to bear on the Company’s issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments
and standards of conduct, help review some of the Board’s
major decisions and the Company’s performance in relation to
corporate goals, monitor the Company’s performance reporting,
and take the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise.
Further, the independent non-executive Directors must make
sufficient time available to discharge their responsibilities and
should not accept an invitation to serve as an independent
non-executive Director on the Board unless they can devote
adequate time and effort to the work involved. Independent non-
executive Directors sitting on multiple boards of directors of
listed companies will need to ensure that they devote sufficient
time and dedicate adequate attention to each board and board
committee.

Apart from regular board meetings which allow independent non-
executive Directors to express their views, the Chairman meets
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of any other Director at least once a year to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. In addition,
the Company ensures that all the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) will have access to advice
from external independent professionals, including independent
legal advisors, auditors and valuers, to assist the Directors to
perform their duties.

The Company is required to review the Independent Views Policy
and its implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis. The
Company has reviewed the Independent Views Policy and its
implementation and effectiveness during the Year and considered
the results of such review satisfactory.

Dividend policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”).
Dividends may be paid out by way of cash or by other means
that the Directors consider appropriate. Declaration and payment
of any dividends would require the recommendation of the Board
and will be at its discretion. In addition, any final dividends for a
financial year will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.
A decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the future, and
the amount of any dividends, depends on a number of factors,
including the results of operations and financial condition of
the Group, the payment by the Company’s subsidiaries of cash
dividends to the Company, and other factors the Board may
deem relevant. Declaration and payment of dividends by the
Company are subject to compliance with applicable laws and
regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and the
articles of association of the Company.
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The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary.

There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in
any particular amount for any given period.

Chairman and chief executive officer

According to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of the chairman and the chief executive officer of a listed
issuer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the Year, the role of the Chairman was
performed by Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin
Carol), while Ms. Liu Mung Ting acted as the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman is to provide leadership for the Board and
to ensure that the Board works effectively. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Group’s business. During the Year, the positions of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer were held by separate individuals
so as to maintain an effective segregation of duties.

Continuing professional development

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
shall participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, each of the Directors received regular updates
and presentations on changes and developments to the Group’s
business and to the legislative and regulatory environments in
which the Group operates, and was also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses. During the Year, each of the Directors,
i.e. Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol),
Ms. Liu Mung Ting, Ms. Lin Ting, Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee
Kwun Ling, May Jean, and Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon participated
in appropriate continuous professional development activities
by way of attending training or reading materials relevant to the
Group’s business, the GEM Listing Rules or directors’ duties, and
provided his or her training records to the Company on a yearly
basis.

Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance and
indemnity

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering
the liabilities in respect of any legal action against the Directors
that may arise out of the corporate activities, so as to comply
with the CG Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) of the Company on 10 September 2013 with
written terms of reference posted on the websites of GEM
and of the Company. Such written terms of reference were
revised and adopted by the Board on 29 December 2015
in accordance with the revised CG Code taking effect on 1
January 2016. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are, among other matters, to review the Company’s financial
information and to monitor the Company'’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems.

From 1 January 2024 up to the date of this annual report,
the Audit Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee
Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon. During
the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit
Committee was chaired by Mr. Hon Ming Sang.

The Audit Committee reviewed the accounting standards
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed with
the management about the internal control and financial
reporting matters for the Year. During the Year, the Audit
Committee also reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and internal
audit function. The Group’s half-yearly and annual results for
the Year have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee,
which was of the opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards
and that adequate disclosures had been made.

During the Year, 6 Audit Committee meetings were held and
the details of attendance of each Audit Committee member
are set out in the section headed “Attendance of Directors
at Meetings” on page 40 of this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee
on 10 September 2013 with written terms of reference in
accordance with the CG Code which are posted on the
websites of GEM and of the Company. Such written terms
of reference were revised and adopted by the Board on 15
December 2022 in accordance with the revised CG Code
taking effect on 1 January 2023. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are, among other matters, to
review and make recommendations to the Board on the
terms of remuneration packages of the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the remuneration policy.
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From 1 January 2024 up to the date of this annual report,
the Remuneration Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms.
Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon.
During the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr. Hon Ming
Sang.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and
made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of
the Company, and reviewed and approved certain new
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s
corporate objectives and the prevailing market conditions,
assessed the performance of the executive Directors and
approved the terms of the executive Directors’ service
contracts.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was
held and the details of attendance of each Remuneration
Committee member are set out in the section headed
“Attendance of Directors at Meetings” on page 40 of this
annual report.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the
Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on
10 September 2013 with written terms of reference in
accordance with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code which are posted on the websites of GEM and of the
Company. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are, among other matters, to formulate the Nomination
Policy and make recommendations to the Board on the
nomination and appointment of the Directors and the
succession planning for the Directors.

From 1 January 2024 up to the date of this annual report,
the Nomination Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms.
Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon.
During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Nomination Committee was chaired by Mr. Hon Ming Sang.

During the Year, two Nomination Committee meetings
were held and details of attendance of each Nomination
Committee member are set out in the section headed
“Attendance of Directors at Meetings” on page 40 of this
annual report.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board,
the existing Board Diversity Policy and its implementation,
assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and reviewed the annual confirmations
of independence received from them. The Nomination
Committee also reviewed the nomination procedures,
process and criteria to select and recommend candidates
for directorship and made recommendations on the
nomination and appointment of new Directors, the Vice
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee
(“Compliance Committee”) of the Company on 10
September 2013 with written terms of reference which are
posted on the websites of GEM and of the Company.

From 1 January 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Compliance Committee comprised two executive
Directors, namely Ms. Liu Mung Ting (chairman) and Ms.
Lin Ting. The principal duties of the Compliance Committee
include:

o to establish, execute and maintain the compliance and
corporate governance system of the Group;

° to support and provide instructions to ensure that each
business unit of the Group can establish, execute and
maintain its compliance and corporate governance
system;

o to produce the compliance manual of the Group and
keep it updated;

. to conduct education and training programmes on
compliance for the Group, including compliance
seminars;

o to monitor the status of the compliance and corporate
governance system of the Group; and

° to investigate compliance problems of the Group and
take appropriate measures when one arises (it may
instruct the relevant department(s) to deal with the
problem depending on its nature).

During the Year, the members of the Compliance Committee
monitored the status of the compliance and corporate
governance system of the Group from time to time, and
the Compliance Committee was of the view that there
was no compliance issue of the Group which required the
Compliance Committee to resolve by way of a meeting.
Therefore, no meeting of the Compliance Committee was
held during the Year.
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ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT
MEETINGS

ERHEERRER

Number of meetings attended/entitled to attend

LR/ AREEEERY

Annual  Extraordinary Audit Remuneration Nomination

general general Board Committee Committee Committee

meeting meeting meetings meetings meetings meetings
Directors Bz BRREEAE RREIAE EXged BRZEEEE FNZES993 REZ8993
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol H—Fut 11 11 5/6 N/ARIEHA N/ARIEF N/ARTEH
Ms. Liu Mung Ting BEELt 1/1 1/1 6/6 N/ARHEHA N/AREF N/AREF
Ms. Lin Ting MEZT 11 11 6/6 N/ARIEHA N/ARIEF N/AREH
Independent Non-executive Directors B JFHITES
Mr. Hon Ming Sang BIRESLE 1/1 11 6/6 6/6 1/1 2/2
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean FHALL 1/1 1/1 5/6 6/6 1/1 2/2
Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon s 1/1 1/1 6/6 6/6 1/1 2/2
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT FEREX

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the
consolidated financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for each
financial period to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year,
the Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgments and estimates that are
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors
are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities. The Directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor,
RSM Hong Kong, are set out in the section headed “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 63 to 70 of this annual report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Group’s
external auditor for the audit and non-audit services provided
amounted to HK$1,030,000 and HK$100,000 respectively.
The non-audit services comprised fees for the agreed upon
procedures services.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has not established a corporate governance
committee. According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code,
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties of the Company. The Board shall have the following duties
and responsibilities for performing the corporate governance
duties of the Company:

o to develop and review the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

o to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

o to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.

The Board reviewed the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and compliance with the CG Code,
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, and the
Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements during the Year as well as the disclosure
in this corporate governance report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on
an ongoing basis. The main features of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group include the identification,
assessment and evaluation of risks, the development
and continuous updating of mitigation measures, and the
ongoing review of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness. The Group has also established an organisational
structure in such control systems, clearly defining the power and
obligations of each department in the Group, in order to protect
the Group’s assets against improper use and ensure compliance
with rules and regulations. Such risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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The Company has an internal control manual containing policies
on information disclosure which is applicable to all employees of
the Company and regularly reminds Directors and employees to
properly comply with relevant policies on inside information while
notifying the Directors (who are also the senior management of
the Group) and employees the latest guidance announced by the
regulatory body on disclosure of such information from time to
time to keep all of them abreast of the latest information.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Group’s risk management process involves the identification,
evaluation, response, monitoring and reporting of risks. After
risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business and
operations are identified by the management of the Company,
the Board will perform risk assessment by prioritising the
identified risks to determine key risks exposed to the Group and
discuss measures to mitigate such key risks. Besides, existing
risk mitigation measures are subject to regular monitoring by
the management of the Company, which will review the Group’s
risk management strategies, and report such results and make
appropriate suggestions to the Board.

The Board has in place an internal audit function within the
Group as required under code provision D.2.5 of the CG code.
The Group conducts review of the risk management and internal
control systems on annual basis. During the Year, to strengthen
the risk management and internal control of the Group, the
Company has engaged an independent professional adviser
(“Internal Control Adviser”) to perform independent appraisal
of the adequacy and effectiveness of certain subsidiary’s risk
management and internal control system for the Year. The scope
of review for the Year included revenue cycle as well as payroll
cycle of a principal operating subsidiary. The Internal Control
Adviser has reported major findings and areas for improvement
to the Audit Committee. All recommendations from the Internal
Control Adviser would be followed up closely to ensure that they
are implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Board
is of the opinion that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate and that nothing has
come to its attention to cause the Board to believe the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are inadequate.
The Board has also considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

The Group believes that good corporate governance practices
are very important for maintaining and promoting investor
confidence and for the sustainable growth of the Group. The
Group has therefore made continued efforts to uplift the quality
of its corporate governance.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy
with objective of ensuring that the Shareholders, the potential
investors and the investment community (collectively, “Investors”)
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced
and understandable information about the Group, which will
enable the Shareholders and the Investors to make the informed
investment decisions.

In line with the Company’s shareholders’ communication policy,
the Company communicates with the Shareholders and Investors
of the Company mainly in the following ways:

(@) the holding of annual general meetings and extraordinary
general meetings, if any, which may be convened for specific
purposes and provide opportunities for the Shareholders
and the Investors to communicate directly with the Board;

(b) the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports,
circulars, announcements and notices of Shareholders’
meetings as required under the GEM Listing Rules and/
or press releases of the Company providing updated
information of the Group; and

(c) the provision of the latest information of the Group on the
websites of GEM and of the Company.

Pursuant to article 65 of the articles of association of the
Company, an annual general meeting of the Company shall be
called by at least 21 days’ notice in writing and all other meetings
(including an extraordinary general meeting) shall be called by at
least 14 days’ notice in writing.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of its shareholders’ communication policy during the Year. The
Company convened one shareholders’ meeting held on 14
June 2024 (“2024 AGM”), which allowed the Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Directors at the 2024 AGM. In
addition, information relating to the Company, including interim
and annual reports, announcements, circulars and poll results of
the 2024 AGM, as well as notice of the 2024 AGM have been
published or sent to the Shareholders in accordance with the
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules during the Year, which
allow the Shareholders and the Investors to have ready, equal
and timely access to the information of the Group. In view of the
above, the Company considered its shareholders’ communication
policy to be effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the articles of association of the
Company, any one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
requisition in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself/herself/themselves may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for sending enquiries and proposals
to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and/or put forward
proposals to the Company, for the attention of the Board or the
Company Secretary, by posting the same to Unit 708, 7th Floor,
Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yu Kwan Nam Gabriel has been appointed by the Board as
the Company Secretary and undertook not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training to update his skills and knowledge
during the Year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company were amended in line with the then latest
regulatory requirements, including the amendments made to the
GEM Listing Rules. Details of the amendments are disclosed in
the Company’s announcement and circular dated 17 May 2024
and 21 May 2024, respectively. The amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company
were adopted by the Company pursuant to the shareholders’
resolution passed on 14 June 2024 and are available on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol)
(A—F ZHARABEBE), aged 59, has been appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 5 May 2020 and the Chairman
with effect from 19 May 2020.

Ms. Tin obtained a degree of doctor of business administration
honoris causa from the International American University in March
2009. Ms. Tin is an entrepreneur operating businesses including
money lending business and fine dining business. Ms. Tin also
has extensive experience in trading business in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

Ms. Tin was an executive director of Carnival Group International
Holdings Limited (“Carnival”’, formerly known as Oriental Ginza
Holding Limited and CASH Retail Management Group Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with Stock Code: 996) for the period from September 2005 to
August 2011. Ms. Tin also served as the chairperson of Carnival
from November 2006 to August 2011 and was responsible for
the overall strategic planning and policy making. Ms. Tin served
as a director of Yan Oi Tong from 2017 to 2018. She has been
an executive director of Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited
(“Virtual Mind”) (a company formerly known as Runway Global
Holdings Company Limited and CEFC Hong Kong Financial
Investment Company Limited, which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 1520) since October
2019 and its chairman from January 2021 to January 2022.
Ms. Tin is currently a director of Delta Wealth Finance Limited
and Delta Wealth Credit Limited. She has been appointed as an
executive director and a member of the investment committee
of InvesTech Holdings Limited (“InvesTech”) (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code:
1087) since April 2022, and the vice chairman of InvesTech since
15 June 2023. Ms. Tin is the mother of Ms. Liu Mung Ting, an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer.
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EFREEFS

Ms. Liu Mung Ting (BZ4#8), aged 27, has been appointed
as (i) an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer with
effect from 7 July 20283; and (i) an authorised representative of
the Company (for the purpose of Rule 5.24 of the GEM Listing
Rules), the compliance officer of the Company (for the purpose
of Rule 5.19 of the GEM Listing Rules) and the chairman of the
Compliance Committee with effect from 1 January 2024.

Ms. Liu obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science (Economics)
from the University College London in July 2019 and a degree
of Master of Science in International Business from the Hult
International Business School in August 2020. Ms. Liu was a
director of Wine Master Holdings Limited, a company principally
engaged in wine procurement, sales, and inventory management
functions from April 2020 to September 2022. She also worked
as an analyst in relation to real estate private equity at M3
Capital Partners (HK) Limited, the Hong Kong office of M3
Capital Partners LLC, a global private equity capital advisory
firm which advises real asset companies and fund managers
on investment and private equity fund structures and strategic
decisions, including restructuring, recapitalization and mergers
and acquisitions, from September 2020 to July 2023, whereby
she was involved in capital raising for multiple real estate private
equity deals across China, Japan, Hong Kong and Vietnam
totalling more than US$3.5 billion equity raised while working with
multiple clients and investors including large sovereign wealth
funds, pension funds, etc. Ms. Liu is a daughter of Ms. Tin Yat Yu
Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol), an executive Director
and the Chairman.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Ms. Lin Ting (#A3€), aged 55, has been appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 23 June 2016.

Ms. Lin graduated from Shanghai University of Engineering
Science with a Bachelor degree in Industrial Enterprise
Management in 1992. She also obtained a Master degree in
Technology Management in Information Technology from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2004.

Ms. Lin was qualified as a project management professional
by the Project Management Institute in March 2014. Ms. Lin
joined the China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. (FEEEMZERA
3))in August 1998 and has served as deputy general manager
of the business development department since March 2009.
She then joined Eastern Airlines Logistics Co., Ltd. GEAZEY)
FRAFR/AE)in November 2012 as the general manager of the
information department. Ms. Lin then served as general manager
in the logistics product department of China Eastern Airlines
Co., Ltd. (FEIRAMERMHBBRAT), a joint stock limited
company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability whose H
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 670), A
shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
600115) and American depositary shares are listed on the New
York Stock Exchange, Inc., and the holding company of Eastern
Airlines Logistics Co., Ltd., from April 2013 to June 2015. From
7 December 2015 to 22 June 2016, Ms. Lin was an independent
non-executive director of Hang Tai Yue. From 15 October 2021 to
8 October 2024, Ms. Lin has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of UJU Holding Limited (“UJU Holding”, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
Stock Code: 1948). She has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director and a member of each of the audit
committee, nomination committee, remuneration committee and
risk management committee of Tibet Water since July 2022.
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EFREEFS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (§28%4%), aged 46, committee member
of the 11st Luoding Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
with effect from 24 June 2020.

Mr. Hon graduated with an honor degree of Professional
Accountancy in the School of Accountancy from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Hon is a CFA charterholder. He is
also a member of the Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts,
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute. Mr. Hon has previously worked in an international
audit firm and has over 14 years of working experience in listed
companies and financial institutions. He has extensive experience
in corporate finance, merger and acquisition, investment and
financial management and compliance services.

Mr. Hon had been an independent non-executive director of
SFund International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1367, listing
of which was cancelled on 20 September 2022) (“SFund”) from
November 2016 to February 2017 and was re-designated as its
executive director from February 2017 to August 2022. He had
also been appointed as SFund’s company secretary, authorized
representative and process agent from July 2017 to August
2022.

Mr. Hon has been an independent non-executive director
of Virtual Mind since November 2016. Mr. Hon has been an
independent non-executive director of Asia Energy since
November 2020. Mr. Hon has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit committee
and the investment committee, and the chairman of each of
the compensation and benefits committee and the nomination
committee of InvesTech with effect from 31 January 2023.

Mr. Hon has been appointed as the chief financial officer and the
company secretary of China Gas Industry Investment Holdings
Co. Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with Stock Code: 1940) since August 2022 and
October 2022, respectively.
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Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (ZE#%}), aged 64, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 10
September 2013.

Ms. Lee obtained a degree of Master of Business Administration
(Executive) at the City University of Hong Kong in October 2014.
Ms. Lee also obtained her Doctor of Business Administration
from the City University of Hong Kong in November 2018.

From December 2006 to October 2012, Ms. Lee worked for
King Fook Holdings Limited and her last position was director
of sales and brand development, Greater China. From October
2012 to January 2015, Ms. Lee worked for Boucheron Hong
Kong Limited as a retail director. Ms. Lee was a director of Yan
Oi Tong, a registered non-profit charitable organisation, from
2010 to 2014 and from 2017 to the present. Ms. Lee was an
independent non-executive director of China Brilliant Global
Limited (a company listed on GEM with Stock Code: 8026) from
February 2018 to September 2023.

Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon (&i& %) , aged 60, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee with effect from 7 July 2023. Mr. Tang is
a practising solicitor and an accredited mediator with the Hong
Kong International Arbitration Centre. He is a partner of P. C.
Woo & Co., a firm of solicitors with over 70 years of service in
Hong Kong.

Mr. Tang is a panel member of the Insurance Appeals Tribunal,
legal advisor of the General Agents and Managers Association of
Hong Kong, vice president of the Hong Kong Institute of Patent
Attorneys Limited, senior legal adviser to Hong Kong Brands
Protection Alliance Limited, founding member, board member
and honorary legal counsel of Hong Kong-ASEAN Economic
Cooperation Foundation, member of the Standing Committee on
Standards and Development of the Law Society of Hong Kong,
legal advisor to Kitchee (Sports Management) Limited, a member
of the Executive Board of Hong Kong Air Cadet Corps, fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, board member
of Monte Jade Science and Technology Association of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Tang has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Virtual Mind since August 2016. Mr. Tang has been
appointed as a member of each of the audit committee, the
nomination committee, and the corporate governance committee
of Virtual Mind since November 2016. Mr. Tang was a member of
the remuneration committee of Virtual Mind from November 2016
to January 2021, and he has been appointed as the chairman of
the remuneration committee of Virtual Mind since January 2021.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EREHRS

The Board herewith presents the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of financial
trading software solutions, provision of other IT and internet
financial platforms services, money lending business and assets
investments in Hong Kong.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group and an indication of the likely future developments in the
Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 8 to 29 of this annual report. Such
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 71 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (2023: Nil).

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of the principal properties held for investment purposes
are set out on page 5 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

EFTELEREAEELAFENER BRKSE
(RN = R

FEXRF R FET0RE

FEEISNEBRFRESRTZ WM MR
AR REEMEARSERERASET RS
BEXBREERE

ZEERBZE—SIRAIN (BEEHEER
BEEZTEARRIERERNEZNHELERFER
EBARAULERNTR) AN EAERESE
20 BFfE 2 EEE KD Ze M iER A
EEERENERE D

EiERRR

BREEMEEB AR
BEEQGTABEEMAEERGVRERE(ZE
R

FEME

AREEBNMEENIEYENFBHNETE
HE 5 Ho

Az s

KRBRERANREE
RIEE 330

HBRHNREMHR



EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Year, the Group did not enter into any equity-linked
agreement.

ISSUE OF SHARES

On 5 December 2023, the Board proposed to (i) increase
the existing authorised share capital of the Company from
HK$10,000,000 divided into 200,000,000 ordinary shares with
a par value of HK$0.05 each to HK$100,000,000 divided into
2,000,000,000 shares by creating additional 1,800,000,000
unissued shares (“Increase in Authorised Share Capital”);
and (i) raise approximately HK$27.98 million by issuing up to
378,174,702 new ordinary shares to the qualifying Shareholders
on the basis of three (3) rights shares (“Rights Shares”) for every
one (1) share in issue at the subscription price of HK$0.074 per
share (“Rights Issue”).

The Company also entered into a placing agreement with
a placing agent, pursuant to which the placing agent has
conditionally agreed to procure placees, on a best effort basis, to
subscribe for the unsubscribed Rights Shares and unsold Rights
Shares as part of the compensatory arrangements (“Placing”).

An extraordinary general meeting was held by the Company on
16 January 2024, and the above proposed events were approved
by the shareholders of the Company. Upon the completion of
the Rights Issue and the Placing, the number of shares of the
Company in issue was increased by 378,174,702, resulting in
a credit to share capital and share premium by HK$18,909,000
and HK$7,602,000, respectively after netting of the related
cost of approximately HK$1,474,000. Details of the Increase in
Authorised Share Capital, the Rights Issue and the Placing are
disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 5 December
20283, 18 December 2023, 19 December 2023, 16 January 2024,
16 February 2024 and 27 February 2024, the Company'’s circular
dated 28 December 2023 and the Company’s prospectus dated
29 January 2024.

The Directors are of the view that the Rights Issue is in the best
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole and
that the Rights Issue is an appropriate fundraising method to
strengthen the capital base of the Company, which in turn will
support the Company’s continuing development and business
growth, while allowing the qualifying Shareholders to maintain
their proportional shareholdings in the Company.
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The Company intends to apply the net proceeds from the
Rights Issue (i) to support the research and development centre
in Shenzhen Futian District, PRC, instead of Qianhai, PRC as
stated in the Company’s prospectus dated 29 January 2024
due to better terms of the tenancy of promises in such location
secured by the Group (“‘Shenzhen R&D Center”), (i) to expand
the customer support, product development, and research and
compliance teams in Hong Kong, and support these teams
with relevant equipment and infrastructure, (i) to develop new
IT system products to explore business opportunities in other
geographical locations, such as Southeast Asia, and (iv) as
general working capital of the Group. For further details of the
Rights Issue, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 5 December 2023 and the Company’s circular dated
28 December 2023 and the Company’s prospectus dated 29
January 2024.

The Rights Issue was completed on 28 February 2024. As such,
378,174,702 ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.05 each
(with aggregate nominal value of HK$18,908,735.1), were issued
and allotted under the Rights Issue with net proceeds (after
deduction of expenses) of approximately HK$26.51 million raised.
The issue price and net price per Rights Share were HK$0.074
and approximately HK$0.069 respectively. The closing price of
the share of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
5 December 2023 was HK$0.103 per share. Reference is made
to the announcement of the Company dated 27 February 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the utilisation of the net proceeds from
the Rights Issue was as follows:
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The net proceeds of the Rights Issue were used and are
proposed to be used according to the intentions previously
disclosed, save as mentioned above.

The unutilised net proceeds of the Rights Issue at 31 December
2024 are intended to be utilised by 30 June 2025.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS
AND WARRANTS

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had granted or
issued any convertible securities, options, warrants or similar
rights during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being
the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 74 of this annual report
and in note 34(b) to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves available for distribution
of the Company during the Year are set out in note 34(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, no reserve (2023: approximately
HK$5,438,000) of the Company was available for distribution as
calculated in accordance with the statutory provisions applicable
in the Cayman Islands.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had made
any charitable donations during the Year (2023: approximately
HK$39,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date
of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol)
(Chairman)

Ms. Liu Mung Ting (Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Lin Ting

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Hon Ming Sang

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean

Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, there were
no changes in the information required to be disclosed pursuant
to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules in the course of the term of office of a Director.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol),
an executive Director and the Chairman, had entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of one year from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive) and
has been re-appointed for a term of one year on the same terms
commencing on 1 January 2025 and ending on 31 December
2025 (both days inclusive).

Ms. Liu Mung Ting (an executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer) has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of from 7 July 2023 to 31 December 2024 (both days
inclusive) and has been re-appointed for a term of one year on
the same terms commencing on 1 January 2025 and ending on
31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

Ms. Lin Ting (an executive Director) has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of one year from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive) and
has been re-appointed for a term of one year on the same terms
commencing on 1 January 2025 and ending on 31 December
2025 (both days inclusive).
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Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon (an independent non-executive Director)
has entered into an appointment agreement with the Company
for a term from 7 July 2023 to 31 December 2024 (both days
inclusive), and has been re-appointed for a term of one year on
the same terms commencing on 1 January 2025 and ending on
31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

Each of Mr. Hon Ming Sang and Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean,
being an independent non-executive Director, has entered into
an appointment agreement with the Company for a term of one
year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both days
inclusive), and has been re-appointed for a term of one year on
the same terms commencing on 1 January 2025 and ending on
31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

All service contracts and appointment agreements with Directors
are subject to termination, among others, by giving not less than
one month’s written notice.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS
AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH THE
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
individuals with the highest emoluments are set out in notes 16
and 15(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES BY THE DIRECTORS

Save for the rights issue set out in the paragraph headed “Issue
of shares” above in this annual report, none of the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries
was a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate at the
end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required (i) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered into the register referred to therein; or (i) pursuant
to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EERETETHRABRRKRG ERER
PREEEPNERRRE

A _E_NME+_A=+—HB EFH AT E
ETBRAEREAATIETABEEZE (EER
EHEREIEEGE XV 26) RN ABRIR M KR E
EEDEE () REESRIPAEEAE 352 1%
BETNZIERIENE MR, 3 (i) R GEM
EHIRAIE 5.46 E5.67 KBME AR K
RN ER R REWNT:

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of as at

shares 31 December

Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest interested 2024
RIZTZWE

BEEEZN +=A=+—H

EEEB 81 EatE Rir & B IR B 2Lt
(note (a)) (note (b))

(Hizt(a) (H1z# b))

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol Beneficial owner 145,868,000 (L) 28.93

H—iFz+ BmEAA
Notes:
(@  “L” denotes long position in the ordinary shares of the Company.

(b)  The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2024 (i.e. 504,232,936 shares) has been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required
(i) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the
register referred to therein; or (i) pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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R EPriREEI R _E_mE+ B =+—
B EERAARBDEIETHRAERERALT R
HEEAEk B (EERHFRBERKRDE XV
=Z8) B RR DRI R EREE BEE () BiE
EEREAEEME 352 K BE LR ZIEREN
BrMANERERE A I (i) B GEM £
TIRBE 546 E5.67 BN G XN T KR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2024,
the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFOHRS

FERRKREMA LIRS KRR
APV R R E

BEERA R _Z_NWE+-_B=+—080"TF
TIAL (EFEEHAATDEBETHALE) BF
NERDRABERD T EEREAEEERE
BERHEEGE 86 KSR EARTEEWN
ZRMAanERIRAE:

Other person HfhA <L
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
Number of as at
shares 31 December
Name of Shareholder Capacity/nature of interest interested 2024
MRZEZME
BEEEDN +=ZB=+—H
RRETE 5%, #nitE RHEE RESNT DL
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Hizt(a) (£ b))
Zhang Xiongfeng Beneficial owner 33,104,000 (L) 6.56
SRIEIE FiEA
Notes: st
(a)  “L” denotes long position in the ordinary shares of the Company. () L ER R EEER TR -

(b)  The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2024 (i.e. 504,232,936 shares) has been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons (not being a Director or
the chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

(b) KRIZEZEF+A=+—HBWNAABBEITRIDLEH
(BN 504,232,936 B R%15) AR STEAATMRRERL
Btk

BFEXRBEN N - ZE_ME+_A=1+—H>
EFTAMEBEMEMAL (LIFFRTEEH
EFEBTHAR) RERATDROIBBERNDTESR
ARBEESFRERGIE 336 RAA R MWE
REBRARBDMFEECMANERIRE-
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors who are also the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 45 to 49 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance (as
defined under the GEM Listing Rules) to which the Company,
its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director (as defined under section 486 of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) had
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the Year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
and the Company considers that the independent non-executive
Directors are or have remained independent.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol), an
executive Director and the Chairman, is also a director of Delta
Wealth Finance Limited (which is principally engaged in money
lending business).

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
close associates as defined in the GEM Listing Rules had any
business or interests in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the Year. As at 31 December 2024, the Company
did not have any controlling Shareholder.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Particulars of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group as at
31 December 2024 are set out in note 15(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the top five customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 32.8% (2023: approximately 27.3%) in
aggregate of the Group’s consolidated revenue. The top five
suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 82.6% (2023:
approximately 85.3%) in aggregate of the Group’s consolidated
cost of sales (excluding direct staff cost) for the Year. In addition,
the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
11.2% (2023: approximately 8.1%) of the Group’s consolidated
revenue for the Year and the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 24.7% (2023: approximately 27.7 %)
of the Group’s consolidated cost of sales (excluding direct staff
cost) for the Year.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their close associates or any Shareholders (who, to the best
knowledge and belief of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) were interested in these major
customers or suppliers of the Group during the Year.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has a diversified customer base with over 100
customers mainly from Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC and
Singapore. In order to maintain relationships with customers,
various means have been established to strengthen the
communications between the customers and the Group to
improve and expand the Group’s provision of customer service.
In addition, the Group will continue expanding its sales and
marketing team to proactively manage customer relations,
expand its customer base and enhance customer loyalty.

The Group does not have any supplier of goods or services
which is specific to the Group’s business and which is required
by the Group on a regular basis to enable the Group to continue
to supply or serve its customers.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

Human resources are the most valuable asset of the Group.
Developing and retaining talents are vital to the Group’s success.
The Group is committed to providing its employees with a safe,
pleasant and healthy working environment. The Group rewards
and recognises its employees by competitive remuneration
packages and implements a key performance index scheme with
appropriate incentives, and promotes career development and
progression by providing opportunities for career advancement.

In addition, each department of the Group is responsible for
determining the training needs for its employees in its department
and any suggested applicable training courses either arranged
internally or provided by external service providers shall be
submitted to the senior management of the Group for approval.
Knowledge, skills and capacities of employees are vital to the
continuous business growth and success of the Group. The
Group strives to ensure that all employees will fulfill the relevant
job requirements through education, training, technical and work
experience.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had no significant subsequent event after the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group as set out in note
39 to the consolidated financial statements constituted fully
exempted connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix C1
to the GEM Listing Rules then in force during the Year. Details
of the Group’s corporate governance practices adopted by the
Board are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
30 to 44 of this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float required by
the GEM Listing Rules during the Year and as at the date of this
annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated financial results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 163 to 164 of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCES

The Group is committed to reducing its impacts on the
environment and enhancing the quality and safety of its working
environment. The Group aims to reduce emissions and use
of resources in its operation through various environmental
protection measures, including using electrical appliances with
energy efficient labels, encouraging its employees to minimise
use of resources such as electricity and water, and promoting the
use of electronic communication and recycled papers among its
employees.

The Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for
the Year is published at the same time as the publication of
this annual report and is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and of the Company accordingly.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and that the risk of non-compliance
with relevant requirements could lead to adverse impact on the
business operation and financial position of the Group. The Board
as a whole is responsible to ensure the Group is in compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group
has complied with relevant laws and regulations during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against
its Directors arising out of corporate activities. During the Year
and up to the date of this annual report, a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 9 of the Companies (Directors’
Report) Regulation (Cap. 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was
and is currently in force for the benefit of the Directors and the
directors of the Group’s subsidiaries.

AUDITOR

RSM Hong Kong, the auditor of the Company, shall retire in the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment pursuant to article
176(a) of the articles of association of the Company. A resolution
will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company to re-appoint RSM Hong Kong as the auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tin Yat Yu Carol
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

FINSOFT FINANCIAL INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Finsoft
Financial Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 71 to 162 which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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B EREMER S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgement,

in our professional
were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These IHE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

FREZER

FREBEZFEANESZIEXRHEMS HESSE
BABZREMBERERRAEENFE-ZESR
TESEREEGEMBRRAHASREE
TR BEETEHZSFREHEBNER
EEFTHER 2 RREIZEER!

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

Key Audit Matter
FAREZER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERPHRAREREEZEEASN

Impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables from money lending business

BEERZRRERRF S ZHENE

Refer to note 5(a)(i), 5(b)(i), 6(c) and 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BLRRE SRR EES5(2) () 5(b)(i)~6(c) K25
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had loan and interest
receivables from customers from money lending business
at gross amounting to approximately HK$69,501,000
and HK$2,316,000 respectively. Provision for impairment
loss on loan and interest receivables were approximately
HK$33,824,000 and HK$1,176,000 respectively as at 31
December 2024.
RZEZME+Z/A=+—H> SBEEEEEBIERE
B R A B 4238 B4 569,501,00078 752,316,000
TR ZEIMFE+ZA=+—8 BIRERKMNEREE
BEE D B4 433,824,000/ 7T K% 1,176,000/ T

Management assessed the provision for impairment on
loan and interest receivables and consideration receivable
based on the estimation of expected credit losses (“ECL”)
under a “three-stage” model. In developing the loss
allowance for loan and interest receivables, management
uses judgement in making the assumptions about the
probability of default and loss given default with reference
to the historical delinquency ratio of loan portfolio, credit
rating of customers and current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors.
EEEREBEZREIEATHEAEESB ((BHREERS
181) 5T WM s A FE U B TR A B LUK FE W AC(E R B 5
FERETERBEREFEHFERER EEEL2ETER
HezBEHEAER TR EETRAERRRKERR
ZIRARBBENERD M ERENBI R R ENBERRRE
ERFER e
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Our procedures included:

BEEZiEFEE:

- Understanding and evaluating control over
impairment assessment on loan and interest
receivables, which included the management’s
identification of events that triggered the significant
increase in credit risk of loan and interest receivables
and events of default;

- TERESHMEHEBWER RN BRETE 2T HeE
EEEBHNEERKNERKRANEEERBREEILN,
EHRENSHNER;

—  Assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes, susceptibility to
management’s basis of fraud;

- BeETEAHTEEMNEEREMESRREZRK
T ERE-FEY - BT EEBHERRER
) HMEEBNEAIERMRMER;

- Evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment
of impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables to access the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;

- FHMEREWRER R B 2R Eh 8RBT AE R LT
HEEEGTIBIENE L,

- Carrying out procedures, on a sample basis, to test
the existence and accuracy of the aging of loan and
interest receivables as at the reporting date;

- HERITRER LURER RS H BRI E R S ERES
ZEEIE R R EEREN;

- Engaging our valuation specialist to review the
valuation methodology and approach adopted by
management in ECL assessment;

- ZHEELEERTBREEENBHREEBENGF
FrRAZEES ARk



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
FAREBIZEIR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WAL HET RS

FREZEHE ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERTHARBEREEZEEAN

Impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables from money lending business (Continued)

HEEBZRRER KRB ZRETE (&)

We identified the recoverability of loan and interest
receivables from money lending business as a key audit
matter because determining the provision for impairment
on these receivables involves significant management’s
estimation and judgement.
EERBEEB 2 RWNERRFE 2 o] Uk B4 53# 5l 2 B 58
BREE AaREHEREFEREREIREEEZE
KAt ET Re A o

Our procedures included: (Continued)

BEEZREFEE: (B

- Evaluating the appropriateness of the key
assumptions, such as collateral values, historical
delinquency ratio, credit rating of customers used in
assessing the ECL based on market economic data;

- BRENSKEHBEGERNTEEREESEFER
HREEM IR REE - BEFEALER TR EE
FAR

- Re-performing management’s calculation of loss
allowance under ECL model; and

- EFNYTEEENRIACEBEBEEREX THBRH
Bk

—  Considering the adequacy of impairment of loan and
interest receivables with reference to the payment
performance and financial condition of customers
and collaterals held by the Group, if any and other
relevant factors.

- ZETREWERKFNEREREEH EFSEERZE
REREYBRRE BEEFEZEAER WA U
R HAERAE Z=
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
FAEEZEE

FREZEHE (8)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERPHARBEREEZEEREAK

Impairment assessment of consideration receivable
arising from the acquisition of Metrotec Limited

IBEMetrotec Limited Z FEURIBRYRE (A

Refer to note 5(a)(i), 5(b)(i), 6(c) and 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BRI RMIBIRR M 5E5(a)() 5(b)(i)~6(c) K260
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a consideration
receivable with gross amount of approximately
HK$5,455,000 in relation to the adjustments to the
consideration for the unmet profit guarantee from the
acquisition of Metrotec Limited. Provision for impairment
loss on consideration receivable was approximately
HK$1,912,000 as at 31 December 2024.
N_ZE_MF+_A=+—H> EEEMBEWRE
Metrotec Limited®BVRIEZEMRFIERZ R EMEKRRELREE
495,455,000 - N _E_WFE+_A=+—8> Eéuﬁzﬁﬁ";
ZREREREER 21,912,000 T

Management assessed the provision for impairment
on consideration receivable based on the estimation of
ECL under a “three-stage” model. In developing the loss
allowance for consideration receivable, management
uses judgement in assessing whether the credit risk of
the consideration receivable has significantly increased,
and determining the probability of default and loss
given default with reference to the creditworthiness
of the counterparty, and current and forward-looking
macroeconomic factors.

BEBRE =R EXTOREBAE R M
FEW A BRE R H ﬁé#mﬁ@&ﬁﬁéﬁ?&%’f%ﬂ#’ SR B
BERFHZEERERAR z«<,gl%2£ﬁﬁ)§zauﬁfél¢ﬁ
B G R E Z EE RS S KIS E NN & E T A
KRENRBBXREZERFIE-
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Our procedures included:

BEEZiEFEE:

- Understanding and evaluating the key control over
impairment assessment of consideration receivable;

- TERSHMEHERAERESE 2 RRE

—  Assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes, susceptibility to
management’s basis of fraud;

- %@%%Tﬁ?ﬁ\ﬁﬁff\%ﬁ%?&ﬁ%ﬁ)ﬁtﬁﬁ%%
T ERE-FEE B R ZZTEEBHERRTR
&) L E BN E AR R

—  Discussing with management to understand the
management’s identification of significant increase
in credit risk, defaults and credit-impaired loans,
corroborating management’s explanation with
supporting evidence;

- HEEEsm UTHEEBHEERBAEEME
NREEREERNAEEE SR W FIEEERE
PREIRE MR

- Evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment of
impairment assessment of consideration receivable
to access the effectiveness of management’s
estimation process;

- FHMEREWRAE D RETER AT TGS R T B IR
[ {hsTEEN AL ;

- Engaging our valuation specialist to review the
valuation methodology and approach adopted by
management in ECL assessment;

- ZHESHESREREEENREREE
PRz MBS ARG

= 1RGP



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
FAREIZEIR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B EREM R

FREZEHE ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERTHARBEREEZEEASN

Impairment assessment of consideration receivable
arising from the acquisition of Metrotec Limited

Our procedures included: (Continued)

BEEZREFEE: (B

(Continued)
Y #EMetrotec Limited Z FEW BRI RIE TS (48) -

We identified the recoverability of consideration receivable

as a key audit matter because determining the provision -
for impairment on this receivable involves significant
management’s estimation and judgement.
EERRIAEZIREIMHNAEREZSIE HARE -
IERE IR B R e B IR g 2 At 5t KB

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Evaluating the appropriateness of the key data and
assumptions, including probability of default, loss
given default, risk exposure used in the ECL model,
ML TRAEEEERAMMA I 2B RERZEET
BIEEOBER BB REREARMKO;

Re-performing management’s calculation of loss
allowance under ECL model; and

BT EEENEREEEEEA THBERE 2
Bk

Considering the adequacy of impairment of
consideration receivable with reference to the
payment performance and financial condition of the
counterparty and other relevant factors.
ZRERAEREETEN EF2EHFHZERR
R AR LU E BRI R R o

Hth&E#

EFEERREMEN AMENSEAFEHRAH
ZFBAER N ERREMBRERE S
T2 BMER & o

ESEMRAMBTREAZERLIMREAMER
EETIRIEEREAT R 2 ZEBER-

REFHEAMBTREZBERME EFZ2EER
REEMER TREPEEEMENETHES
MBRRNEFABZBRETETNERFEEXR
T AEEERERRE - -HEEFENETEMB
TR EHMENLIREARERRA EFEARE
I—FF - EFEAMILREER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WAL HET RS

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WAL HET RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Wo Cheung.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
29th Floor

Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

24 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
rEEmMEMEEINAR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 024 HEZE_NE+ZB=+—HILEE

2024 2023
—E_NEF —EBT=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i3 FET FEx
Revenue 1 8 49,055 52,326
Cost of sales THE A (22,046) (21,180)
Gross profit EF 27,009 31,146
Other income HAUA 9 2,146 303
Other gains and losses HtWmmes 10 (4,803) 117
Reversal of provision/(provision) for FEWE R A S BV BUE RS 18
impairment loss on loan and interest BB R CRERBEEE)
receivables n 2,901 (7,057)
(Provision)/reversal of provision for FEUR B CRUBAIRRE)
impairment loss on consideration REREEERED
receivable (1,664) 119
Administrative expenses THREX (36,726) (51,787)
Loss from operations SR (11,137) (27,159)
Finance costs B FS LA 12 (296) (295)
Share of losses of associates BB E A B AR = (276)
Share of loss of a joint venture e — F'aﬁﬁﬁ@?féﬁi% (13) (10)
Loss before tax BRIR A A58 (11,446) (27,740)
Income tax expense T8> 13 (892) (606)
Loss for the year FEREIE 14 (12,338) (28,346)
Other comprehensive income after tax: FRIREEHMBEUWA:
Item that will not be reclassified to AT BB IEE IR m HIEE -
profit or loss:
Fair value changes on equity instruments I AFEESAEMEE
at fair value through other WA (M2 AFEER A
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) Hh2mugAl) Z KK
TEMNAFEEES = (99)
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKA ORRE
for the year, net of tax - (99)
Total comprehensive income FRA2ERAELE
for the year (12,338) (28,445)
Loss for the year attributable to: FEIEEPRSIA:
Owners of the Company KABEB A (12,338) (28,193)
Non-controlling interests R 2 = (153)
(12,338) (28,346)
Total comprehensive income ElEEREERALELE:
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRB)HEB N (12,338) (28,292)
Non-controlling interests JEFERG = (153)
(12,338) (28,445)
Loss per share SRS 18
Basic (HK cents per share) B (GREW (2.53) (16.58)
Diluted (HK cents per share) 58 (FRE) (2.53) (16.58)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMBRIR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 R —_Z &+ _HB=+—H

2024 2023
—ETImE “EBI=HF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hiat FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN Y K] 19 1,099 1,601
Investment properties KREYE 20 2,200 2,600
Right-of-use assets fEREEE 21 4,615 5,325
Intangible assets mEEE 22 230 230
Investment in a joint venture R—EEaEABZERE 70 83
Investments in associates REE R ZIRE - B
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEES AREMEEmEA
ZEMEE 265 265
Loan and interest receivables R E RN R F B 25 2,892 -
Consideration receivable FEWARE 26 - 4,759
Deferred tax assets ELRIBEE 32 113 135
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 11,484 14,998
Current assets MBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E A =B 24 9,103 8,257
Contract assets BHEE - 144
Loan and interest receivables EWRE R R F B 25 33,925 25,509
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEES ARG (MRAF
profit or loss (“FVTPL") BEFABG) ZEMEE 27 9,005 9,789
Current tax assets BIEARIEE & - 440
Consideration receivable V’%Hﬂlﬁf’i 26 3,543 246
Time deposit at bank with original IR BB=EAN
maturity over three months fEﬁEHHTw\ 1,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents BEMIREEEY 28 10,857 9,214
Total current assets MENEEHEE 67,433 53,599
Current liabilities B E=R i
Contract liabilities BH8E 29 9,405 9,531
Accruals and other payables fEstE R R EMENTRIE 30 12,854 16,303
Current tax liabilities BRI IEa (& 299 -
Lease liabilities HEaRE 31 3,973 3,056
Total current liabilities mEnaEEEE 26,531 28,890
Net current assets REBEEFE 40,902 24,709
Total assets less current liabilities BEMAERTESEE 52,386 39,707
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 R —_Z _UEFE+_HB=+—H

2024 2023
—TmE —BOC=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hiat FET FET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 31 605 2,099
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEEE 32 72 72
Total non-current liabilities ERBEELEEE 677 2,171
NET ASSETS BERE 51,709 37,536
Capital and reserves B s B fE
Equity attributable to owners KABHER AEEER
of the Company
Share capital iEZIN 33 25,212 6,303
Reserves EE 35 26,497 31,233
TOTAL EQUITY R AEEE 51,709 37,536

Approved by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on 24 March

2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Tin Yat Yu Carol
H—%F
Director

4

RIE_RAFE=-RB_+HHEEEEg (EEg))
A WHRUTALTRASEE:

Liu Mung Ting

BEE
Director

EF

EMERMZEIERARAT » 2024FFR

73



74

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

R

%

RoEmE

B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EAFHEE A
Financial
assets at Non-
Share Share Merger FVTOCI Accumulated controlling Total
Capital Premium Reserve reserve losses  Subtotal interests Equity
BATER
SARMZE
WAZ &R
R i EE A BEZfE RithH it JEEERREE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TEr TEx TEn TER TEr THET TEr
Note 35b)fj)  Note 35b)fij)  Note 35(b)fiii)
Hist s5))  HaE Sop)i)  BaE S5(b)in)
At 1 January 2023 R_E_=F-F—H 6,303 229,281 78 (37,953) (131,881) 65,828 (2,325) 63,503
Total comprehensive income ER2EMALE
for the year - - - (99) (28,193) (28,292 (153) (28,445)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36(a) HEMBAE (#iz#36/) - - - - - - 2,478 2,478
Changes in equity for the year FREEES - - - (99) (28,193)  (28,292) 2,325 (25,967)
At 31 December 2023 and RIBEZ=F+ZA=1+—-Ak
1 January 2024 “EE-B—H 6,303 229,281 78 (38,052) (160,074) 37,536 - 37,536
Total comprehensive income FRZEKALE
for the year - - - - (12,338)  (12,338) - (12,33)
Issuance of shares by rights BBMRRTRG (1£33)
issue (note 33) 18,909 7,602 - - - 26,511 - 26,511
Changes in equity for the year ~ FREZEE) 18,909 7,602 - - (12,338) 14,173 - 14,173
At 31 December 2024 RIEZME+ZA=1+—H 25,212 236,883 78 (38,052) (172,412) 51,709 - 51,709
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
A REBMER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

2024 2023
TEIomE | CEF=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEx
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETEFRNRERE
Loss before tax FRIR ARS8 (11,446) (27,740)
Adjustments for: YR IEEEE
Interest income B A (701) (267)
Finance costs PSR AN 296 295
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M2 sk i Es 1,481 1,417
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETE 4,401 6,785
Provision/(reversal of provision) for impairment loss ~ FEWRAERIER1E
on consideration receivable B (BsrsmE) 1,664 (119)
Net fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at AT EEFAERZ
FVTPL EMEBEEZ ATEE
518, (W) JF58 4,409 (1,965)
Reversal of provision for impairment loss B S EWGEIER R B 1E
on trade receivables B B0 (1) (47)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYZE -BEKRKHER - 66
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBABEE - 1,829
(Reversal of provision)/provision for impairment loss ~ FEWE T BRI EEE
on loan and interest receivables (BEERE) B (2,901) 7,057
Gain on lease termination #KIFFEE 2 Wam - )
Fair value loss on investment properties KREMEZ N EERE 400 -
Trade receivables written off B 5 eI TR IB i 20 -
Dividend income BEWA (7) -
Customer deposits written off B R TFEAEE (1,042) -
Share of losses of associates FEGBHE A BB - 276
Share of loss of a joint venture EhE—REaE A AEEE 13 10
Operating loss before working capital changes SEETEHFIKERE (3,414) (12,405)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 KREMENRIE
(gm) /b (865) 326
(Increase)/decrease in loan and interest receivables ~ FEWERF S (EH0),#/ (8,407) 6,711
Increase in financial assets at FVTPL BNFEEFAERY
SRS AN (3,625) (2,521)
Decrease in contract assets BHNEERD 144 457
Decrease in contract liabilities aHasERD (126) (421)
Decrease in other payables and accruals HihE B ESt &R R (2,407) (3,842)
Cash used in operations KEPTRAMNIRE (18,700) (11,695)
Interest on lease liabilities HEsBEZHNE (296) (295)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BB ENER (131) (236)
Net cash used in operating activities K EBFTANIRESFEE (19,127) (12,226)

EM SRS EIERERAT o 2024FFR 75



76

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\l-F iﬁ%/}ll%%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

2024 2023
TEIomE | CEF=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEx
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEEBRSNIRERE
Interest received BFE 200 14
Dividend income received B U B A 7 -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE -BERKRE (979) (650)
Decrease in consideration receivable EWA R 299 2,344
Addition to intangible assets hEERTEE - (230)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBARE - (5)
Increase in time deposit at bank with FEEIHAEHBB=EAN
original maturity over three month RITEHRFERIE N (1,000) -
Proceed of disposal of property, plant and HEME - BEKRREZ
equipment R/ = 150
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing REFSE FrR) FriEm
activities IREFRE (1,473) 1,623
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ﬁﬂﬁ;ﬁ@]ﬁﬁ SHIRERE
Principal elements of lease payments BENRNEAEED (4,268) (7,128)
Proceeds from issue of shares by rights issue BHREITIRMDIPTENIE 26,511 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing BMEFFE (FTE) B
activities IREFRE 22,243 (7,128)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND RERREEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS o, Ghd) $%8 1,643 (17,731)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FVRERAETEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 9,214 26,945
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRREKRIAEEEY
OF THE YEAR 10,857 9,214
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RE&RIREZEMZ DR
Cash and cash equivalents RERIAEEEY 10,857 9,214
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR R MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Unit 708, 7th
Floor, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
23 to the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). HKFRS Accounting
Standards comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange and with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected
in these consolidated financial statements.

1.

—ARE#

EMEMEEERARAS (TXARF) R
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7 Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

3. EMIETREBETERMBRS
R g5t 2R

(a) ERAMIIREEITEEMBRS
ZAESHER
FEBCERERHEBSAMAE
BELTR _E2_NF—-—B—H&HZzE
Mz FERBRFIENZTIE S
PHRSENGHERZEET L

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards
The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards and interpretation issued
by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1

January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated DREGEEMHERE:
financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1

Classification of Liabilities HEGTER BEDFEARENH
as Current or B9 (IBFTAK) JEREN
Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities ARG £ M5 SRR IE TR ED
with Covenants EEACHIEN) as
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale EEUHERES EgMLHrNEE
and Leaseback ZERI S5 1655 =K
(CREy)
Hong Kong Interpretation  Presentation of SEREESR BB ERNEY] —
5 (“HK Int 5”) (Revised) Financial Statements — (Tr&E2E BRAHTHR
Classification by the E5%%1) EREETRR
Borrower of a Term (CREy ERERMN L8
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on
Demand Clause
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance EBgst £ HEmRE L
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements BIRRER
IR 2R
F7I (BFTAK)

LB ST A T 5k R A ¥ 8 T B R AR
BN HEEMNERNERTLE FARTFT
EHAABSRRABENERT E-

The amendments and interpretation listed above
did not have any material impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

(b) Revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in

issue but not yet effective

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretation, which are not effective for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. The Group has
not early applied the following which may be relevant

3. M REETERMBRS

ZAESTER (B)

(b) EEMEEKRERNKEITEE
MR EENGER
BEEZSHRAMBERRTIZHEE 8
M ABEEMLIERTER MUK
ZAREFENET A 2EER KET
AREBE_ZE_NFE+_"_F=+—H
IEFEEERER BAREZSETHRE
iR oA EE I FEIZFER T30 5E
HAEBBBANEL REE:

to the Group:

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
KU THEBHKZE
Bt ARRERRE X

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 -
Lack of Exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 -
Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

Amendments to HK Int 5 — Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 -
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

EBEHER B2 EREBUERS
RS 15E (IBF]AR) — R = o R

EBUBREEFIOF BB
REERETIR (BETA) —em T A
By EE T 2

EEUBREENGHERNFE
DE— 5111

EBBREEDF 185 - FHBHRE
N2V E

EEREEST (BT —MBHREN
2 —ERANHEEREREE
B EEE R D48

EBMHREENF10XREBGS
Q285 (EFT4) —REEHRH
BEADNAEREZENEE
HESHTE

1 January 2025

—E_RF—A—H
1 January 2026
2T RF—HA—H
1 January 2026
“ZETRFE—A—H
1 January 2027
—E2t+F—HA—H
1 January 2027
2t —HA—H

To be determined by
the HKICPA
HEEGEHMAGHRE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are
in the process of making an assessment of what the
impacts of these new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretation are expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

FRABEE(TEF)) EETHZFM
STEEAEA MR BREST TR E
RERMBNEE S B/ AR
EEAARAZEMTENREFT A
TRAEHRGEMBRERELEEAT
%o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

M HRRMIEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

(b) Revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in

issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements”

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of
financial statements”, introducing new requirements
that will help to achieve comparability of the financial
performance of similar entities and provide more
relevant information and transparency to users. Even
though HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or
measurement of items in the consolidated financial
statements, HKFRS 18 introduces significant changes
to the presentation of financial statements, with a focus
on information about financial performance present in
the statement of profit or loss, which will affect how the
Group present and disclose financial performance in
the financial statements. The key changes introduced in
HKFRS 18 relate to (i) the structure of the statement of
profit or loss, (i) required disclosures for management-
defined performance measures (which are referred
to alternative or non-GAAP performance measures),
and (iiij enhanced requirements for aggregation and
disaggregation of information.

The Directors are currently assessing the impact
of applying HKFRS 18 on the presentation and the
disclosures of the consolidated financial statements.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g.
investment properties and certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair value).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note
5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

4. EXGHREHR

ZERAMBRRDDBELERAERER
EUTEHABRRABARBE BN EYE
REFHEATEEFEZEZMIR)ARS -

REMBEREATEREBYHREERE
STEARRCERNARAE T IR G4
TEREEENEAAER S BRERE
RELFE Y B ENFE NS EEMEE
ZHRB AHEEMBREMSBERRR
Fefti st Z SEB8 - TH ISP 5T 6 1R ER

RERHESFGREMBERREERZERT
SR INW T -BRIFS AR DRIZEF
HREEMERNAEERER

(a) :REIRE
HEMBRERCEBELALDRENER
BEE+-A=+—HLEZHHER*x
MBAREAEEHERERZERNEZ
Bl -BEXEEESNEESHEBEM
Bz F¥oLHm BAENZEBHEERE
ZHNEEZFORE A REEATE
FIZER -B4AERZRAENETH
EREEEERES BERXEER
O ER) R ATERNZERYE
BT

SRR AEEEEBHEER
SERUREMALRER ZETR
ER-EEFBARBRITEZENZ
BRT ARERBEERE R

MEASEENEEREAERZH
R ARMBABDEZERERILY
HEFELHFES AR

AHEWB AR MERKEZEREZ
BES () HEABZAFEEMNER
RERZMNBE AR ZREZRATEE
R (i) xRBEEZNERTEEZ
BEMERR RS ERERERZWNE
REZRERREEMEB Z 8-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ke M B IRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that
is classified as held for sale). Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investments. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKS$”), which
is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
The transaction date is the date on which the
entity initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items that are
measured at fair value in foreign currencies are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign
operations (none of which has the currency
of hyperinflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the
Company'’s presentation currency as follows:

—  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign currency
translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4. EXEFHBRER (18)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (d) ME-BBERZHE

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below). Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Qver the lease terms
20% to 50%
20% to 50%

Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment and

software
Motor vehicles 20%
Other equipment 10%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and equipment pending
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets
are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

M HRRMIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Investment properties

(f)

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future use and
property that is being constructed or developed for
future use as investment property.

Investment property are stated at fair value, unless they
are still in the course of construction or development
at the end of the reporting period and their fair value
cannot be reliably measured at that time.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is withdrawn from
use. Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment
property is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the property,
and is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is accounted for as described in
note 4(p).

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4. EXGHEREHN (8)

(f) Leases (Continued) (f) A& (@)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to be
made under reasonably certain extension options are
also included in the measurement of the lease liability.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received,

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases
held by the Company and iAsia Online Systems
Limited, which do not have recent third-party
financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the group entities use that rate as a starting
point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(f)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon
exercising purchase options, the carrying amount
of the relevant right-of-use asset is transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

U]

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified
as an operating lease.

Club membership

Club membership with indefinite useful life is stated
at cost less any impairment losses. Impairment is
reviewed annually or when there is any indication that
the club membership has suffered an impairment loss.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position when
the Group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

4. EXGHEREHN (8)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

HE (&)

FEEFERBLHBA

fi 2S£ EIEAE AR A AU T B R 1A 5
EERHEEEAMEAENEER
B-HEEREMEEREREMEIE
RE D R Ol EB EABARD
BErmERE- W ABR U LER A
HENERKEEEE

BFRERE
BAERAUCEAFHNERGELMN
FRERREBIRR-GEMEEEE
HEAPFRETHIRBEBEFET
ERET

aHERE
EEREAEEFERAERMYEA S
RE AR aNa R - HAERER
SRR EAT A BRI W EREB R
F-rEEIENERE-ERFERT
G HESDAE R 2 FE R IE

HRREREIIZBEAN RERS
MNPEERGHNFER-HZMHEHOM
SO AN ZENEERENER
TEHRFR

ERKRAIEEEEMIT AR

EREEEENATESHNKEXXHE
WER TMEERETBREENRGEHM
FE R 0 AR FERD o

TREERTHREENBRATEE
STE-WBHETEREERTRER
(BrFTEEFABRGENEREER
TREERN BRGNS AT
RAGEESFMAZRNGEE/HNE
ENTMEENAFTEEMER) -
WHEZATEES AN EREE
R EEEE RGNS AR

PR m ARl

EMERMZEIERARAT » 2024FFR

89



90
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M HRRMIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)

1)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

1)

(k)

U]

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’'s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other
income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade receivables with the objective of collecting the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ke M B IRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(n)

(o)

(p)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRS Accounting Standards. The accounting policies
adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Revenue from provision of software maintenance,
hosting and related services and outsourcing services
is recognised over the contracted period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group as the group performs. Advances are normally
required before rendering the services.

Software licensing service income from leasing the
software products to its customers is recognised as
a performance obligation satisfied over time when
the related services are rendered. The nature of the
Group’s performance obligation in granting a license
is considered to be a right to access the Group’s
intellectual property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4. EXGHEREHN (8)

(p) WEmREMBA ()

(p) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Payment for services is not due from the customer
until the services are complete and therefore a contract
asset is recognised over the period in which the
services are performed representing the entity’s right to
consideration for the services performed to date.

Revenue from sales of merchandise, after deduction of
any discounts, is recognised at a point in time when
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customer, the customer
has accepted the products, the collection of the related
consideration is probable and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products. A receivable is recognised by the
Group when goods are delivered to the customers
as this represents the point in time at which the right
to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

Revenue from sales of technology software systems,
and provision of system customisation and network
support services, after deduction of any discounts,
is recognised at a point in time on completion of
the customisation and network support work which
generally coincides with the time when the customised
software and network support work is accepted by
the customer. A receivable is recognised by the Group
when the technology software systems being delivered
and/or customisation and network support work are
completed at customers’ location as this represents
the point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is
required before payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use
of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income in the accounting period
in which they are earned.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by
the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of the dates when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits, and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs and involves
the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4. EXGHEREHN (8)

(s) MIE

(s) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in
profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit and at the time of transaction does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(s) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model of the Group whose
business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties
are measured based on the expected manner as to
how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

(u)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite life or
that are not yet available for use are reviewed for
impairment annually and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not
be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets. If this
is the case, recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual
asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is
being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated pro rata amongst the assets of the cash-
generating unit. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL
on trade and other receivables, loan and interest
receivables, consideration receivable and bank and
cash balances. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4. EXGHEREHN (8)

(v) ERMEERE ()

(u) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects
of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports,
financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant
think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well
as consideration of various external sources of actual
and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4. EXGHEREHN (8)

(v) TRMEERE (E)

(u) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; and

- an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of “investment grade” in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating
is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there is no past due
amounts.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

4. M

M HRRMIEE

ATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(u) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4. EXGHEREHN (8)

(v) TRMEERE (E)

(u) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

—  the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

—  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As
for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at
the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a
lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining
the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with
HKFRS 16.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(u) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle
the obligation. The discount rate used to determine
the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the Directors are required to make
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and
to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies,
the Directors have made the following judgements
that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements
(apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt
with below).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

()

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4(u), ECL are measured as
an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage
1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage
3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk.
In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information.

Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the Directors have reviewed
the Group’s investment property portfolios and
concluded that the Group’s investment properties
are not held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale.
Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred
tax for investment properties, the Directors
have adopted the presumption that investment
properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered through sale. Accordingly, no
deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair
value change in such investment property as
the Group is not subject to any income taxes on
disposal of investment property in Hong Kong
because no capital gain tax arising from property
sales in Hong Kong.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

(i)

Impairment of loan and interest
receivables and consideration receivable

While in estimating ECL on loan and interest
receivables and consideration receivable, the
Group assesses credit quality on the vendor of
Metrotec Limited and each debtor from money
lending business based on the borrower’s
background information, financial position, past
settlement experience and other relevant factors
to determine the stage of credit quality, probability
of default and the loss given default assigned
on each debtor together with forward-looking
information which are reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The vendor of Metrotec Limited and debtors from
money lending business are derived from Hong
Kong. The provision of ECL on these debtors is
sensitive to changes in estimates as the outcome
would be vary depending on the selection of
input applied. Financial uncertainty triggered by
interest rate hike and geo-political situation as
well as volatility in financial market, the Group has
increased the expected loss rates in the current
year as there is higher risk that a prolonged
volatility on financial markets could lead to
increased credit default rates. The information
about the ECL of the Group’s loan and interest
receivables and consideration receivable are
disclosed in note 6(c), note 25 and note 26.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
amounts of loan and interest receivables
are HK$35,677,000, net of allowance of
HK$33,824,000 (2023: HK$24,479,000,
net of allowance of HK$62,392,000) and
HK$1,140,000, net of allowance of HK$1,176,000
(2023: HK$1,030,000, net of allowance of
HK$3,255,000) respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount
of consideration receivable is HK$3,543,000,
net of allowance of HK$1,912,000 (2023:
HK$5,005,000, net of allowance of HK$248,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ke M B IRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

5. ERFEREEME ()

(b) fast FEARRE RN EERIR ()

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(i) Impairment of property, plant and (i) YE -BERZHEUREFES

equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amounts including cash flow projections and
an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset (including right-of-use assets),
the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belong. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in
the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the impairment test.

The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31
December 2024 were HK$1,099,000 (2023:
HK$1,601,000) and HK$4,615,000 (2023:
HK$5,325,000) respectively.

(iii) Income taxes

Significant estimates are required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the year in which such
determination is made. During the year, income
tax of HK$892,000 (2023: HK$606,000) was
charged to profit or loss based on the estimated
result from operations.

The carrying amount of current tax liabilities as
at 31 December 2024 was HK$299,000 (2023:
current tax assets of HK$440,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

5. BRI R EEME ()

(b) fast FEARRE R EERIR (1B)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(iv) Fair value of investment properties

(iv) REYZELILFEE

The Group appointed an independent professional
valuer to assess the fair value of the investment
properties. In determining the fair value, the valuer
has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The Directors have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the method
of valuation and inputs used are reflective of the
current market conditions.

Whilst the Group considers valuations of the
Group’s investment properties are the best
estimates, the greater market uncertainty
depending on volatility in financial or property
markets may progress and evolve, have led
to higher degree of uncertainties in respect
of the valuations in the current year. Changes
to these assumptions, including the potential
risk of any market violation, policy, or other
unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment, interest rate policy,
market expectation from lenders, or mortgage
requirements, or other unexpected incidents,
would result in changes in the fair values of
the Group’s investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain
or loss reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of investment properties as
at 31 December 2024 was HK$2,200,000 (2023:
HK$2,600,000).
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e REERATEBER GEMX
By RETHSANBESLEE
SFEEHEAE TAEEZEER
AR PR AR R B E ATAY
mite

BEAEERREEEREDY X
ZEEAREGS ESRIE
WMET BRI AIETEREKX
TS EEN BERAFES
BAEEsSETHEMLE -ZFRR
(BERBEQEREFIEBHE
EMANTHAA BB ERH
HMZREFEHERNEMNTISE
R OHMANEMEREETHNER
RE)NEHEIRNAERRE
MENRTFEEHREEEGER
R LA 2 T U AR P AR S R S
BRETRFHERBER

RNZE2E_OmE+="B=+—H>
KREYEKRBES 2,200,000 8

TT(ZEZ=4: 2,600,000 #7T)0

EMERMZEIERARAT » 2024FFR

107



108

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in HK$. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

(b) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment in equity securities. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different risk and
return profiles. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities quoted on the Stock
Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower (2023: 10%
higher/lower):

- loss after tax for the year ended 31 December
2024 would decrease/increase by HK$901,000
(2023: decrease/increase by HK$979,000). This is
mainly due to the changes in fair value of financial
assets at FVTPL; and

- other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2024 would increase/decrease
by HK$27,000 (2023: increase/decrease by
HK$27,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of financial assets at FVTOCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

6. MBREKRER (&)

(c) Credit risk (c) EERE

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily trade receivables, loan and interest
receivables) and from its financing activities, including
deposits with banks and financial institutions. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and
cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties
are banks and financial institutions with high credit-
rating assigned by international credit-rating agencies,
for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors
closely monitor the overall level of credit exposure, and
the management is responsible for the determination of
credit approvals and monitoring the implementation of
the debt collection procedure to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate loss allowance is made for
irrecoverable amounts. The default risk of the industry
and region in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lessor extend. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit
risk has been significant reduced.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=4 H
S

M HRRMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. MFEEMREIE (&)

(Continued)

(c) FEERR ()
B 5 e (8)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following tables provide information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2024:

TREHAREEE \_7:_fﬁ)§z
TETME+_A=+—HMWEE
AA&,\%E%HSZ#\XIE%E,HHEE\Eﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ

K
2024
ZETME

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARSIE R HERE(E EEiaRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
% T#ExT TFHET
Current (not past due) BNHER CGRiEHR) 0.39% 3,574 14
1 — 30 days past due EHA1ZE30H 0.79% 254 2
31 - 90 days past due FIHA31E90H 2.23% 898 20
More than 90 days past due EHEAB B0 H 6.29% 159 10
4,885 46

2023

BT =F

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
L) SE R HEEREE by
HK$’000 HK$’000
% FAET FAET
Current (not past due) BOHEA (GRigiHA) 0.40% 1,099 5
1 — 30 days past due BHA1ZE30H 0.90% 579 5
31 — 90 days past due BHA31ZE90H 3.60% 119 4
More than 90 days past due BEREEE0H 5.80% 565 33
2,362 47

FREEEXARNBES 6 FHNEREE
e st B WARIE W & FE S SR BRI Y
OB BRI R R S A B FE UL
BB TEHIF B A A RSB AR B R
M-EBEZBNERETHE

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 6 years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

6. MBREKRER (&)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EERME (&)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables
during the year is as follows:

E 5 EWE (B)

RERBEZBBRBAZBIEEFHERED
HHIWMT:

2024 2023

—TmE —BT=F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

F#ExT FET

At 1 January w—A—H 47 94
Reversal of impairment losses RERERREREEE

recognised for the year (1) (47)

At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 46 47

The loss allowance decreased because of lower ECL
rates caused by more customers arranged earlier
settlement of trade receivables.

Loan and interest receivables

Credit risk management

In respect of loan and interest receivables arising
from the money lending business, the management
manages and analyses the credit risk for each of their
new and existing customers before standard payment
terms and conditions are offered. The management
assesses the credit quality of each customer based
on the customer’s background information, financial
position, past settlement experience and other relevant
factors. The Group also reviews from time to time the
financial conditions of the customers. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk has
been significantly reduced.

The Group has implemented strict controls over
collateral associated with defaulted loans to mitigate
credit risk. This include review of legal enforceability of
the collateral to ensure recovery rights are upheld and
legal actions to be taken if the loans are considered in
default.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ke M B IRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. MBREEERE (&)

(Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EERE (&)
Loan and interest receivables (Continued) FEIREZRFE (B)
Measurement of ECL FTEFERIEEEIR
The Group measures loss allowance under HKFRS AEERBESBEMBREEDNE 9%
9 ECL model. The measure of ECL is a function of FEHEEREEAEEERE A
the probability of default, loss given default (i.e., the EEBEZFEDBAME VENBIE
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the E(BMHBEENOZBERE) REN
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability ROz R -BAOMEKRENEIR
of default and loss given default is based on historical EAMBERELSE - BHRRE
data, collateral values, credit rating of customers and BB WEE R TR &R E
adjusted by forward-looking information. HEAEEo
Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference —ms FEREEHENREBESEHNRE
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the NAREB BN R REEAE
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash EEBWERZMEREREZENE
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted BEE LIRYIRRREETE 2SR
at the effective interest rate determined at initial B
recognition.
Interest income is calculated based on the gross FMEWMADREBEEREEZRERE
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the AEORIEZESHEECRFEERE
financial assets is credit impaired, in which case BIELEER T MERATLIRESME
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost EZEEMAGTHE

of the financial asset.

The key inputs used for measuring ECL are: BREtEEAEEEENREE A S
BEE:

- Probability of default (PD); - EABEE (PD);

- Loss given default (LGD); and -  BHEEXE (LGD); K&

- Exposure at default (EAD) - EXNREEHO (EAD)

These figures are generally derived from internally ZEUBRBERENIBEENRTE

developed statistical models and other historical AREMEFHE EFETHEMUR

data and they are adjusted to reflect forward-looking BR A BE M E o

information.

Elements of the ECL models that are considered WRAGHHE RGN TEREES

accounting judgements and estimates include: BEANWTEREIE:

AEBEBERFF A EABRE;

—  The Group’s estimation of probabilities of default
to individual customers;

- The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has - AERFHEERBEEEEEE
been a significant increase in credit risk and ibn:&z@%nﬁﬁéﬁﬁ}%fﬁﬁg}ﬁ
so allowances for financial assets should be FEREEREEESERETT
measured on a lifetime ECL basis and the &M EEE

qualitative assessment;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

6. MBREMRER (8

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EER (18)

Loan and interest receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

- Development of ECL models, including the
various formulas and the choice of inputs over
determination of the period over which the entity
is exposed to credit risk based on the behavioural
life of the credit exposures, loss given default and
collateral recovery of the credit exposures; and

- Determination of associations between
macroeconomic scenarios and, economic
inputs, such as delinquency ratios and collateral
values, and the effect on probabilities of default,
exposures at default and losses given default.

It is the Group’s policy to regularly review its model
in the context of actual loss experience and adjust
when necessary. The assumptions underlying the ECL
calculation are monitored and reviewed on a half-
year basis. There have been no significant changes in
estimation techniques or significant assumptions made
during the reporting period.

The Group categorises the credit quality of its loan
and interest receivables according to 3 different stages
under the ECL model:

Stage 1: financial assets without significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition where
loss allowance is calculated based on
12-month ECL

Stage 2: financial assets with significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition where
loss allowance is calculated based on

lifetime ECL

Stage 3:  credit impaired assets where loss allowance

is calculated based on lifetime ECL

FERE R FIR (1)

STEERIIEERR (1)
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BB URENHEVEY
RO R ENBREERNTZE-

FEEBRARBERBEERNGE
MERBEEBR WA FERFY
AR BYFEENBRAREEBER
StEBRRR -NREHEGET AN
PRFERRR L BERES -
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BRETHE:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

6. Ej?%ﬂ =) EE (:%E)

(c) EERAR (&)

Loan and interest receivables (Continued)

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group uses forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort in its assessment
of significant increase of credit risk as well as in its
measurement of ECL.

Credit risk exposure

The Group applies the general approach to provide for
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 on its loan and interest
receivables. The Group has taken into account the
probability of default and loss given default with
reference to the historical delinquency ratio of loan,
collateral values, credit rating of customers and current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors.

The assessment of significant increase in credit risk
is performed periodically for all loans and interest
receivables held by the Group. The criteria used to
identify significant increase in credit risk are monitored
and reviewed periodically for appropriateness by the
directors and the credit committee. The Group has
not used the low credit risk exemption for any financial
instruments in the year ended 31 December 2024.

The credit quality classification of loan and interest

receivables using the Group’s ECL model is set out in

the table below:

BREZRFIS (&)
AAFIELEE R

REBERE\RBLMANE IR
ESrELENTLEERERER
EREMU KRB EEEENGE.

EERERH O

AEERA —BAURERERER K
NMNEREBMHRESEANES IORRE
FHFEREEREREFH - AEECH R
BOBXNENBREZ EHEREE
#ﬁﬁ@i@ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂtt?ﬁ\}f_&ﬁuuﬁ% ER
MWEETFRURBREHREERRN
RAEKRBIREEER

ERTEAERFRFEAMARKER KR
NENEERBETEBZEM-EFK
EFEEZEEEHMERTERANEER
Rt BEEMAARENBEE -
BE_T_ME+_A=+—HILHF
fZIK?EEIjt iR T ARALR
= £ EIR B G o

ERAEEZBREaHREREET
ZERBERKMNEZEEERNER
2D S

As at 31 December 2024
RIZEZ@E+ZA=+—8H

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
P ER1 P ER2 P& EZ3
12{E B 7858 2 HATERA 2 HATERA
EEEE EEk518 EEk518 4t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FHET
Loan receivables EWE = 16,605 19,568 33,328 69,501
Impairment allowance HE B (218) (1,899) (31,707) (33,824)
Loan receivables — net of R E 7k — &40 bx
impairment allowance RERE 16,387 17,669 1,621 35,677
Interest receivables FEUH 2 6 1,016 1,294 2,316
Impairment allowance HEEE 2 (96) (1,078) (1,176)
Interest receivables — net of  FEURHI B — £&305%
impairment allowance AERE 4 920 216 1,140
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)
Loan and interest receivables (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

6. MBREKRER (&)

(c) FEERR ()
BREFRFIS (&)
EERGEMO (&)

As at 31 December 2023
N_E=F+Z"“H=+—H

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
P ES FEES2 FEES3
1218 B ¥a4A 2HATEHR 2 HATEHA
=EE518 =EE518 =Ek518 1t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FBT FBIT
Loan receivables EWER 950 25,355 60,566 86,871
Impairment allowance THE B 2 (2,274) (60,116) (62,392)
Loan receivables — net of FEWR E =k — &40 bR
impairment allowance BEEE 948 23,081 450 24,479
Interest receivables FEUSF 2 - 1,129 3,156 4,285
Impairment allowance REEE - (99) (3,156) (3,255)
Interest receivables — net of  FEUSHI B — £&300%
impairment allowance REREE - 1,030 - 1,030
Sensitivity analysis B E T
The allowance for credit losses is sensitive to EEBEERBENTEERIH ENE
the inputs used in internally developed models, _EEPT@% By B A SR BB TR ORI R
macroeconomic variables in the forward-looking B reEs KESEHEURERSE

forecasts, economic scenario weighting and other
factors considered when applying expert judgement.
Changes in these inputs, assumptions and judgements

RAERFEBNEMARB K -ZFH

ABB RRKRAEBNEHRKEEER

impact the assessment of significant increase in credit HEEFZ-

risk and the measurement of ECL.

fREEERIN R TARE BRI ERET
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

Loan and interest receivables (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table shows the impact on ECL
allowance on loan receivables and interest receivables
as at 31 December by changing individual input:

6. MBREKRER (&)

(c) FEERR ()

BREZHRFIS (4)

HBLE T (&
TRETBBNEERNBABBHER
+ZA=+—HHNERERKERF
ENFAREEREEG T E:

Increase/(decrease) on
ECL allowance on loan and
interest receivables

FEW E R F S R TEHA
SERIEHEEM (RL)
2024 2023
—EE “BC=H
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHT
Assuming the expected default rate is R TRAIENREH EFA10%
relatively increased by 10% 240 3,927
Assuming the expected default rate is R TARBBAEEE THE10%
relatively decreased by 10% (208) (1,709)
Consideration receivable FEWICE
Credit risk management IEEREEE

In respect of consideration receivable, the management
assesses the credit quality of the counterparty based
on the counterparty’s financial position, past settlement
experience and other relevant factors. The Group also
reviews from time to time the financial conditions of the
counterparty. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group’s credit risk has been significantly reduced.

Measurement of ECL

The Group measures loss allowance under HKFRS 9
ECL model. The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss given default, and
exposure at default, which is consistent with the
measurement of ECL on loan and interest receivables
as mentioned in “loan and interest receivables” section.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group uses forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort in its assessment
of significant increase of credit risk as well as in its
measurement of ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

6. Ej?%ﬂ =) EE (:%E)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EERME (&)

Consideration receivable (Continued)

Credit risk exposure

The Group applies the general approach to provide
for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 on its consideration
receivable. The Group has taken into account the
probability of default and loss given default with
reference to the historical delinquency ratio of loan,
guarantee, credit rating of the counterparty and current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors.

When assessing whether there is significant increase
in credit risk, the Group identifies any events, such as
default in payment, and any default event across that
trigger the increase in credit risk significantly.

The credit quality classification using the Group’s ECL
model and the movement in the loss allowance for
consideration receivable during the year is as follows:

Y FC1E (48)

EE RS
AEETIRA— R % HE WA E
(EH BB RS EAE O BAEH
TS A I R B o A R R
WEERBHBRERSEER B
IR R N F S 2 EE TR
RAEWNEBGERE 2 HAE RAEYE
Hiho

FEEERRESRERME A&
HABECEERREZEMNERNS
IR (FIINEMN LR REREQE e

FRAERATERRMEEEREERENE
THEEERDBREBWEREGIRE
WEEBINT:

Stage 1 Stage 2
12-month Lifetime
ECL ECL Total
3123 PEER2
12188 24
TRHAEEiESIR FRHAEEEIE et
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2023 PR_E-_=F—HF—H 367 - 367
Reversal of impairment losses FRERIREE RS
recognised for the year (119) - (119)
At 31 December 2023 and RIE_=F+"B=1+—H
1 January 2024 EZZEZNFE—F—H 248 - 248
Transfer to stage 2 EBERIEER2
- Lifetime ECL - 2R E EEE (248) 248 -
Impairment losses recognised FRERIRERE
for the year - 1,664 1,664
At 31 December 2024 A ME+"A=+—H - 1,912 1,912

For consideration receivable that is not credit-impaired
without significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition (“Stage 1”), ECL is measured at an amount
equal to the portion of lifetime ECL that results from
default events possible within the next 12 months. If a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
is identified (“Stage 2”) but not yet deemed to be
credit-impaired, ECL is measured based on lifetime
ECL. If credit impaired is identified (“Stage 3”), ECL is
measured based on lifetime ECL.

B P B LRE SRR ARBEE LM
(TR 1)) MABLEEEREZEI
RE FREEBRREENARK 12
BEARATREELENENESHERN S

HrEREEBRESONEEFE-HA
M D LREE R g (Th

B2y @rﬁ?&%ﬁ%ﬁ%{m%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ’ﬁlﬁﬁ
HiEEFER2PEREEREHZ-
WEHNAEERE (THRE3)) RIFE
HEEEEREEREEEFEtSE-
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M HRRMIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

Concentration of credit risk

At 31 December 2024, the Group had certain
concentration of credit risk as 42.65% (2023: 13.58%)
and 81.14% (2023: 49.29%) of the total trade
receivables, net of ECL allowance was due from the
largest trade customer and five largest trade customers
respectively.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had certain
concentration of credit risk as 14.35% (2023:
20.99%) and 49.21% (2023: 59.81%) of the total
loan receivables, net of ECL allowance, was due
from the largest borrower and five largest borrowers
respectively.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

All of the Group’s other financial assets at amortised
cost are considered to have low credit risk, and the
loss allowance recognised during the period was
therefore limited to 12-month expected losses. They
are considered to be low credit risk when they have a
low of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term.

Financial assets at amortised cost include time deposit
at bank with original maturity over three months, due
from an associate, other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the participation in supplier finance arrangements
with banks and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the Directors
of the Company when the borrowing exceed certain
predetermined level of authority.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity analysis based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities is as follows:

6. MBREKRER (&)

(d)

RENE & R ()
FEMBERTRRS KB B2 I
EERMEBEANIBADHMT:

On demand Between
or less than Over 2and 5
1 year 1 year years Total
BREREE
g IE BiB1E 2F 55 st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2024 RIZ_NE+-A=+—H
Accruals and other payables FESt &R R EMES B 12,854 - = 12,854
Lease liabilities HEaRE 4,099 613 - 4,712
At 31 December 2023 RN_E_=F+"A=+—H
Accruals and other payables fEstE R EMEATUE 16,303 - - 16,303
Lease liabilities HEaR 3,247 1,834 328 5,409
Interest rate risk (e) FI=EPE

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument or the interest income of a portfolio will
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s major interest-bearing assets and liabilities
at the end of the reporting period are bank deposits,
interest-bearing loan receivables and lease liabilities
under finance lease arrangement. Interests on bank
deposits are principally based on deposits rates
offered by banks in Hong Kong. Interest-bearing loan
receivables and lease liabilities under finance lease
arrangement are charged at fixed rates.

The Group manages its interest rate exposure by
matching the interest rate profile of its assets and
liabilities. The Board is responsible for ensuring the
policy is appropriate and sufficient to monitor the
interest rate exposure of the Group, by regularly
monitoring the benchmark interest rates of products
offered against prevailing market conditions. All of the
Group’s loan receivables and lease liabilities carried
fixed interest rates. The Group prices these loan
receivables strategically to reflect market fluctuations
and achieve a reasonable interest rate spread.

Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented for
interest rate risk.

MERBEETHIANEENRES
RS W ARET S EEH MK
AR -RNEBERR AEBEES
BREERBEARRTERRBUNE R

ERAkRMEHEZHETHIEEAR.

RITERNMNEETEZENE BRI
RHMNERN X -BEREZHFETH
Wt EERMKAEESRZEEM K
st

FEEZEBREERGENMXET
RHREEANXER - EFEEETE
HERERNT R TEREHRNER
ME-BEBREE EUEERER
AENHXER - cEE2BRKRER
RAEAEREEMNRF R AEEBE
REMMBZFRRERERE LUK
THRE LERGENESE-

Fit WA KA Z2TERED
#r o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31

6. MBREKRER (&)

(f)

R+-A=+—BZ&EMIASE

December Al
2024 2023
—E-ME TET=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FBIT
Financial assets: ERMBEE:
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEESAREMEZEBRAZ
THREE 265 265
Financial assets at FVTPL BATFEEFAERZSHEE 9,005 9,789
Financial assets at amortised cost REIHR AT ENSREE 59,577 45,181
Financial liabilities: ERaE!:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEERASTENERAE 12,854 16,303
(9) Fair values (9) 2FEE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7.
(Continued)

DNFEEFE (B)

(a) R+ZRA=+—HZAFEEE

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy

at 31 December:

MR EE:

Fair value measurements using: Total
FERANTHARBZ ATEEHE: st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024
F—1R B E=H —E-OE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Description itsan F#Ex F#Ex FET FET
Recurring fair value measurements: KEMNFEETE:
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at FVTPL A EEFAERZ
SHEE
— Listed equity investments — AR E 9,005 - - 9,005
Financial assets at FVTOCI BT EEF AEM
2EWRAZEHEE
— Listed equity investment — LR EKE 265 - - 265
Non-financial assets FERMBE
Investment properties =gy
— Car parking spaces — Hong Kong —EHEA—-FB - 2,200 = 2,200
Total st 9,270 2,200 - 11,470
Fair value measurements using: Total
FBRUTHASEZ AT BENE: 485t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023
E—4k BIR FoM —T_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Description 1t FHET FHET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements: KREMNFEETE:
Financial assets ERBEE
Financial assets at FVTPL AT EESFAERZ
STREE
— Listed equity investments — EHREEE 9,789 - - 9,789
Financial assets at FVTOCI BT EEF AEM
2EWRAZEHMEE
— Listed equity investment — LR EKE 265 - - 265
Non-financial assets FERMBE
Investment properties KEY =
— Car parking spaces — Hong Kong —EHEA—FB - 2,600 - 2,600
Total “ast 10,054 2,600 - 12,654
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. XFEEZE (@)
(Continued)
(b) Disclosure of valuation process used by (b) AEBFHZHEBERR-E

the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements at
31 December 2024:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes. The financial
controller reports directly to the Board for these

—mE+=A=+—BATEME
stEPERZEERNRE AR
RZIME:

AEEHBRESEHBRRERY
AEREHATEENE HHRKE
BOEFRRELEATEENEH
BRGREES S8 ERT R

fair value measurements. Discussions of valuation BREFRERTH
processes and results are held between the financial
controller and the Board at least once a year.
Level 2 fair value measurements ZHRATFEEE
Fair value
NEEE
2024 2023
- 111 3 St
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT THET
Description Valuation technique Inputs Asset Asset
HeE it fR{ERRIS AR BE HE
Investment properties Market approach Market prices 2,200 2,600
BEME migE MIGERE
— Hong Kong Building age adjustment
—&8 1BHe R
Time adjustment
FEFE R 2L

During the two years, there were no changes in the
valuation techniques used.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

KWEFER R GERMILEG
o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

8. REVENUE

(a) Disaggregation of revenue

8.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

Wz
(a) 7 #fria

FEERIZRBEBEDNRERTR

customers by major service line for the year is as BN W@ DA T
follows:
2024 2023
“E-ME T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEx
Revenue from contracts with ERAMBREENFE155RHBER
customers within the scope of REFEEGHNZINEG
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major service lines BRI ERBEDEE
Sales of merchandise HEB S 1,430 724
Sales of technology software systems HERIMRGRLR 2,871 4,594
System customisation and ENGEESYE SR
network support 8,997 11,069
Software licensing services BFIFET RS 18,759 21,037
Software maintenance services W RERTS 9,882 9,620
Hosting and related services B] iR 88 27 17 B AB RA AR 75 3,561 3,860
Outsourcing services INELARFE 1,280 111
Others Hith - 1
46,780 51,016
Revenue from other sources Hithak iRz U s
Interest income on loan financing ERRMEZFEWA 2,275 1,310
49,055 52,326
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

(a) Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

(b)

8. REVENUE (Continued)

8. Uz (#8)

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods
and services over time and at a point in time in the

following major service lines:

(a) SiFuka ()

REFEMBDERER U T EZERBR
F-BRARRARE-FEMOER
AR s E

Financial
trading
software
solutions Others Total
ERRZ
BRI RA
BE Hith FE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT T#T THT
For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_T_[UF
+-BA=4+—HILEFE
Time of revenue recognition T a2 A 2o BRF R
Point in time H B 12,850 - 12,850
Over time FeisdE 33,930 - 33,930
46,780 - 46,780
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_Z_—F
+TZA=1+—HIEFE
Time of revenue recognition SRS 5 B
Point in time R 15,954 1 15,955
Over time I B 35,061 - 35,061
51,015 1 51,016

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121(b) of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts
for provision of software maintenance, hosting and
related services and outsourcing services, and software
licensing services such that the above information
does not include information about revenue that the
Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations. The Group recognises the
revenue at the amount to which it has a right to
invoice, which corresponds directly to the value to the
customer of the Group’s performance completed to
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

OTHER INCOME 9. HthkA
2024 2023
—EE TET=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FBIT
Interest income on bank deposits IRTTERZFBUA 200 14
Interest income on consideration receivable FEW A EBIFI B ULA 501 253
Rental income AEWA 49 34
Customers deposits written off Z R ERIEE 1,042 -
Dividend income BB WA 7
Gain on lease termination AIEFEE WS -
Sundry income HIEW A 347 -
2,146 303
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 10. Hithi = R B518
2024 2023
—E-pmuE ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FBT
Net fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets BATBESABENEMEE
at FVTPL ZAFEE (518) W FEE (4,409) 1,965
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 36(a))  HEME AT ZEE (#5236 (@) - (1,829)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEMERRE MR E BB
equipment = (66)
Fair value loss on investment properties KREYEZ N TFEERIE (400) -
Reversal of provision for impairment loss on B Z EWFIEREEERE
trade receivables #[o] 1 47
Net foreign exchange gain SNEU R H BB 25 -
Trade receivable written off B 5 W IE (20) -
(4,803) 117
B ERMEEERARART o 2024FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION 1. B EPEFR

The Group has five operating segments as follows:

(@) Financial trading software solutions — development,
sale and provision of financial trading software
solutions with the principal products being trading and
settlement systems of financial products for financial
institutions;

(b) Other IT and internet financial platforms services
— provision of e-commerce platforms, other online
consultancy services and provision of IT services and
other financial information;

(c)  Money lending — provision of loan financing;
(d) Assets investments — trading of listed securities; and
(e) Others.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The Group’s other operating segments represent the
Group’s trading of gaming products and the provision of
related marketing services business and stored valued
mastercards business upon the disposal during the year
ended 31 December 2023. None of these segments meets
any of the quantitative thresholds for determining reportable
segments. The information of these other operating
segments is included in the “Others” column.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 11. D EER (48)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the BEDEMAZEHRREEWHERE
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated M5t 4 Prik 2 & 5T ECERAEE o 9 80 & 7 3 &S
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not BREEERSERTHEAZ VRITERKE
include unallocated administrative expenses, interest income WREBZFMEKAEBEWAFAER LK
on bank deposits and consideration receivable, rental T EE—HeE A RBERBBEE U
income, gain on lease termination, share of loss of a joint ENBARURME - BEMKEBIE FE
venture and associates, loss on disposal of subsidiaries WREREESRE (BE) BEELOKRFRE
and property, plant and equipment, (provision)/reversal of MAZ -HRR—EBEaE kg s
provision for impairment loss on consideration receivable TEREYE- - BRAE BEEE-EQ
and income tax expense. Segment assets do not include FEEFAREMEAIRAZ EREE EIL
investments in a joint venture and associates, investment MEBE -NPARBEEE - REMBEEEE
properties, consideration receivable, intangible assets, MUREM AR READEEENRERTE
financial assets at FVTOCI, deferred tax assets, current ANEBE WO EETCORZZFEE-HN
tax assets, cash and cash equivalents and other corporate M RIEIEREEEREMAT XD E
and unallocated assets as these assets are managed on a BELNEZEERFABEE Ko aBGraiE
group basis. Segment liabilities do not include current and ZEaBo
deferred tax liabilities and other corporate and unallocated
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.
The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as AREBHDBENHEMBRET 2T
if the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current B U ZEHENEEEHE - ETT
market prices. (BN E R B EE) o
() Information about reportable segments (i) FRATERD B EFHEE B
profit or loss, assets and liabilities: ERGEZER:
Other IT
Financial and internet
trading financial
software platforms Money Assets
solutions services  lending investments  Others Total
EHRS HtEARE
BHER REH#
R ERTARE &8 BERE Hith 3t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TET  TER TET TER  TER
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-S-ME+-A=+—ALEE
Revenue from external customers BRIMNIRAZ G 46,780 - 2,275 - - 49,055
Segment profit/{loss) AEER/ (18) 7,167 (716) 2,812 (4,461)  (2,449) 2,353
Depreciation nE 2,380 - 1,022 - 459 3,861
Staff costs BTHA 27,689 335 - - 1,739 29,763
Reversal of provision for impairment loss & 57 EUFUE R EE & E R
on trade receivables 1 - = = o 1
Reversal of provision for impairment loss B EFRF S REHERERE
on loan and interest receivables - - 2,901 - - 2,901
Trade receivable written off BREWIEM (20) - - - - (20)
Net fair value loss on financial assets at AT EE ABHHNEE
FVTPL BENATEERETE - = = (4,409) - (4409
Additions to segment non-current assets  ABEAWBIERHEE 245 - 2,885 - - 3,130
At 31 December 2024 RZE_ME+-B=+—H
Segment assets DHEE 9,850 - 39,075 9,005 853 58,783
Segment liabilities Pa=tE (21,691) (53) (1,660) (84) (804)  (24,292)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i A
17 g ==

M TR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)

Information about reportable segments
profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

1. ZEREF (48)

(i) ERATEZRSBEAABE B
EREBEZER: ()

(Continued)
Other IT
Financial ~ and internet
trading financial
software platforms Money Assets
solutions services lending  investments Others Total
TRRS HMERRE
BHER REH#
FE ERTARS &8 BERE Hth fast
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T TET TET  TEm  TEn TER
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_Z_-F+_A-t—HIEE
Revenue from external customers BRINDER 2 Mg 51,015 - 1,310 - 1 52,326
Segment profit/(loss) PERER/ (58) 4,611 4 (16,724) 1,893 (669)  (10,885)
Depreciation & 5,124 - 282 - 463 5,869
Staff costs BIMA 30,090 71 53 - 1,753 32,607
Reversal of provision for impairment loss B 7 ERZE R EEEEERR
on trade receivables 47 - - - - 47
Provision for impairment loss on loan and  FEEZRF B ESERE
interest receivables - - (7,057) - - (7,057)
Net fair value gain on financial assets BATEEABRZNSR
at FVTPL BENATEERGZFHE - - - 1,965 - 1,965
Additions to segment non-current assets  ABAWBIERHEE 3,902 - 10 - - 3,912
At 31 December 2023 RZB_=#+"FB=1+—H
Segment assets ANHEE 11,092 5 25890 9,789 1,299 48,075
Segment liabilities NHERE (26,944) (86) (337) (29)  (1,109)  (28,505)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 11. DEPEE (48)

(ii) Reconciliations of segment revenue and (ii) DT BEFISESE Z HER .
profit or loss:
2024 2023
k-l 111 =3 -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue &
Consolidated revenue el 49,055 52,326
Profit or loss AR EsiE
Total profit/(loss) of reportable segments  BI2¥RH 2 &, (E518) 4858 2,353 (10,885)
Unallocated amounts: RAOECFIA:
Other income EHalg A 701 303
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBABEE (H12£36(a)
(note 36(a)) - (1,829)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and ~ HEYH¥ -BE &L HEIE
equipment - (66)
Fair value loss on investment REYEZ N EEEE
properties (400) -
Share of losses of associates EL A B8 = (276)
Share of loss of a joint venture Eh—EEaE A AT EE (13) (10)
(Provision)/reversal of provision for WA BB EEE
impairment loss on consideration (B8 /D
receivable (1,664) 119
Unallocated head office and KOBCAERMERE R ABHX
corporate expenses (12,423) (15,096)
Consolidated loss before tax RebRRAIEE (11,446) (27,740)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=4 H
S

M HRRMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(iii) Reconciliations of segment assets and

(iv)

(v)

1. 3 EE R (B)
(i) P HEEREBEZHIR:

liabilities:
2024 2023
—ZTgE -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AERNEEERE 58,783 48,075
Unallocated amounts: FoECFIE:
Consideration receivable FEWAE 3,543 5,005
Investment in a joint venture R—E&EABNKEE 70 83
Investment properties KEY = 2,200 2,600
Unallocated head office and ROBCABRMER R ABEE
corporate assets 14,321 12,834
Consolidated total assets HEBEMEE 78,917 68,597
Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segments Al ERDE 2 B ELEEE 24,292 28,505
Unallocated amounts: FoOECFIE:
Unallocated head office and FOBAEMER R ABEE
corporate liabilities 2,916 2,556
Consolidated total liabilities e aEiELE 27,208 31,061

Geographical information:

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with the Group’s major operations located in Hong
Kong. Substantially all of the Group’s revenue from
external customers are derived from Hong Kong. All
the non-current assets of the Group are located in
Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

Revenue from one customer of the Group’s financial
trading software solution segment represents
approximately HK$5,477,000 of the Group’s total
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024.

There was no revenue arising from transactions with
any customers which was individually more than
10% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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(iv) & & #:

(v)

KRR HEREEMMI MAER
FEEHBUNERBET AEEKRAN
BEFHERBORDREETB-EE
EFrBEIERBEEIUNRE R

EAFTEERNER
HE_Z_NE+_B=+—HL®E
E-REAEESHEZRUBRAER
DE—BELNRELNARERER
B 5,477,000 HETe

REE_ZT_=F+"B=+—H1E
FE BERBHATME-ARZER
EORGZWRMAEREWZE 10% X
Lo



12.

13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

FINANCE COSTS 12, B A
2024 2023
—EmE —BI=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FEx
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBZAE 296 295
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FRieMAx
Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as follows: FTEMEREBERPREBUWT:
2024 2023
—E-pug ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ExT FHET
Current — Hong Kong Profits Tax BPER — BB AEM
- Charge for the year —FAFHE 869 588
— (Oven/under-provision in prior years —IBFEE (BREEMH) BHETE (10) 5
859 593
Current — People’s Republic of China BNHA— A EE A RHAE (THRfEL)
(the “PRC”) Enterprise Income Tax EFR
— Charge for the year —FANER 11 -
Deferred tax (note 32) IEIERRIE (f13232) 22 13
Income tax expense T8z 892 606

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the
BVI.

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, profits tax rate
for the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity operated in Hong Kong will be taxed at 8.25% (2023:
8.25%), and profits above that amount will be subject to the
tax rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). The profits of the group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered Profits Tax regime
will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
has been provided at a rate of 25% for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: N/A). Pursuant to relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC, the effective EIT rate for a subsidiary
which qualified as small and micro enterprises is 5% for
assessable profits below RMB3 million for the year ended
31 December 2024.

REREREREABEUEE ((REBREY
BB ERNEL ~EEBEBNMRE
BHERABELEESEMAMAENR.

RIEMKEFERE RNEBLENEERE
EEEEE 2,000,000 B mEMNFERR
EREES25%(ZE_=5F:8.25%) &
BBz BENRNREE 16.5% ME (T
T~ ZHF:16.5%) o 5 il 4R F 15 1R 5
ME FTEERNERSRENENSHER
16.5% B9 EER -

RIBREGEMRERE (TEEMRERE)
REERERIZBHEN BE_ZS -1
F+-RB=+—HLEEFEE 1 25% WKRX
HEBE(ZCE =4 FBEMA) BiEd
ERBZREERIR B8E _ S _NE+—
B=Z+—BLEEE TE/NITEESEN
— BB AT WERREMNBENARE
3,000,000 7o A EREEFSNESL 5%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ke M B IRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 13. FRiSMREA (&)
The reconciliation between the income tax expenses and FTiSfR B T AR AT B IERUST BEFER
the product of loss before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong MEZBEZHIRWT:
Profits Tax rate is as follows:
2024 2023
TEINE .
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEx
Loss before tax PRI AIES 1B (11,446) (27,740)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%  #&EBFEMRNFE16.5%:1E 2
(2023: 16.5%) RIB(CZEZ=%:16.5%) (1,889) (4,577)
Lower tax rate for specific local requirement 43 E A #1138 E FIEEIR R (165) (1695)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible BJ0RRREIZ 270 73%% 473 619
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BEZRRBAZ R E (32) (126)
Tax effect of temporary differences not FERGREEIMBETE
recognised 109 15
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRBEECRBEE 2,431 5,106
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not BABFRERRIBEEZ
previously recognised M2 = (315)
Effect of different tax rates of a subsidiary EHEHMEAEE LN —REH B
operating in other jurisdictions NEINFAEREZE 19 -
Tax effect of share of results of associates FELI S AR B MB - 45
Tax effect of share of results of a joint venture fE(E—RE&Z AT EES
Misx e 2 2
Tax effect of tax concessions %HH&Z/UZ%Z%H % B (46) (3
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFE (BEEERE) EBEAR (10) 5
Income tax expense FTiStRREZ 892 606
14.LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. FAEIE
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the AEBZERNBELRAKRTIZIBEERSE
following: He
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Auditors’ remuneration TZEIEMBN = 1,130 1,130
— Audit service — B2 1,030 1,030
- Non-audit service —IEEIZARTS 100 100
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ R &R HEITE 1,481 1,417
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 4,401 6,785
Direct operating expenses of investment EFHEWAZREY X
properties that generate rental income BEREKEMRS 16 14
Cost of sales includes staff costs of approximately SHEMA BB TMAX 16,238,000 87T
HK$16,238,000 (2023: HK$16,152,000) which are included (Z=2—=%:16,152,000 & 7T) » H 5 7
in the amounts disclosed separately. SFAPTIE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

15. ES @R

2024 2023
—E_E -y - 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHBT

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) 2Tz (BIEEEHD)
— Salaries, bonus and allowance — ¥ TEAT R REh 36,311 41,922
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions — BRI BIHER 953 1,014
37,264 42,936

(a) Pension - defined contribution plan

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement plans which are available for eligible
employees in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC, the Group has joined defined contribution
retirement schemes for the employees arranged by
local government labour and security authorities
(the “PRC Retirement Schemes”). The Group makes
contributions to the PRC Retirement Schemes at the
applicable rates based on the amounts stipulated by
the local government organisations. Upon retirement,
the local government labour and security authorities
are responsible for the payment of the retirement
benefits to the retired employees.

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong) for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57
of the laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and the employees are each required to
make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, the Group had no forfeited contributions under
the PRC Retirement Scheme and the MPF Scheme
and which may be used by the Group to reduce the
existing level of contributions. There were also no
forfeited contributions available at 31 December 2024
and 20283 under the PRC Retirement Scheme and MPF
Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce
the contribution payable in future years.

(a)

BhE - REHMREE
FEERTEAREECERREESZA
BY SR E AR IR 5T B E R

RFPHBEZRERER £&EE2
MM s BFFSHREHRFISER R
HrEY E SR RUR RSB (TR BIR IR 5t
B ) AEEZBERLER REMG K
i AR A8 7R 7E B < B8 @) 1 BB OR 5T B 1
e R BIR R M 75 BUF 5 2R IE 2B
FIaEnEKEEZTRAKER-

FEBRRIBEBEGF 485 ERH 1T
NETEFRAAETBEME 7 E
BEIFHEERETSENEERIL
—IEBREES B RIR T FT B A HRIBIL
ZEANEENREHIRIKE BRI
BEEE EIREEESEAB
BIMFCHREREESRERWAN 5%
MRS EBES A ER U A 30,000 #
TR ERRe

HE_Z_NERA_E_=ZF+_H4
=+—HIEEE AEEY EPEHIERK
B RREES B E T2 HAER
FREIRBHFKFEHNEBWHER R
BEONER_EBE=F+"/F=+—
HorEAPERARE 8 RaEE s E1E
TZaHAERBRBERRKEEREN
HRZ BRI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 15. EEEFIFZ (8)
(Continued)
(a) Pension - defined contribution plan (a) BiARE— REMHMEE (BB)
(Continued)
The total contributions paid and payable to the PRC HE_Z_NF+ZB=+—HIL
Retirement Scheme and the MPF Scheme by the FEAERBFERK uﬂ' EIWSE: i
Group amounted to HK$115,000 (2023: Nil) and A ENREN EM 48 25 9 Bl
HK$838,000 (2023: HK$1,014,000) respectively for the % 115,000 87 (= : = fﬁ m) &
year ended 31 December 2024, which were recognised 838,000 BL(ZE __E 1,014,000
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Br) ERGaBEERAER
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EBREEHMAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during AEBRAFEEAZRSHNES
the year included one (2023: one) director whose BE—R2(CE=F.—R)EFH
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented & BEEHRME 16(a) 52 THE (Z
in note 16(a). The emoluments of the remaining four ZT=F A AT ST
(2023: four) individuals are set out below:
2024 2023
—E_mE —B=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHEx
Basic salaries and allowances s & MR 7,628 7,696
Discretionary bonus FIIETEAL 685 799
Retirement benefit scheme contributions i R7@F 5t B {3k 72 72
8,385 8,567
The emoluments fell within the following band: N FTINEE:
Number of individuals
A&
2024 2023
—ENE o=
Nil to HK$1,500,000 £ 21,500,000/ 7T = -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7522,000,000/8 7T 2 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 522,500,000/ 70 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 723,000,000/ 70 1 1
4 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

16. EFEF K F =

(a) EFM=
ERESHMLBIIMT:

(a) Directors’ emoluments
The remuneration of each director is set out below:

Salaries,  Estimated Contributions
allowance and money value to retirement
other benefits of other  Discretionary benefits
Fees in kind benefit bonus scheme Total
MeElk AR BHER
e HHEWEN GHE%EE KigTta BEEEA &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TAR TAm Thn Thn Thn TEw
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_ME+-A=1+-H
LLEE
Executive Directors gz
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol B-fut 960 - 1,588 - - 2,548
Ms. Lin Ting MELT 135 - - - - 135
Ms. Liu Mung Ting ® (Chief executive officer)  BEE %L (fTEEH) 120 720 - - 18 858
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Hon Ming Sang BRARE 144 - - - - 144
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean E220 102 - - - - 102
Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon 8 ey 120 - - - - 120
1,581 720 1,588 - 18 3,907
Year ended 31 December 2023 BECZ--E+-A-1-H
ILFE
Executive Directors YiTES
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol B-fut 960 - 1,588 1,000 - 3,548
Mr. Chan Wai Lung ! BERELE 120 1,320 - - 18 1,458
Ms. Lam Ching Yee 2 MEELT? 180 - - - - 180
Ms. Lin Ting MELT 300 - - - - 300
Ms. Liu Mung Ting ® (Chief executive officer)  BEE% 1 (fTEEH) 58 348 - - 9 415
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Hon Ming Sang BRARE 144 - - - - 144
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean EXh 102 - - - - 102
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 88S, JP* B UL Es s Her 62 - - - - 62
Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon ® PrrERE 58 - - - - 58
1,984 1,668 1,588 1,000 27 6,267
1 Mr Chan Wai Lung resigned as the Chief Executive Officer ! BREREEENR S =FtATtHFET
on 7 July 2023 and as an Executive Director on 1 January BAEH RN _ENF—A—HEMERITE
2024. Ho
2 Ms. Lam Ching Yee resigned on 1 January 2024. 2 MBBRZINE_NF—F—HEHE-
8 Ms. Liu Mung Ting was appointed on 7 July 2023. 8 BEEg TR S =FtAtHEZE-
4 Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP resigned on 7 July 2023. ¢ BAF R THLHEE X P+ NS =
FLHAEHRHE-
5 Mr. Tang Shu Pui Simon was appointed on 7 July 2023. 5 BEEAERZ_=Ft Bt REZRT-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=.AH
I

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

M HRRMIEE

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any Directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the Directors received any termination benefits
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company did not pay considerations to any third
parties for making available Directors’ services (2023:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and
entities connected with such directors

As at 31 December 2024, there are no loans, quasi-
loans or other dealings in favour of the Directors,
their controlled bodies corporate and the Directors’
connected entities (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company and the director’s connected party
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

16. EFEF KR F =

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(&)

EEME (8)
BE_T_ME+_A=+—ALF

EBEARBESREXNRAERELE
A (T2 =F 1) -

REE_ZEZ-_MNF+-"B=+—HIE
EE - AEEMERNTARAATESES
SRS UIEAMAKREB R
AXEBEBHRENIEABERBEE (2
TT=FIE) o

ESEREN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

17.DIVIDENDS 17.

The Directors do not recommend the payment for any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

18.LOSS PER SHARE 18

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is
based on the following:

RE
EEFRBARBE_S_ME+_A
=St-HLEERAGEARE(CEI=4

@) o

BiEER

BREAMBEERDBUTHESE:

2024 2023
—ENE et =
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET

Loss for the purpose of calculating basic and  FLEt BEEREARLEHESEEMS
diluted loss per share ol i (12,338) (28,193)
Number of shares b 4= ’000 ’000
TRZ TFh

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  FtstEERERREEEIEMS

in issue for the purpose of calculation of BEITE BRI T8

basic and diluted loss per share 487,297 170,085

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for prior
year have been adjusted retrospectively to reflect the effect
of the bonus element of the rights issue after the reporting
period as disclosed in note 33.

The weighted average numbers of ordinary shares used
as denominators in calculating the basic and diluted loss
per share are the same as the Company had no potential
ordinary shares outstanding for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024.

MM EE 33 FTik R EBHAREFER
femniEFI8E > URRBEHEMERNAT
RREFE-

HRAABRBEE _ S _=ZEK_ZT_M@M
F+ A=+ —HIEEETEETHEINE
FEER R ESREAREEEERA
ED B ZBRMEFTIEEAER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. YE - -BER=E

Computer  Furniture

equipment and Leasehold Other Motor  Construction
and software fixtures improvements equipment vehicle in process Total
BEZERRMG GRREE HAEWEERE  HURE HE EEER a3t
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TET FET TET FiEn FET FTET TET
Cost 7%
At 1 January 2023 RZIEZ=%F—-F—H 21,393 528 1,709 482 743 1,180 26,035
Additions HE 650 - - - - - 650
Transfers i - - 1,180 - - (1,180) -
Disposal HE - - - - (743) - (743)
At31December 2023 and ~ HIZZ=F+"F=1—H
1 January 2024 RZE_MNE-F—H 22,043 528 2,889 482 - - 25,942
Additions HE 245 - 734 - - - 979
Write off b (60) (55) - - - - (115)
At 31 December 2024 RZB2ZME+-A=+—-H 22,208 473 3,623 482 - - 26,806
Accumulated depreciation ~ EitFE
At 1 January 2023 RIEZ=F—-F—H 20,298 528 1,709 482 434 - 23,451
Charge for the year FR5HE 649 - 675 - 93 - 1,417
Disposal HE - - - - (527) - (527)
At 31 December 2023 and RIE_=8+"A=1+—-H
1 January 2024 kZE_ME-F—H 20,947 528 2,384 482 - - 24,341
Charge for the year FERitE 772 - 709 - - - 1,481
Write off HE (60) (55) - - - - (115)
At 31 December 2024 RIBZME+-A=+—-H 21,659 473 3,093 482 - - 25,707
Carrying amount IREME
At 31 December 2024 RIZE-ME+-A=1+—H 569 - 530 - - - 1,099
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=H+ZFA=+-H 1,096 - 505 - - - 1,601
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out two parking spaces located in Hong
Kong under operating leases with rentals payable monthly.
The leases typically contracted for an initial period of one
year. The leases of parking spaces annual lease payment
that are fixed over the lease term.

20. IR EYE

AEERBEEHEEBUN FENME
FEAHIZARBEEZ—RME HES
MRS ERA—F-HEFEUNFEESE
PRAEER RS E E -

2024 2023

—EME —BO=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

At 1 January n—BA—H 2,600 2,600
Fair value losses N EERE (400) -
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 2,200 2,600

Investment properties were revalued on the open market
value basis by reference to market evidence of recent
transactions for similar properties by A.G. Wilkinson &
Associates (Surveyors) Limited at 31 December 2024
while the investment properties were revalued by Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited at 31 December 2023.
Both parties are an independent firm of chartered surveyors.

Valuation for investment properties was derived using the
market comparable approach based on recent market
prices of comparable properties without any significant
adjustment being made to the market observable data.

\_7_E¢+ B=+—H REY*H
SHEMTERATIRARDTSMEE

‘%jtaﬁ,ﬁ”\ MHBELUMER G 2T HEE

z_ﬁﬁfa’ﬁ'ﬁﬁé:g:_ﬁ—t— B= + EI’

CENERMSBARTEERA

BHifo 75192%3’%4%&%;%“10

REMEDRBATSLEEAGE BERYEH
SOBRERECRFENERRERE) 27T
BYEEHTESH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

21.EREEE

Leased Leased
Properties vehicle Total
HEME HEHER “act
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000
FExT FExT FEx
At 1 January 2023 A B =F—HF—H 7,181 1,716 8,897
Additions NE 3,262 - 3,262
Early termination REKRIE (49) - (49)
Depreciation e (6,337) (448) (6,785)
At 31 December 2023 and N_ZE_=F+"A=+—HK
1 January 2024 “ETE—HF—H 4,057 1,268 5,325
Additions NE 2,151 - 2,151
Depreciation e (3,953) (448) (4,401)
Lease modification HEEN 1,540 - 1,540
At 31 December 2024 RZE-_MNE+-A=+—H 3,795 820 4,615
2024 2023
—EgE 2 =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FExT
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets FREEENERS 4,401 6,785
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaGr Mz
(included in finance cost) (FF AR A) 296 295
Expenses relating to short-term lease B HAEE R RANAES
(included in administrative expenses) GtATTHERS) 624 1,030
Gain on termination of lease #LIFEEWE - 2

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note
36(c).

For both years, the Group leases various offices, car
parking space and residential unit for its operations and as
a director’s quarter. Lease contracts are entered into fixed
terms from two to five years, but may have termination
options to terminate the lease contract of properties. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.
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EREERESMEHBEEZFBHNMT
36(c)e

RWmEEE *&EBBAETRABLAEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

22.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

22 HEREE

Systems
development Club
costs membership Total
RIFAERAE EEgE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(H15# (a) (K&t (b))
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2023 RN _E _=F—F—H 7,711 - 7,711
Addition NE - 230 230
At 31 December 2023, ATET=F+Z/A=+—H-
1 January 2024 and “EIMFE—A—HBk
31 December 2024 “ETME+"B=+—H 7,711 230 7,941
Accumulated amortisation REHgE
At 1 January 2023, A ZEZ=_F—F—H-
31 December 2023, —ECZHE+_A=+—H
1 January 2024 and “EIMFE—A—HBk
31 December 2024 —EmE+—"A=+—H 7,711 - 7,711
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2024 NZE2EZNFE+"/A=+—H - 230 230
At 31 December 2023 RZE=F+"RA=+—H ~ 230 230
Note: HiaE:
(@) Intangible assets of internally generated development costs (a) MEELEMERNANELEEIEHEHTRERS

represented all direct costs incurred in the development of new
software systems. The software development costs are amortised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 4 years.

(b)  The Group’s club membership of HK$230,000 (2023: HK$230,000)
at 31 December 2024 is assessed as having indefinite useful
life because there is no time limit that the Group can enjoy the

services provided by that club.

EENPIA BER A - RIFFZEM AU ER

FH 4 FIREREEE-

(b) HEEEESEN_ZNF+_B=+—HEE
230,000 #E 7t (ZZ = =4 230,000 B 7T) WaT
EARAERAGEHAT RARLERBRS

FEERIZAZGERHRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

23.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2024 are as follows:

23. KB AR ZKE

ENBEARR _E-_MNE+_B=+—
HZBmr:

Percentage of

142

Principal place of operation/ Issued/ ownership/
Place of incorporation/Kind registered voting power/
Name of legal entity share capital profit sharing  Principal activities
TELENE AL B®1/ FER/REE/
k23 AR LY YN it BHARILE  TEER
Dealmatch.com Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability HK$100 100% (indirect)  Provision of referral services and
company provision of administrative support of
the Group
BFEARAT &B/BREAAT 100787t 100% (%) REENREREGTHEETAER
DSE Cayman Limited Cayman Islands/Company US$10.73 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
limited by shares
DSE Cayman Limited REHE/ RHBRAT 10.73%70 100% (B8 REER
Finsoft Finance Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability HK$100 100% (indirect) ~ Money lending
company
EMERBRAR 55/ BREFAT 1002 7T 100% (E#) B8
Finsoft Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability HK$100 100% (indirect)  Securities and equity investments
company
BAEE (B8 BIRAR &8/ BRETAR 1007t 100% (B#8) HSRERRE
Finsoft Investment Management Limited  Hong Kong/Limited liability HK$100 100% (indirect)  Property leasing
company
ERREERERAR 52/ BREAAT 10087 100% (B#) WA
Gracious Queen Limited BVI/Company limited by US$1 100% (indirect)  Provision of administrative support to
shares the Group
Gracious Queen Limited EERYEE/RNERAR 1= 100% (%)  BAEREETEZE
Grant Ambition Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability HKS$1 100% (indirect)  Provision of administrative support to
company the Group
ERAERAR &8/ BREFAT 1871 100% (B4  MAEERETHEE
Golden Spade Investment Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability HKS$1 100% (indirect)  Securities investments
company
ERKEBRAR 52/ BREAAT 1A 100% (B BHRE
iAsia Online Systems Limited BVI/Company limited by shares US$10 100% (indirect)  Development, sale and provision of
financial trading software solutions
SHBLRRBERAT EBRYHE/RHBRAT 10%7T 100% (B B -HERRESHIZRHRALE
Infinite Capital Ventures Limited BVI/Company limited US$10,000 100% (direct)  Investment holding
by shares
Infinite Capital Ventures Limited HERLHEE/ 10,000%70 100% (B#%) REER
BRHBRAF
Target Joyce Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability HK$1 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
company
ZHAERAF &8/ BREAAT 1B 100% (%) RERER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

23.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2024 are as follows: (continued)

Principal place of operation/

Place of incorporation/Kind registered
Name of legal entity share capital

TEEEHE SRR
&1 FRItES A A BRI

23. RB AT ZKE (48)

FENBARAR-_Z-_NF+_A=+—
Bz : (@)

Percentage of
ownership/
voting power/
profit sharing  Principal activities
ek BRE/
EHAMLE  FBREH

Wealthy Link Technology Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability

company

EERRERRA &/ BREAAT

Well In Technology Development Limited  Hong Kong/Limited liability
company

FERRERERAT &/ BREMAH

Winrange Investments Limited
BIERERRAT

BVI/Company limited by shares
HBREYHEE/BHERAT

ERTERE (R BRAT

TR AR (RN BIRAT) HE/SMEEERR

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results or assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

As at 31 December 2024, the bank and cash balances
of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC denominated in
RMB amounted to HK$380,000 (2023: Nil). Conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.

PRC/Wholly foreign-owned entity ~ RMB2,000,000

AE2,000,0007

100% (indirect)  Development of financial trading

software solutions

100% () HESBREAARARE

100% (indirect)  Development of mobile e-commerce

platform

100% (@) FEBPTFEBTA

100% (direct)  Investment holding
100% (BE#) REER

100% (indirect)  Provision of technical services, technical

transfer, information consulting
services and sales of electronic
products

100% () REEARE K825 RS

REFEMHE

EXREBINEARDEZTRAEEEREXER
BENEEAIEXENEIRAMBE LR
ERBDERDH BITHEHMMB AT Z5F
B ELERERBR TR

RIZE_ME+ZA=+—H ' UARK:t
BENAEERTENWBATRTARIRES
48R4 380,000 BT (ZEZ=F ) A
R R A NS B ST I E B IR
URKtEE - EERNEESERT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. B 5 R HMEWTRIE
2024 2023
—TTmE =y - 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Trade receivables B EWTIE 4,885 2,362
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (note 6(c) i : REREEHE (H1326(c)) (46) (47)
4,839 2,315
Other receivables (note) HhEUFIAE (Bat) 645 4
Due from an associate FEWEHE A B FIE 100 100
Deposits & 1,776 3,034
Prepayments FETRIE 1,743 2,804
9,103 8,257
Note: baE:
Included in other receivables was balance due from a director of a HithfEW R IE R EN— RN B AR — B E B HNIEAE
subsidiary of HK$600,000 (2023: Nil) which was unsecured, interest-free &% 600,000 BT (CEZ=F &) » ZRIEARIER
and repayable on demand. TEHERBEERERE -
The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 KEE-RETHEZEF TS 30 BFEA
days or not more than 90 days to its trade customers and BE 0 BN EE HAEEEENE R
based on the negotiations between the Group and individual EEET B R EWHRIEL R
customers. No interest is charged on trade receivables.
The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the BREZAARNGEERZIINESER
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows: FIERERES DATW T
2024 2023
—EIME —EBT=HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
0 - 30 days 0&E30H 3,560 1,094
31 - 60 days 31&E60H 252 574
61 — 90 days 61E90H 722 -
91 - 120 days 91&120H 156 115
Over 120 days BiB120H 149 532
4,839 2,315
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

25.LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

25. EIRERMKF B

2024 2023

—TTNE == 2

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FEx

Loan receivables FEWE™R 69,501 86,871
Less: impairment losses (note 6(c)) B ORBEIE (1aE6(c) (33,824) (62,392)
35,677 24,479

Interest receivables FEF) & 2,316 4,285
Less: impairment losses (note 6(c)) R EEE (B73E6(c) (1,176) (3,255)
1,140 1,030

Loan and interest receivables EWE AT E 36,817 25,509
Less: non-current portion B IETRENER D (2,892) -
Loan and interest receivables (current portion) FEUE LTI & CRENEEHD) 33,925 25,509

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding loan receivables so as to minimise credit risk.
The granting of loans is subject to approval by the credit
committee, whilst overdue balances are reviewed regularly
for recoverability.

As at 31 December 2024, the loan receivables were
charging on interest rates ranging from 8% to 35.5%
per annum (2023: 8% to 21.6% per annum) and were
repayable with fixed terms agreed with the contracting
parties generally ranging from 3 months to 25 months
(2023: 3 months to 25 months). The Group held
collateral such as jewelry and properties or other credit
enhancement i.e. guarantees over the loan receivables
balance of HK$11,167,000 (net of provision for impairment
loss of HK$1,833,000) (2023: HK$2,725,000 (net of
provision for impairment loss of HK$4,256,000)), and loan
receivables balance of HK$24,510,000 (net of provision for
impairment loss of HK$31,991,000) were unsecured (2023:
HK$21,754,000 (net of provision for impairment loss of
HK$58,136,000)).

AEERHNHHEHKREE ZBRERES
BREE BUERERRKEERAR -EHA
HERAEEELZE G /A MARGHRA
TERRH AT U B M 1T M T o

RIZBE_NE+_A=+—H8 EkEHE
FENFTEEC% E35.5% (B =4
EE8% E21.6%) st 8 W EEITINHH
ENEEHR(EENF=EEE_+AE
B(ZEZ=FZ@EBE_+H@EAH))E
BoAREBEMEUWERAER 11,167,000 8
7T (F0 BRI B BB #E5 1,833,000 8 7T) (Z
T =4:2,725,000 BT GO EEE
B 4,256,000 78 7T)) TARERYES
WP EMEERFIEN (BNER) > RE
W B R4S 8% 24,510,000 87T GORBERS
B #5455 31,991,000 B ) AEER(ZE
= 4:21,754,000 BT (R EE B
B8 58,136,000 8 7T) ) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

25.LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Included in loan receivables is a loan with principal amount
of HK$2,800,000 (2023: HK$2,800,000) lent to a related
company. The director of the related company’s ultimate
holding company is also the Company’s Director. It bears
interest of 8% per annum with maturity on 22 December
2024. The amount is guaranteed by the ultimate holding
company of the borrower. On 23 December 2024, a
supplemental agreement was entered with the related
company and the maturity date of the loan to the related
company was extended to 22 December 2026. It bears
the same interest of 8% per annum and continues to
be guaranteed by the ultimate holding company of the
borrower. Details of the extension of the loan is set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 23 December 2024.

After considering the historical payment pattern of this
related party, the management of the Group considered the
credit risk has been improved and expected the credit risk
after contract modification would not be deteriorated, so
that the loan is transferred from stage 2 to stage 1.

Such modification of a contract between the Group and a
related party may result in a change to the contractual cash
flows without resulting in the derecognition of the financial
assets as the modification solely on the maturity date
provided that the reminding terms remain unchanged. The
risk of default of such assets after modification is assessed
at the reporting date and compared with the risk under the
original terms at initial recognition, when the modification is
not substantial and so does not result in derecognition of
the original asset and the book value of the financial asset
is recalculated and the related gain or loss is included in
current profit and loss.
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25. FRIREMEF B (48)

EWERTEIE—%A%% 2,800,000 8
TT(ZEZ=4:2,800,000 #7T) B &
F—REEAEAT FEABNREKIZERAT
NEENARANTEE - ZABEENXA
8% HfRA T _MHE+ B -+"He
ZARERERANREIERABER P
E_NE+_B_+=H HEEATFTIIL
BREHE AEBATRENERWEIEH
EEECZE-RE+TBZ+_H-HAK
WEMNEK 8% st B WIFERERANRR
TR ATIREER BRAEREREMNEEEH
RAABDHABEA S _NE+_B_+=
HR AL

etz AN EMRA AEEE
HEERREERREEMNES BRIIEH
ERENEERRT T B RILZERB

MhER 2 BERRE 10

AEE BB S ZEN GO ERERE
EERENRTAELY MAFTERKILE
EREREE RESEELZHAEER
FRIFRRE T - BERLRENBEE M E
B EAEFAEERNKRIEIREEER A
HEERNERNENENREREERSHH
T LAST i B B R RRRT 4 48 B 50 By B9 AL IR
ETHE TEMGtERERMEENKREE®
Uk ER S st A SR me



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

25.LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

Movements on the Group’s impairment of loan and interest

receivables are as follows:

25. FEIRE M B F B (48)

AERZBRERKMNESRELEHWT:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total

PEER PER2 PEER3

12{8 B 85 2 2HEH
=818 ZEEE ZE5E &gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEx FiEr FEx FiEn
At 1 January 2023 WZE_=F—-F—H 94 2,706 55,984 58,784
New loans originated BERaZMER 2 - - 2
Loans recovered or repaid during the year RERBKREIHEEZER - (152) (490) (642)
Loans written off during the year RERMIHER - - (194) (194)
Movements due to changes in credit risk REERRESMEL ZEE) 286 6,725 686 7,697
Transfer to Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL ERTERE - 2HBEREEEA (380) 380 - -
Transfer to Stage 3 - Lifetime ECL BEERE -2 RHEERE - (7,286) 7,286 -

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 KRB =F+"F=+-0k

“EmE—F—H 2 2,373 63,272 65,647
New loans originated BRBZIER 199 31 204 434
Loans recovered or repaid during the year RERBHEHEEZ S - (27) (3,180) (3,207)
Loans written off during the year RERMFEER - - (27,746) (27,746)
Movements due to changes in credit risk RiEERRESMESE 2 28 331 (694) 235 (128)
Transfer to Stage 1 - 12-month ECL HBERR1-12@FENEEHE (310) 310 - -
Transfer to Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL BERR2-2BEBEEESE () 2 = -
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+-A=+—H 220 1,995 32,785 35,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17177 N |

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

25.

iR e MBHRRMEE

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

For loan and interest receivables that are not credit-impaired
without significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition (“Stage 17”), ECL is measured at an amount
equal to the portion of lifetime ECL that results from default
events possible within the next 12 months. If a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified
(“Stage 2”) but not yet deemed to be credit-impaired, ECL
is measured based on lifetime ECL. If credit impaired is
identified (“Stage 3”), ECL is measured based on lifetime
ECL.

A maturity profile of the loan receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the remaining contractual
maturity date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

25. FRIREMEF B (48)

BAS ERLURES AR AREE LM (TR
1) MABLEEEREZRRERRAE &
HEEBERBENRK12EE N A
ENENSFHERNEAEREERERSD
MEBEtE-WENTHIBLUIREERKRR
Z1n (TREEE 21) BERBREABEERE
AEREEERRENRAGEEREFT 8
e A EERME (TR 3)) AFAHRE
EniERaRRNEERIEF 2.

RBREHR BRERBRBERGRSHOEAA
(HFREEEE) NEHB RN T:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Overdue HH 21,073 20,806
Due within 3 months R3ME A R EIHR 2,021 948
Due after 3 months but within 6 months N3ER & ZE6EHRNEIE 4,789 -
Due after 6 months but within 12 months ReER & ZE121E88 NEIE 4,902 2,725
Due after 12 months P12{E B &2 2,892 -
Total 485t 35,677 24,479

A maturity profile of the interest receivables at the end of
the reporting period, based on the maturity date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

PR & HIR > R BAR B B B B R 3 BRAES
BEGNISHBERIDT:

2024 2023

ZEE —EI=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Overdue w81 Hf 1,140 1,030
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

26. CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLE 26.fEWE

2024 2023
—E_MF B =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FBET
Consideration receivable FEU B 5,455 5,253
Less: impairment losses (note 6(c)) B ORBEIE (1aE6(c) (1,912) (248)
3,543 5,005

Analysed as: DA
Current assets TMBNEE 3,543 246
Non-current assets IERENEE - 4,759
3,543 5,005

The consideration receivable represented the profit
guarantee provided by the vendor in relation to the
adjustments to the consideration for the acquisition of
Metrotec Limited and its subsidiary (“Metrotec Group”)
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

As Metrotec Group failed to meet the profit guarantee as
set in the sales and purchase agreement, the vendor of
Metrotec Limited (“the Vendor”) had to compensate the
Company based on the conditions and formulas as set in
the sales and purchase agreement.

On 30 June 20283, the Vendor and the Company
entered into deed of settlement agreement regarding the
compensation settlement arrangement (the “Compensation
Agreement”) upon confirmation of the unfulfillment of profit
guarantee. Pursuant to the Compensation Agreement,
the Vendor has to pay HK$2,344,000 to the Company in
cash immediately upon execution of the Compensation
Agreement while the remaining of HK$5,000,000, which
bear interest at 10% per annum repayable quarterly, will be
repayable together with accrued interest on or before 29
June 2025.

For details of the impairment assessment, refer to note 6(c).

WA BEEENREE _S _SF+_4
= +—HLIEFEWEE Metrotec Limited &
HIWE AT (TMetrotec E£E J) IR BFHE
BRERGENRE

B Metrotec EB R EMEEE W EFT
FRE BRI RS Metrotec Limited & 75
(FEED’E*EF%EB&%}EEEEE’\J1'7%#&
NAHARRABETHEE.

ﬁ\_v__ﬁ/\ﬁ +H EHEARTE]
UEHEZEGE N BN ERELER
A RS B%E’Jﬁf%im%:ﬂat(r%ﬁaf 1) o
*E%F%ﬁf,a%u% BHBESNMEREED
ﬁiﬁ%m SR & 2,344,000 BT M
£% %8 5,000,000 BT EER 10% T E A
&*Ffai_ BR_Z_REB-+1nH
N AT BEREFE—HFEE

BERRE R F2RMEE 6(c)e
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AR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

27.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

27. AT EEFABENEREE

2024 2023
=l 111 =3 S
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#ET TFHET
Hong Kong listed equity investments, HELMRAKRE BATEE
at fair value 9,005 9,789

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are
mandatorily measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS

9.

The investments included above represent investments in
listed equity securities that offer the Group the opportunity

for return through dividend income and fair value gains.

The fair values of listed securities are based on current bid

prices.

REBEEBMBHREERE O LHERE
EZREERFRATEES ABERTE-

ITHREE ETRAESRE nAEERE
HEETBBEREWARATEERZME

H[B]4R °

tHRBEZRATFEENREBEES ZEEEG

st

HRAEBEFAENEBREARENDNRES

There is concentration of price risk in respect of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss because all the
equity investments held by the Group were listed in Hong

I HEBARATEEFARGNERE
ENERED-

Kong.

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

28. HERIREZFEY

2024 2023

=l 1= =R

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Cash and bank balances IRE M IRT T4 ER 10,780 8,134
Time deposit at bank with original maturity FEEAH =@ 8 "R

within three months EHER - 1,000

Cash balances at other financial institutions REMERIEENIRE &R 77 80

10,857 9,214

The carrying amount of the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents is mainly denominated in HK$.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29 EX9&81&
2024 2023
—TTmE =y - 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Contract liabilities aHal

— Sales of merchandise —HEEMR 1,045 1,534
— Provision of services — IR HARTS 8,360 7,997
9,405 9,531

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
to deliver software solutions and render installation,
development, testing and maintenance services.

There were no significant changes in the contract liabilities

balances during the reporting period.

Movements in contract liabilities:

ENaEREEEXNRGSBEUREHZE.
e 8 VB 5l T At 5 AR 755 1T U BN AV AZ B TR (U =R e

RBEMR GNEERENEERNES-

aHaRzEE:

2024 2023
—E-mE =&
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Balance at 1 January R—A—Bz 4@ 9,531 9,956
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result RFERNERFAGHIEEN
of recognising revenue during the year that WmmERsHa BRI
was included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of year (8,467) (8,569)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of RERUERTE T8
advances received during the year MmENRESHNEEEM 8,341 8,148
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36(a)) HENBAR (#2236(a) - (4)
Balance at 31 December R+ZB=1+—HZ#8 9,405 9,531

There is no billings in advance of performance received that
is expected to be recognised as income after more than one

year (2023: Nil).

TR ERBE —FRERSWANERELY
FARREBE(CEZ=F 1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ke M B IRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

30. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. EEstE R R HMEGRIA
2024 2023
—ENE ZET=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Customers deposits BEE¥E 6,944 9,068
Provision for bonus TEAT 5 3,083 3,566
Other payables and accruals HtEAMIER Es & B 2,803 3,305
Retirement benefit obligations RRERAEET 24 364
12,854 16,303
31.LEASE LIABILITIES 31.fHEAR
Present value
Total minimum of the minimum
lease payments lease payments
RIEHAE A% RIEHEHFHRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEINE | CET-F | ZBIWNE | ZEI=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&x FHExT FEx FET
Within one year —ER 4,099 3,247 3,973 3,056
More than one year, but not Be—FENBEmE
exceeding two years 613 1,834 605 1,778
More than two years, but not BEMFEE BBRE
exceeding five years - 328 - 321
4,712 5,409 4,578 5,155
Less: Future finance charges B AR HER (134) (254) N/A N/A
Present value of lease obligations HEaGRE 4,578 5,155 4,578 5,155
Less: Amount due for settlement B 12(E 8 NEIRREEZ FIE
within 12 months (shown BIRRBEEET)
under current liabilities) (3,973) (3,056)
Amount due for settlement 128 B EIEEZIE
after 12 months 605 2,099
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied BRANRHESGEZMEFHSESERF=E
to lease liabilities ranging from 4.83% to 6.13% (2023: from NF4.83% E£6.183% (ZE-=5F:4.83%
4.83% to 6.13%). E 6.13%)°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. DEFERRED TAX

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

2. RIEFRIA

The following are the deferred tax (assets)/liabilities AEERIDZIELERE (BE) /ABUW T
recognised by the Group.
Decelerated
tax Right-of-use
depreciation assets Total
IRIRIAITE FEREEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
/%TE /%7'5 :F‘;%FE
At 1 January 2023 AT =F—F—H (80) 4 (76)
Charged to profit or loss (note 13) W8Nk (W1a213) 13 - 13
At 31 December 2023 and N2 _=—F+"BA=+—H
1 January 2024 h_ZE_NF—HA—H (67) 4 (63)
Charged to profit or loss (note 13) W8Nk (M1z213) 26 (4) 22
At 31 December 2024 A _E_NFE+_A=+—H (41) = (41)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused RIEHEF AEBAIBRIEHE R RN

tax losses of approximately HK$240,099,000 (2023:
HK$229,912,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses of approximately HK$240,099,000 (2023: B84y 240,

RENHAMIEEIEL 240,099,000 BT (Z
T =4:229,912,000 B 7T)  © N &£
¥R R B A AR R ML E R R E AR IE

099,000 B THIDIEILERBE

HK$229,912,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit E(CZZ T =41:229,912,000 #7T) - K1\

streams. The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

EE?E—_[MBEHHMDEO
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ke M B IRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

33. SHARE CAPITAL

33. g7

Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
3L CE] KB zZmEE
‘000 HK$’000
Th FET
Authorised: EE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each FREE0.058 T TLiER
At 1 January 2023, RZE=F—F—H~
31 December 2023 B =F+"A=+—H
and 1 January 2024 R_ZE-HE—F—H 200,000 10,000
Increase in authorised share capital (note (a)  AERRASILIN (415#(a) 1,800,000 90,000
At 31 December 2024 AT CME+ZA=+—H 2,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each EREE0.05B T2 EIER
At 1 January 2023, RZZZ=F—H—HB"
31 December 2023 BT -F+ZR=+—H
and 1 January 2024 R_ETIUE—F—H 126,058 6,303
Issuance of shares by rights issue (note (b)) FBMRR TR (WaE D) 378,175 18,909
At 31 December 2024 R-Z2ZMFE+—"B=+—H 504,233 25,212

Note:

(a)

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

An extraordinary general meeting was held by the Company on
16 January 2024 and the existing authorised share capital of the
Company was approved to increase from HK$10,000,000 divided
into 200,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.05
each to HK$100,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares by
creating an additional 1,800,000,000 unissued shares.

An extraordinary general meeting was held by the Company
on 16 January 2024 and the Company was approved to raise
approximately HK$27.98 million by issuing up to 378,174,702 new
shares to the qualifying shareholders on the basis of three (3) rights
shares for every one (1) share in issue (the “Rights Shares”) at
the subscription price of HK$0.074 per share (the “Rights Issue”).
Upon the completion of the Rights Issue, the number of shares of
the Company in issue was increased by 378,174,702, resulting in
a credit to share capital and share premium by HK$18,909,000
and HK$7,602,000, respectively after netting of the related cost of
approximately HK$1,474,000.

e Annual Report 2024

(@)

FRABER_E_MNE—A+/NBRTRER
ARG ARADRAEERACHE B BILE
1,800,000,000 A% > & 17 A% 14> £ 10,000,000
# 7T (4 % 200,000,000 % & AR @& 1 0.05 &
JTH9E @ AR ) 1590 Z 100,000,000 Bt (92
2,000,000,000 A&A&1H) ©

AABBRZBEZME—A+BLRTRERR
RE AABVEAERERE— (1) REZTRND
= Q) RN (TMERRMD)) 2 &%,

MR EER 0074 BTAEERRESETRS
378,174,702 PR (n » FEU B E TR 27.98 B
AT (MER)) - HEREmE ARAFTBET
BR {5 8L E 1% N 378,174,702 A% » 1R 48 BE A 25 49
1,474,000 7o BEIRAR R HEDBIELR
18,909,000 &7t K 7,602,000 7T ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 20283.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
The Group seeks to balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as the issue of new debt
or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital. Total debt comprises lease
liabilities. Adjusted capital comprises all components of
equity (i.e. share capital, share premium, accumulated
losses and other reserves). As at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s net debt-to-equity ratio was not applicable because
the Group had HK$10,857,000 (2023: HK$9,214,000) cash
and cash equivalents which can be sufficient to repay all the
debts of the Group.

33. g4 (48)

AEBEEBEHEALURRAERSEAF
B BB ELEHRARAZENFE
EARFRERRAROR AEFEEBEEARN
HEE BHEREFREE_E _NER_T
=+ RBR=+—HLEEEHEZH-

ARRERENERERRB-FRABERA—
B ARBDVEFEBELNEIREBER
BAER AR - AL BB B E TR K ET
MEFAEEREES THHEERELR
e

FEBERBHHEREERILRERSE
KoL RUBHE FHEBEULHBER
H-BHEEaiEilEaG KARELE
EREEIREA RO EE BfBERE
MEE) NFFBEERB D N _WE
+ZB=+—H RAABKXEEHEERERENL
BEXAEEMEEENREERIREEEEY
10,857,000 Bt (ZE - =4:9,214,000
B AEBZEHRHEABRERLER
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ke M B IRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34. A ABIZ M BARAER
OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) xABZHFBERRR
Company
2024 2023
—E_NEF —E=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 F#ET FExT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN =Y Gt - 506
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZRE 20,939 20,939
Right-of-use assets ERREE 1,091 1,066
Consideration receivable EWARE - 4,759
22,030 27,270
Current assets RMEE
Other receivables and prepayments — EAFEURGRIE K T8 I8 645 884
Due from subsidiaries [E U B A B R E 35,385 26,446
Consideration receivable [EUR LB 3,543 246
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 2,855 2,530
42,428 30,106
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables FESHRIE R E BT FRIE 1,203 1,192
Due to subsidiaries FE{SH B A T RIE 22,505 22,399
Lease liabilities HEEaE 1,103 1,106
24,811 24,697
Net current assets mEEERE 17,617 5,409
NET ASSETS BEFE 39,647 32,679
Capital and reserves B A R (st
Share capital f& s 25,212 6,303
Reserves (Ei] 34(b) 14,435 26,376
TOTAL EQUITY RETR4EEE 39,647 32,679
The Company’s statement of financial position was KRB ZHMBRRARENRZZEZREF
approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 24 —BZTt NP EEE e EREET
March 2025 and signed on its behalf by: BHHUATALTRREE:
Tin Yat Yu Carol Liu Mung Ting
H—iF BEE
Director Director
E BE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

34. FAT ZMBAKRR (B)

Share Special Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RiniaE YR RitEsE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET T TR
Note 35(b)(iv)
Hiz35(b)(v)
At 1 January 2023 RW_E_=F—F—H 229,281 20,938 (191,770) 58,449
Loss and other comprehensive FREBBEREMZERA
income for the year - - (32,073) (32,073)
At 31 December 2023 and RIEZ=F+"B=1+—HK
1 January 2024 “ZE-MmE—-F—H 229,281 20,938 (223,843) 26,376
Issuance of shares by rights issue  EIBALIRETIRD (A72233)
(note 33) 7,602 = — 7,602
Loss and other comprehensive FREBBEREMZERA
income for the year - - (19,543) (19,543)
At 31 December 2024 RIZZMFE+ZB=+—H 236,883 20,938 (243,386) 14,435
35.RESERVES 35. f#fH
(a) Group (a) =~&EHE

(b)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Share premium arises from the issue of shares at
a price greater than the par value of the shares
and can be utilised for future bonus issue.

(ii) Merger Reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between
the nominal value of the shares issued by the
Company in exchange for the nominal value of the
share capital of its subsidiaries arising from the
reorganisation to rationalise the group structure
in preparation for the listing on 28 August 2013
(“Reorganisation”).

FEBZHEZEREEH D27
R RERAtMEEBRAXRRES
oK

(b) HEZMEERER
() Rl
RO EEERSIEROEEZE
16 84T IR 15 B A 4B M F] A AR R
PALRREEAT o

(i) SOHEE
EHBEEELARBNR_E—=F
NBZ+NBAEHE LT METT
B (TE4E)) BB EE LB
AMMERBABRATMEITR
Mz EEAZERAEDEZ EZC
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

35. f#fh ()
(b) {2 E R B ()

35. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(Continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FTVOCI/ reserve

The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of
financial assets at FTVOCI held at the end of the
reporting period and is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy in note 4() to the
consolidated financial statements.

(iv) Special reserve

Special reserve represents the difference between
the fair value of the shares of Infinite Capital
Ventures Limited acquired pursuant to the
Reorganisation, over the previous nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore.

(iii) U FEEFARMEEKAZ
EHEEFE
UrRFEEFAEMEZENRAZ
TRMEERBOENRIARST
B REGEEMBRERME 4()
Wt BEREEN U R FEES
AHMEEBRAZEHEEAT
BENRSEH R

(iv) t55I#E
R REEREEMEMKE
2 Infinite Capital Ventures
Limited R 2 AFEEBIE A
REIAURBATWERD 2B
TRAOZEBTEENE .

36.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36. FERERERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) HEMBAF

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group entered into share transfer agreements with
two different buyers, which are independent from the
Group, to dispose of its entire 51% and 100% equity
interests in Metrotec Group and Silver City Investment
Limited respectively at cash consideration in aggregate
of HK$7,000. Metrotec Group was engaged in
provision of marketing and operation of stored valued
mastercards, and Silver City Investment Limited was
inactive during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

HE_Z-_=_F+ZHB=+—H1
EV AEEHEAMIBIULNETERN
BXRJTUIURMVEZERZ DAIEE
H ¢ Metrotec £ B X Silver City
Investment Limited A9 & &f 51% &
100% IR IWE N ESH 5 7,000 8
T HE_E =+ ﬁ +—A81
FE Metrotec EERFRTEEEFE
BB FBE K& E M Silver City
Investment Limited im0



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE
36.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36. I HIRERERM T (B)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(a) HEMBAT (&)
REERBAS ABNEESESH

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued)
Net assets at the date of disposal of subsidiaries in

aggregate were as follows: W
HK$’000
FAET
Trade and other receivables B 5k EMEWRIE 228
Bank and cash balances IR1TRIR SRR 12
Accruals and other payables fEst & R R A Mg (I RIE (878)
Contract liabilities =Y =N (4)
Non-controlling interests JEPERG 2,478
Net liabilities disposed of HE&SEFE 1,836
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 10) HEMBABEIE (M1a10) (1,829)
Total consideration WAE 7

Consideration satisfied by: REZUTHREN:
Cash RE 7

Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEENRE MM FEE:

Cash consideration received BUWERERE 7
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERSRIREZEEY (12)
(5)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MBHRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

36.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36. R RERMEE (B)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

(b) MEFBMEENRRBZHIR

TRV AEERETHREENE
Ee (BEREKIFREEH)FHE
METHEENEEARTAELG M
A RBERAER ML EEBER
BRERBRDBAMEZTHMEER
TRENAGE.

1 January Early Lease Interest 31 December

2024 Addition termination modification Cash flows expenses 2024

ZETmE —ECmE

—A—H RE RELLE HEEN REnE fIEME% +ZA=+—-H

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T TEn  F#n T TET  TEn FB7

Lease liabilities HEEE 5,155 2,151 - 1,540 (4,564) 296 4,578
1 January Early Lease Interest 31 December

2023 Addition  termination  modification  Cash flows expenses 2023

_BEC=F _BC=F

—B—H hE RRALL HEER RERE MEB: +ZA=+-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET T T T THET TET

Lease liabilities HE&E 9,072 3,262 (51) - (7,423) 295 5,155

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow
statements for leases comprise the following:

(c) HERES MU

Bt AGRERERERTNEESE
BETIIRE:

2024 2023

—E_mE —BT=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FAET

Within operating cash flows RREREREN 296 295
Within financing cash flows RREREREN 4,268 7,128
4,564 7,423
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37.

38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 H#ZE _Z _NE+_B=+—HILEEE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
offices. As at 31 December 2024, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed in note 21.

As at 31 December 2024, outstanding lease commitments
relating to these offices were HK$415,000 (2023:
HK$343,000).

The Group as lessor

Operating leases relate to investment properties owned
by the Group with lease terms of one year, with one year
extension. The lessees do not have an option to purchase
the properties at the expiry of the lease period.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

37.

38.

HARE

RIZB_ME+_A=+—H KAEFLE
EREANREEB(CE=F 8])-

ETHEZHE

FEMESKBEA
FEEERTIMATEBAESH N
ToME+-B=+—H EHASESHR
M 21 RATIRE N SRR SRR e RE
ERaEL.

AZE-NE+ZA=+—HB EZERA
EEBMNRBEEHEERIES 415,000 87T
(ZEZ=4:343,000BT) °

TEBFEAHAA

AEEFEARENEARCEREN
FEA— > B AL — 2o AR A S IR 7E AR
HATE B B E A 2 o

HERRNREBRAEMRNOT:

2024 2023

—ENE BT

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FExT

Within one year —&FER 24 24
The following table presents the amounts reported in profit TREINEERRPRENSEE:

or loss:

2024 2023

—ETTmE == 2

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FExT

Lease income on operating leases KEHEENHEERA 49 34
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M B HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & Z _E_N&E+_A=+—HIEE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with
its related parties during the year:

The remuneration of key management personnel during the
year was as follows:

25
e P

xt

9.RAET

34?311]1@
.N%

o=
R i8R 2
WrER5H

FRIEZEBABHFIMNT:

71 BB B RAE 5 R
SR ERAEEREBFESE

2024 2023

=l 1= —EBI=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Short-term benefits ZHRM = 3,907 6,267
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A FIRHEHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited financial statements, is

set out below:

RESULTS

FERNBEILEMBEEZXEREE -BR
RFEREDHE (BHREETELCEXMBR

=) HIIT

ES

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ECNE | CE-=ZE E-"F T —F _“EFE
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FET FER FET FET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FHBREER
Revenue Wz 49,055 52,326 60,823 66,642 76,329
Cost of sales A (22,046) (21,180) (19,845) (19,998) (20,283)
Gross profit ] 27,009 31,146 40,978 46,644 56,046
Other income HAA 2,146 303 1,706 78 3,413
Other gains and losses Hitss kS8 (4,803) 117 (9,490) (1,022) (6,610)
Loan receivables written off FEWE RUEH - - - (1,515) -
Reversal of provision/(provision) for BUWEZTRFEZ
impairment loss on loan and HERERE
interest receivables BEl/ () 2,901 (7,057) (749) (13,265) (46,456)
Provision for impairment loss on goodwill EENHERIERE - - - (6,726) -
Fair value change on consideration (FE%) /e HLE
(receivable)/payable AT EEES) - - 1,162 6,203 -
(Provision)/reversal of provision for WA EBZRESE
impairment loss on consideration () /EtaEm
receivable (1,664) 119 (367) - -
Administrative expenses THRX (36,726) (51,787) (58,743) (54,145) (53,251)
Loss from operations &R (11,137) (27,159) (25,503) (23,748) (46,858)
Finance costs B FERAR (296) (295) (592) (640) (237)
Share of losses of associates FEEBE N EEE - (276) (361) (105) —
Share of loss of a joint venture fEh—EEEAREE (13) (10) ) (7) 37)
Loss before tax PRIRAIRS1E (11,446) (27,740 (26,465) (24,500) (47,132)
Income tax expense FriEiams (892) (606) (1,101) (1,827) (3,131)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (12,338) (28,346) (27,566) (26,327) (50,263)
Loss for the year attributable to: FELERESE:
Owners of the Company EREEBA (12,338) (28,193) (27,156) (24,950) (49,111)
Non-controlling interests FEERR S - (153) (410) (1,377) (1,152)
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hEFEMBRE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BE -BERIFERED

As at 31 December

BK+-B=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
CECmE | CEC=F TEICE ZECT-F ZIEE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET FET FET FET
Total assets BELE 78,917 68,597 103,626 139,482 169,197
Total liabilities BEEE 27,208 31,061 40,123 47,619 48,146
Non-controlling interests JEERER - - (2,325) (1,915) (538)

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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